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Note 2019 2018

Rupees in thousands

ASSETS

Cash and balances with treasury banks 6 10,252,547 6,990,369 

Balances with other banks 7 8,822,985 1,422,701 

Due from financial institutions 8 5,851,664 4,675,000 

Investments - net 9 16,309,800 12,713,954 

Islamic financing and related assets - net 10 51,309,967 62,907,204 

Fixed assets 11 5,779,772 2,552,600 

Intangible assets 12 719,723 592,171 

Deferred tax assets - net 13 921,017 751,065 

Other assets - net 14 5,049,786 2,289,371 

105,017,261 94,894,435 

LIABILITIES

Bills payable 16 973,627 1,303,992 

Due to financial institutions 17 4,127,526 7,800,628 

Deposits and other accounts 18 81,853,511 73,307,185 

Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease -   -   

Sub-ordinated debts -   -   

Deferred tax liabilities - net -   -   

Other liabilities 19 7,595,796 2,413,116 

94,550,460 84,824,921 

NET ASSETS 10,466,801 10,069,514 

REPRESENTED BY

Share capital 20 11,550,000 11,200,000 

Reserves 21 26,444 26,444 

Surplus on revaluation of assets - net of tax 22 422,326 132,272 

Accumulated loss (1,531,969) (1,289,202)

10,466,801 10,069,514 

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 23

The annexed notes 1 to 45 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Syed Iftikhar Hussain Rizvi Muhtashim Ahmad Ashai Omair Safdar Dr. Khalid Zaheer Aftab Ahmad Khan

Chief Financial Officer President / Chief Executive Director Director Director

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2019

Note 2019 2018
Rupees in thousands

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss before taxation (365,759) (1,680,213)
Less: Dividend income 75,383 58,031 

(441,142) (1,738,244)

Adjustments

Depreciation - Owned assets 11.2 286,448 214,441 
Depreciation - Right of use of assets 29 442,016 -   
Depreciation - Ijarah assets 10.4.1 992,687 548,717 
Amortization 12 111,650 90,482 
Unwinding of liability against right of use assets 25 374,201 -   
Provision and written off - net 31 199,814 895,646 
Unrealized loss / (gain) on forward exchange contracts - net 22,812 (167,501)
Gain on sale of fixed assets - net 28 (161) (208)
(Loss) / gain on sale of securities - net 27 109,983 (17,738)

2,539,450 1,563,839 

2,098,308 (174,405)

(Increase) / decrease in operating assets

Due from financial institutions (1,176,664) (3,275,000)
Islamic financing and related assets 10,582,005 (32,156,158)
Other assets (2,915,763) (982,608)

6,489,578 (36,413,766)

Increase / (decrease) in operating liabilities

Bills payable (330,365) (224,428)
Due to financial institutions (3,591,233) (208,031)
Deposits and other accounts 8,546,326 18,698,051 
Other liabilities 2,120,700 915,170 

6,745,428 19,180,762 

15,333,314 (17,407,409)
Income tax paid (139,375) (42,962)

Net cash generated from / (used) in operating activities 15,193,939 (17,450,371)

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Net investments in available-for-sale securities (9,934,368) (3,427,344)
Net investments in held-to-maturity securities (1,310,891) (929,936)
Dividend received 75,383 78,407 
Proceeds from scheme of merger -   22,214,180 
Proceeds from sale of securities 7,609,162 480,324 
Investments in fixed assets (476,164) (522,121)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 518 634 
Investments in intangible assets (239,202) (129,255)

Net cash (used in) / generated from investing activities (4,275,562) 17,764,889 

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of share capital 20 350,000 1,200,000 
Payment against ROU asset (524,046) -   

Net cash generated from financing activities (174,046) 1,200,000 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents during the year 10,744,331 1,514,518 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 8,331,201 6,094,004 
Cash and cash equivalents acquired under scheme of merger -   722,679 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 34 19,075,532 8,331,201 

The annexed notes 1 to 45 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Syed Iftikhar Hussain Rizvi Muhtashim Ahmad Ashai Omair Safdar Dr. Khalid Zaheer Aftab Ahmad Khan

Chief Financial Officer President / Chief Executive Director Director Director

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

Note 2019 2018

Rupees in thousands

Profit / return earned 24 9,848,819 4,208,875 

Profit / return expensed 25 5,855,061 2,304,950 

Net spread earned 3,993,758 1,903,925 

OTHER INCOME

Fee and commission income 26 294,491 162,245 

Dividend income 75,383 58,031 

Foreign exchange income 63,685 148,228 

(Loss) / gain on securities 27 (109,983) 17,738 

Other income 28 19,743 13,020 

Total other income 343,319 399,262 

Total income 4,337,077 2,303,187 

OTHER EXPENSES

Operating expenses 29 4,478,636 3,083,172 

Workers welfare fund -   -   

Other charges 30 24,386 4,582 

Total other expenses 4,503,022 3,087,754 

Loss before provisions (165,945) (784,567)

Provisions and write offs - net 31 199,814 895,646 

Extra ordinary / unusual items -   -   

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (365,759) (1,680,213)

Taxation 32 (122,147) (584,231)

LOSS AFTER TAXATION (243,612) (1,095,982)

Rupees

Basic and diluted loss per share - after tax 33 (0.217) (0.987)

The annexed notes 1 to 45 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Syed Iftikhar Hussain Rizvi Muhtashim Ahmad Ashai Omair Safdar Dr. Khalid Zaheer Aftab Ahmad Khan

Chief Financial Officer President / Chief Executive Director Director Director

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOuNT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

Surplus / (deficit) on

reveluation of

Share Statutory Investments Fixed Accumulated Total

Capital Reserve Assets Loss 

Rupees in thousands 

Balance as at December 31, 2017

-  Restated 10,000,000 26,444 (386,764) 185,164 (194,065) 9,630,779 

Loss after taxation for the year ended

December 31, 2018 -   -   -   -   (1,095,982) (1,095,982)

Other comprehensive income - net of tax -   -   334,717 -   -   334,717 

-   -   334,717 -   (1,095,982) (761,265)

Transfer from surplus on revaluation of fixed

assets to unappropriated profit in respect 

of incremental depreciation - net of tax -   -   -   (845) 845 -   

Transactions with owners, recorded

directly in equity 

Issue of right shares 1,200,000 -   -   -   -   1,200,000 

Balance as at December 31, 2018 11,200,000 26,444 (52,047) 184,319 (1,289,202) 10,069,514 

Loss after taxation for the year ended

December 31, 2019 -   -   -   -   (243,612) (243,612)

Other comprehensive income - net of tax -   -   160,551 130,348 -   290,899 

-   -   160,551 130,348 (243,612) 47,287 

Transfer from surplus on revaluation of fixed

assets to unappropriated profit in respect 

of incremental depreciation - net of tax -   -   -   (845) 845 -   

Transactions with owners, recorded

directly in equity 

Issue of right shares 350,000 -   -   -   -   350,000 

Balance as at December 31, 2019 11,550,000 26,444 108,504 313,822 (1,531,969) 10,466,801 

The annexed notes 1 to 45 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Syed Iftikhar Hussain Rizvi Muhtashim Ahmad Ashai Omair Safdar Dr. Khalid Zaheer Aftab Ahmad Khan
Chief Financial Officer President / Chief Executive Director Director Director

2019 2018
Rupees in thousands

Loss after taxation for the year (243,612) (1,095,982)

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified to
profit and loss account in subsequent periods:

Movement in surplus / (deficit) on revaluation of investments 247,001 514,950 
Related deferred tax asset / (liability) (86,450) (180,233)

160,551 334,717 

Items that will not be reclassified to
profit and loss account in subsequent periods:

Movement in surplus on revaluation of operating fixed assets 148,977 -   
Related deferred tax liability (18,629) -   

130,348 -   

Total comprehensive income / (loss) 47,287 (761,265)

The annexed notes 1 to 45 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Syed Iftikhar Hussain Rizvi Muhtashim Ahmad Ashai Omair Safdar Dr. Khalid Zaheer Aftab Ahmad Khan
Chief Financial Officer President / Chief Executive Director Director Director

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIvE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQuITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

Opinion

We have audited the annexed financial statements of MCB Islamic Bank Limited (''the
Bank"), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019,
and the statement of profit and loss, the statement of comprehensive income, the
statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
along with unaudited certified returns received from the branches except for 20
branches which have been audited by us and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information
and we state that we have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the
best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of the audit. 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given
to us, the statement of financial position, the statement of profit and loss, the statement
of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of
cash flows together with the notes forming part thereof conform with the accounting
and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan, and, give the information required
by the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 and the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of
2017), in the manner so required and respectively give a true and fair view of the state
of the Bank's affairs as at 31 December 2019 and of the loss and other comprehensive
loss, the changes in equity and its cash flows for the year then ended. 

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs)
as applicable in Pakistan. Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants as adopted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (the
Code) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Information other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
the information included in the Bank's Annual Report but does not include the financial
statements and our auditors' report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information  and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Board of Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in
Pakistan, the requirements of Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 and the Companies
Act, 2017(XIX of 2017) and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management
either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The Board of directors is responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Banks’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the board of directors regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Based on our audit, we further report that in our opinion:

a) proper books of account have been kept by the Bank as required by the Companies
Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) and the returns referred above from the branches have
been found adequate for the purpose of our audit;

b) the statement of financial position, the statement of profit or loss, the statement of
comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of
cash flows together with the notes thereon have been drawn up in conformity with
the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 and the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of
2017) and are in agreement with the books of account and returns;

c) investments made, expenditure incurred and guarantees extended during the year
were in accordance with the objects and power of the Bank and the transactions
of the Bank which have come to our notice have been within the powers of the
Bank; and

d) zakat deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 1980 (XVIII of
1980), was deducted by the Bank and deposited in the Central Zakat Fund
established under section 7 of that Ordinance.

We confirm that for the purpose of our audit we have covered more than sixty per cent
of the total loans and advances of the Bank.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is
M. Rehan Chughtai.

Lahore
Date: 14 February 2020 KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co.

Chartered Accountants

2.2 The purchases and sales arising under these arrangements are not reflected in these financial statements as such but are restricted to the amount of facility

actually utilised and the appropriate portion of profit thereon. The income on such Islamic financing is recognised in accordance with the principles of Islamic

Shari'ah and in accordance with regulations and guidelines of the State Bank of Pakistan. However, income, if any, received which does not comply with the

principles of Islamic Shari'ah is recognised as charity payable if so directed by the Shari’ah Board of the Bank.

2.3 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the format as prescribed by State Bank of Pakistan through BPRD Circular No.2 dated

January 25, 2018.                                      

3 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE              

3.1 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan. The accounting and

reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan comprise of:                                                                               

- International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017;

- Islamic Financial Accounting Standards (IFAS) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan as are notified under the Companies Act, 2017;

- Provisions of and directives issued under the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 and the Companies Act, 2017; and

- Directives issued by the State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) and the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP).

Wherever the requirements of the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962, Companies Act, 2017 or the directives issued by the SBP and the SECP differ with

the requirements of IFRS or IFAS, requirements of the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962, the Companies Act, 2017 and the said directives shall prevail.   

The State Bank of Pakistan has deferred the applicability of IFAS 3 'Profit and Loss Sharing on Deposits', through BPRD Circular No.04 dated February 25,

2015, International Financial Reporting Standard 9, 'Financial Instruments' through BPRD Circular No. 04 of 2019 dated October 23, 2019 and International

Accounting Standards 40, 'Investment Property' for Banking Companies through BSD Circular No. 10 dated August 26, 2002.                                     

The Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) has deferred applicability of  IFRS 7 'Financial Instruments: Disclosures' on banks through

S.R.O 411(1) / 2008 dated April 28, 2008. Accordingly, the requirements of these standards have not been considered in the preparation of these financial

statements. However, investments have been classified and valued in accordance with the requirements prescribed by the State Bank of Pakistan through

various circulars.                                        

3.2 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published approved accounting standards that are effective in the current year                    

The Bank has adopted "IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers" and "IFRS 16 Leases" effective 01 January 2019. IFRS 15 established a

comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is recognized. It replaced IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts

and related interpretations. The Bank has adopted IFRS 15 from 01 January 2019. The timing or amount of income from contracts with customers was not

impacted by the adoption of IFRS 15, accordingly, the adoption of this standard has no material impact in these financial statements. The impact of adoption of

IFRS 16 on the Bank's financial statements is disclosed in note 5 (a).                                                              

There are certain other new and amended standards, interpretations and amendments that are mandatory for the Bank's accounting period beginning on or

after January 1, 2019 but are considered not to be relevant or do not have any significant effect on the Bank's operations and are therefore not detailed in these

financial statements.                                  

>>>>>> Continued

INDEPENDENT AuDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS

1 STATUS AND NATURE OF BUSINESS   

1.1 MCB Islamic Bank Limited (the Bank) was incorporated in Pakistan as an unlisted public limited company on May 15, 2014 under the Companies Ordinance,

1984 (repealed after the enactment of the Companies Act, 2017) to carry out the business of an Islamic Commercial Bank in accordance and in conformity with

the principles of Islamic Shari'ah and in accordance with regulations and guidelines of the State Bank of Pakistan. The Securities and Exchange Commission

of Pakistan granted "Certificate of Commencement of Business" to the Bank on January 30, 2015. The Bank is a wholly owned subsidiary of MCB Bank Limited

(MCB).         

1.2 The State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) granted a "Certificate of Commencement of Banking Business" to the Bank on September 14, 2015 under Section 27 of the

Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962. The Bank formally commenced operations as a Scheduled Islamic Commercial Bank with effect from October 15, 2015

upon receiving notification in this regard from SBP under section 37 of the State Bank of Pakistan Act, 1956. Currently, the Bank is engaged in corporate,

commercial, consumer, micro finance, investment and retail banking activities.                                                

1.3 The Bank is operating through 185 branches in Pakistan (December 31, 2018: 176 branches). The Registered Office of the Bank is situated at 59 Block T,

Phase II, DHA, Lahore Cantt and Principal Office is situated at 339 Block Z, Phase III, DHA Lahore Cantt.    

1.4 Pakistan Credit Rating Agency (PACRA) has maintained the Bank's medium to long-term rating as "A" and the short-term rating as 'A-1' with positive outlook.

2 BASIS OF PRESENTATION                     

2.1 The Bank provides financing through Shari'ah compliant financing products mainly through Murabaha, Istisna, Salam, Ijarah, Diminishing Musharaka, Running

Musharaka and Export Refinance under Islamic Export Refinance Scheme.                                                    

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THESE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

Credit rating

Long term a
Short term a-1

by PaCra
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5.4.1 Provision / impairment                            

Provision for diminution in the value of Sukuk certificates is made as per the Prudential Regulations issued
by the SBP. In case of impairment of available for sale securities, the cumulative gain or loss that has
been recognised directly in surplus / (deficit) on revaluation of securities on the statement of financial
position is transferred to the profit and loss account. For investments classified as held to maturity, the
impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss account.                                                                     

5.5 Islamic financing and related assets     

5.5.1 These are financial products offered by the Bank and are stated net of specific and general provision
against non performing Islamic financing and related assets, if any. A brief description of the products are
given below:

Murabaha   

In Murabaha transactions, the Bank purchases the goods through its agent or client and after taking the
possession, sells them to the customer on cost plus profit basis either in a spot or credit transaction.     

Under Murabaha financing, funds disbursed for purchase of goods are recorded as 'Advance against
Murabaha finance'. On culmination of Murabaha i.e. sale of goods to customers, Murabaha financing are
recorded at the deferred sale price. Goods purchased but remained unsold at the statement of financial
position date are recorded as inventories. Deferred income on Murabaha financing is adjusted against
Murabaha receivable.                                

The Bank values its inventories at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The net realizable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated cost necessary to make
the sale. Cost of inventories represents actual purchases made by the Bank / customers as the agent of
the Bank for subsequent sale.                   

Istisna         

In Istisna financing, the Bank acquires the described goods to be manufactured by the customer from
raw material of its own and deliver to the Bank within an agreed time. The goods are then sold and the
amount financed is received back by the Bank alongwith profit.                                                                 

Salam         

In Salam financing, the Bank pays full in advance to its customer for buying specified goods / commodities
to be delivered to the Bank within an agreed time. The goods are then sold and the amount financed is
received back by the Bank alongwith profit.                                                                                                

Ijarah           

In Ijarah financing, the Bank provides the asset on pre-agreed rentals for specific tenors to the customers.
Ijarah assets are stated at cost less depreciation and are disclosed as part of 'Islamic financing and related
assets'.        

The rental on Ijarah under Islamic Financial Accounting Standard - 2 Ijarah (IFAS 2) are recorded as
income / revenue. The Bank charges depreciation from the date of recognition of Ijarah of respective
assets to Mustajir. Ijarah assets are depreciated over the period of Ijarah using the straight line method.

Impairment of Ijarah assets is determined in accordance with the Prudential Regulations issued by the
SBP. The provision for impairment of Ijarah assets is shown as part of 'Islamic financing and related
assets'.        

The significant Ijarah contracts entered into by the Bank are with respect to vehicles, plant and machinery
and equipment and are for periods ranging from 1 to 7 years.                                                                   

Diminishing Musharaka                           

In Diminishing Musharaka based financing, the Bank enters into Musharaka based on Shirkat-ul-Milk for
financing and agreed share of fixed assets (example: house, land, plant, machinery or vehicle) with its
customers and enters into period profit payment agreement for the utilization of the Bank's Musharaka
share by the customer.                               

Running Musharaka                                 

In Running Musharaka based financing, the Bank enters into financing with the customer based on
Shirkat-ul-Aqd or Business Partnership in the customer’s operating business where the funds can be
withdrawn or refunded during the Musharakah period.                                                                               

5.5.2 Provision    

Islamic financing and related assets are stated net of specific and general provisions. Specific provision
is determined on the basis of the Prudential Regulations and other directives issued by the State Bank
of Pakistan (SBP) and charged to the profit and loss account. Provisions are held against identified as
well as unidentified losses. Provisions against unidentified losses include general provision against
Consumer, Small Enterprise (SEs) and Micro financings made in accordance with the requirements of
the Prudential Regulations issued by SBP and provision based on historical loss experience on Islamic
financing and related assets. Islamic financing and related assets are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of recovery.                                 

5.6 Fixed and Intangible assets                    

5.6.1 Fixed assets                                             

5.6.1.1 Capital work-in-progress                         

Capital work-in-progress is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. These are
transferred to specific assets as and when assets become available for use.                                            

5.6.1.2 Property and equipment                          

Property and equipment, other than land carrying value which is not amortized, are stated at cost or
revalued amount less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Land is
carried at revalued amount.                       

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognized as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to  the profit and loss account.                   

Depreciation on all fixed assets is charged using the straight line method in accordance with the rates
specified in note 11.2 to these financial statements and after taking into account residual value, if any.
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at
each balance sheet date.                           

Depreciation on additions is charged from the month the assets are available for use while no depreciation
is charged in the month in which the assets are disposed off.                                                                    

Surplus on revaluation of land and buildings is credited to the surplus on revaluation account. Revaluation
is carried out with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount of assets does not differ
materially from the fair value. To the extent of the incremental depreciation charged on the revalued
assets, the related surplus on revaluation of land and buildings (net of deferred taxation) is transferred
directly to unappropriated profit.                

Gains / losses on sale of property and equipment are credited / charged to the profit and loss account,
except the related surplus on revaluation of land and buildings (net of deferred taxation) which is
transferred directly to unappropriated profit.                                                                                               

5.6.2 Intangible assets                                      

5.6.2.1 Advance against purchase of software 

Advance against purchase of software is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. These
are transferred to computer software as and when the related asset is received.                                      

5.6.2.2 Computer software                                  

Computer softwares are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Intangible assets are amortized from the month when these assets are available for use,
using the straight line method, whereby the cost of the intangible assets are amortized over its estimated
useful lives over which economic benefits are expected to flow to the Bank. The useful lives are reviewed
and adjusted, if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.                                                                          

5.6.3 Impairment

The carrying amount of assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of the assets may not be recoverable. If
such indication exists and where the carrying value exceeds the estimated recoverable amount, assets
are written down to their recoverable amounts. Recoverable amount is the greater of fair value and value
in use. The resulting impairment loss is taken to the profit and loss account except for impairment loss
on revalued assets, which is adjusted against the related revaluation surplus to the extent that the
impairment loss does not exceed the surplus on revaluation of that asset.                                                

5.7 Leases        

During the year, the State Bank of Pakistan vide its BPRD Circular Letter No. 8 dated April 30, 2019 and
BPRD Circular No. BPRD/RPD/2019/17 dated July 26, 2019 has directed all Islamic Banks to apply IFRS
16- "Leases" in all Ijarah (lease) contracts where the Islamic Banks act in capacity of Mustajir (lessee)
and accordingly, the Bank has adopted the standard.                                                                                

IFRS 16 introduces an on balance sheet accounting model for long term Ijarahs (short-term and having
underlying assets of low value continue to be treated as Ijarah of Musta’jir under IFAS 02). Musta’jir
recognizes a right-of-use asset representing its right of using the underlying asset and a corresponding
Ijarah liability representing its obligations to make Ujrah (lease) payments. However, accounting for Ijarah
of Muj’ir (lessors) remains the same as required under IFAS 02 i.e. Muj’ir continue to present assets
subject to Ijarah according to the nature of the asset, distinguished from the assets in own use.              

On adoption of IFRS 16, the Bank has recognised liabilities in respect of Ijarahs of Musta’jir which had
previously been shown off-balance sheet. These liabilities were measured as the present value of the
remaining Ijarah payments, discounted using the Bank’s incremental borrowing rate. The associated right-
of use assets were measured at the amount equal to the Ijarah liability, adjusted by the amount of prepaid
Ujrah payments recognised in the statement of financial position immediately before the date of initial
application.  

The Ijarah liability is subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective borrowing rate.  The
right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over the Ijarah term. The right-of-use assets
are reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of lease liability.      

Payments associated with short-term Ijarahs and having low-value assets are recognized on a straight-
line basis as an expense in profit or loss.  

5.8 Deposits     

Deposits are generated on the basis of two modes i.e. Qard and Mudaraba. Deposits are recorded at the
proceeds received. The cost of deposits is recognized as an expense in the period in which this is
incurred.      

Deposits taken on Qard basis are classified as 'Current accounts' and Deposits generated on Mudaraba
basis are classified as 'Savings deposits' or 'Fixed deposits'. No profit or loss is passed to current account
depositors.   

Profits realized in investment pools are distributed in pre-agreed profit sharing ratio. Rab-ul-Maal share
is distributed among depositors according to weightages assigned at the inception of profit calculation
period.         

Profits are distributed from the pool such that the depositors (remunerative) only bear the risk of assets
in the pool during the profit calculation period. In case of loss in a pool during the profit calculation period,
the loss is distributed among the depositors (remunerative) according to their ratio of Investments.         

Asset pools may be created at the Bank’s discretion and the Bank may add, amend, and transfer an
asset to any other pool in the interests of the deposit holders.                                                                   

5.9 Pool Management                                    

The Bank operates general and specific pools for deposits and inter-bank funds accepted / acquired
under Mudaraba, Musharaka and Wakala modes.                                                                                     

Under the general deposits pool, the Bank accepts funds on Mudaraba basis from depositors (Rabb-ul-
Maal) where the Bank acts as Manager (Mudarib) and invests the funds in the Shari'ah Compliant modes
of financings, investments and placements. When utilising investing funds, the Bank prioritizes the funds
received from depositors over the funds generated from own sources.                                                     

Specific pools may be operated for funds acquired / accepted from the State Bank of Pakistan and other
banks for Islamic Export Refinance to Bank's customers and liquidity management respectively under
the Musharaka / Mudaraba modes. The Bank also maintains an Equity Pool which consists of Bank's
equity and funds accepted on Qard (non-remunerative current deposit account) basis.                            

The profit of each deposit pool is calculated on all the remunerative assets booked by utilising the funds
from the pool after deduction of expenses directly incurred in earning the income of such pool, if any. The
directly related costs comprise of depreciation on Ijarah assets, takaful premium, documentation charges
etc. No general or administrative nature of expense is charged to pool. No provision against any non-
performing asset of the pool is passed on to the pool except on the actual loss / write-off of such non-
performing asset. The profit of the pool is shared between equity and other members of the pool on the
basis of Musharaka at gross level (before charging of Mudarib fee) as per the investment ratio of the
equity. The profit of the pool is shared among the members of the pool on pre-defined mechanism based
on the weightages announced before the profit calculation period after charging of Mudarib fee.             

The deposits and funds accepted under the above mentioned pools are provided to diversified sectors
and avenues of the economy / business as mentioned in the notes and are also invested in Government
of Pakistan backed Ijarah Sukuks. Staff financings are exclusively financed from the equity pool.            

The risk characteristic of each pool mainly depends on the assets and liability profile of each pool.         

>>>>>> Continued

3.3 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published approved accounting standards that
are not yet effective                                 

The following other standards, amendments and interpretations of approved accounting standards are
effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020:                                                     

Effective date 
(annual periods 

beginning on or after)

IFRS 3, Business Combinations - (Amendments) January 1, 2020
IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements (Amendments) January 1, 2020
IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates January 1, 2020

and Errors (Amendments)

The SECP, through SRO 229(I)/2019 dated February 14, 2019, has notified that IFRS 9, Financial
Instruments, is applicable for accounting periods ending on or after June 30, 2019.  However, as per
BPRD Circular No. 04 of 2019 dated October 23, 2019 of SBP, effective date of IFRS 9 implementation
is January 01, 2021.                                   

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement, addresses recognition, classification,
measurement and derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities. The standard has also
introduced a new impairment model for financial assets which requires recognition of impairment charge
based on an 'expected credit losses' (ECL) approach rather than the 'incurred credit losses' approach as
currently followed. The ECL approach has an impact on all assets of the Bank which are exposed to
credit risk. The Bank is in the process of assessing the full impact of this standard.                                  

There are other new and amended standards and interpretations that are mandatory for the Bank's
accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020 but are considered not to be relevant or do not
have any significant effect on the Bank's operations and are therefore not detailed in these unconsolidated
financial statements.                                  

4 BASIS OF MEASUREMENT                     

4.1 These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except that certain
classes of fixed assets are stated at revalued amounts and certain investments, foreign currency balances
and commitments in respect of certain foreign exchange contracts have been marked to market and
carried at fair value in accordance with the requirements of the SBP.                                                        

Measurement of fair values                     

The Bank has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. The
management regularly reviews significant observable and unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments.
Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the
valuation techniques. The valuation of financial assets and financial liabilities are categorized and
disclosed in note 38 keeping in view the measurement requirements specified in note 3.1.                      

4.2 These financial statements are presented in Pak Rupees, which is the Bank’s functional and presentation
currency.      

4.3 Critical accounting estimates and judgments                                                                                        

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the approved accounting standards requires
the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires the management to exercise its judgment
in the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies. Estimates and judgments are continually
evaluated and are based on historical experiences, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The areas where various assumptions and estimates
are significant to the Bank’s financial statements or where judgment was exercised in the application of
accounting policies are as follows:             

a) Classification of investments                 

In classifying investments, the Bank follows the guidance provided in SBP circulars:                                

- Investments classified as ‘held for trading’, are securities which are acquired with an intention to
trade by taking advantage of short term market / profit rate movements and are to be sold within 90
days of acquisition.

- Investments classified as ‘held to maturity’ are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments and fixed maturity. In making this judgment, the Bank evaluates its intention
and ability to hold such investment to maturity.

- The investments which are not classified as ‘held for trading’ or ‘held to maturity’ are classified as
‘available for sale’.

b) Provision / Impairment against Investments                                                                                          

Provision for diminution in the value of Sukuk certificates is made as per the Prudential Regulations issued
by the SBP. The Bank determines that ‘available for sale’ equity investments are impaired when there
has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost. The determination of what is
significant or prolonged requires judgment. In making this judgment, the Bank evaluates among other
factors, the normal volatility in share price. In addition, the impairment may be appropriate when there is
an evidence of deterioration in the financial health of the investee and sector performance, changes in
technology and operational / financial cash flows. Impairment loss in respect of other investments
classified as 'available for sale' and investments classified as 'held to maturity' is recognised based on
management's assessment of objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that
may have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the investments.                                             

c) Provision against Islamic financing and related assets                                                                        

The Bank reviews its Islamic financing and related assets portfolio to assess amount of non-performing
Islamic financing and related assets and determine provision required there against on regular basis.
While assessing this requirement various factors including the delinquency in the account, financial
position of the customer and the requirements of the Prudential Regulations are considered.                  

The amount of general provision is determined in accordance with the relevant regulations and
management’s judgment as explained in note 5.5.2.                                                                                  

d) Taxation      

In making the estimates for income taxes currently payable by the Bank, the management considers the
current income tax laws. Judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognized, based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits, together with future tax
planning strategies.                                    

e) Depreciation, amortization and revaluation of fixed assets                                                                 

In making estimates of the depreciation / amortization method, the management uses the method which
reflects the pattern in which economic benefits are expected to be consumed by the Bank. The method
applied is reviewed at each financial year end and if there is a change in the expected pattern of
consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the assets, the method is changed to reflect
the changed pattern. Such change is accounted for as change in accounting estimates in accordance
with International Accounting Standard (IAS) 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors”. Further, the Bank estimates the revalued amount of land and buildings on a regular basis.
The estimates are based on valuations carried out by independent professional valuers under the market
conditions.   

f) Lease term 

The Bank applies judgment to determine the lease term for some lease contracts in which it is a lessee
that include renewal options. The assessment of whether the Bank is reasonably certain to exercise such
options impacts the lease term, which significantly affects the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use
assets recognised.                                     

5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES                                                                         

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these unconsolidated financial statements are
consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the changes explained in note 5 (a).         

5 (a) Change in accounting policy                  

IFRS 16 introduces an on balance sheet accounting model for long term Ijarahs (short-term and having
underlying assets of low value continue to be treated as Ijarah of Musta’jir under IFAS 02). Musta’jir
recognizes a right-of-use asset representing its right of using the underlying asset and a corresponding
Ijarah liability representing its obligations to make Ujrah (lease) payments. However, accounting for Ijarah
of Muj’ir (lessors) remains the same as required under IFAS 02 i.e. Muj’ir continue to present assets
subject to Ijarah according to the nature of the asset, distinguished from the assets in own use.              

The Bank has adopted IFRS 16 from January 1, 2019, and has not restated comparatives for the 2018
reporting period, using modified retrospective approach.                                                                           

On adoption of IFRS 16, the Bank has recognised liabilities in respect of Ijarahs of Musta’jir which had
previously been shown off-balance sheet. These liabilities were measured as the present value of the
remaining Ijarah payments, discounted using the Bank’s incremental borrowing rate. The associated right-
of use assets were measured at the amount equal to the Ijarah liability, adjusted by the amount of prepaid
Ujrah payments recognised in the statement of financial position immediately before the date of initial
application.  

The Ijarah liability is subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective borrowing rate.  The
right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over the Ijarah term. The right-of-use assets
are reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of lease liability.      

The change in accounting policy affected the following items in the statement of financial position as on
January 01, 2019:                                      

- Right-of-Use (RoU) assets recognized as Fixed assets – increased by Rs 2,937.162 million which
includes prepayments of Rs. 141.839 million; previously, included in advances, deposits, advance
rent and other prepayments as at December 31, 2018.

- Lease liabilities recognized as Other liabilities – increased by Rs 2,795.322 million. 

The impact on profit and loss account for the year ended December 31, 2019 is an increase in loss after
tax by Rs. 181.766 million and loss per share by Rs. 0.16.                                                                        

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized on a straight-
line basis as an expense in profit or loss.  

5.1 Business acquisition                               

Business acquisition from Group companies are recognized at carrying values.                                       

5.2 Cash and cash equivalents                     

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and balances with treasury banks and balances with other banks
in current (net of overdrawn Nostro balances) and deposit accounts.                                                        

5.3 Funds due to / from financial institutions                                                                                               

Bai Mu'ajjal

In Bai Mu'ajjal, the Bank sells sukuk on credit to other financial institutions. The credit price is agreed at
the time of sale and such proceeds are received at the end of the credit period.                                       

Musharaka / Mudaraba / Wakala             

In Musharaka / Mudaraba / Wakala, the Bank invests in the Shariah compliant business pools of the
financial institutions at the agreed profit and loss sharing ratio / fees.                                                        

Musharaka with State Bank of Pakistan under IERS                                                                             

Under IERS, the Bank accepts funds from the SBP under Shirkat-ul-Aqd to constitute a pool for
investment in export refinance portfolio of the Bank under the guidelines issued by the SBP. The profit of
the pool is shared as per the agreed profit sharing ratio between the partners.                                         

5.4 Investments                                              

The Bank classifies its investments as follows:                                                                                           

a) Held for trading                                        

These are securities, which are either acquired for generating profit from short-term fluctuations in market
prices, rate of return movements, dealers margin or are securities included in a portfolio in which a pattern
of short-term profit taking exists.                

b) Available for sale                                     

These are investments, that do not fall under the ‘held for trading’ or ‘held to maturity’ categories.           

Investments are initially recognized at cost which in case of investments other than ‘held for trading’
include transaction costs associated with the investment.                                                                          

All purchases and sales of investments that require delivery within the time frame established by
regulation or market convention are recognized at the trade date. Trade date is the date on which the
Bank commits to purchase or sell the investment.                                                                                      

In accordance with the requirements of the State Bank of Pakistan, quoted securities, other than those
classified as ‘held to maturity’ are subsequently re-measured to market value. Surplus / (deficit) arising
on revaluation of quoted securities which are classified as ‘available for sale’, is included in statement of
comprehensive income and is shown in the statement of financial position as part of equity. Surplus /
(deficit) arising on revaluation of quoted securities which are classified as ‘held for trading’, is taken to
the profit and loss account.                        

c) Held to maturity                                        

These are securities with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity in respect of which the Bank
has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity. Bai-Mu'ajjal receivables from Government of Pakistan
are stated at cost. Investments classified as 'held to maturity' are carried at amortized cost  less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.     

5.10 Taxation      

Current       

Provision for current taxation is based on taxable income at the current rates of taxation after taking into
consideration available tax credits and rebates. The charge for current tax also includes adjustments
where considered necessary, relating to prior years which arise from assessments framed / finalized
during the year.                                          

Deferred     

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet liability method on all temporary differences between
the amounts attributed to assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and amounts used for
taxation purposes. The Bank records deferred tax assets / liabilities using the tax rates, enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date expected to be applicable at the time of its reversal.
Deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. The Bank also recognises deferred tax
asset / liability on deficit / surplus on revaluation of securities and deferred tax liability on surplus on
revaluation of fixed assets which is adjusted against the related deficit / surplus in accordance with the
requirements of International Accounting Standard (IAS) 12 ‘Income Taxes’.                                           

5.11 Staff retirement benefits                          

Defined contribution plan                       

The Bank operates a recognised contributory provident fund scheme for all its permanent employees.
Equal monthly contributions are made both by the Bank and its permanent employees, to the Fund at
the rate of 8.33% of the basic salaries of employees. However, an employee has an option to increase
his/her contribution upto 15% but the Bank will still contribute 8.33% of the employee's basic salary. The
Bank has no further payment obligation once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due.                                                                  

5.12 Acceptances                                             

Acceptances comprise of undertakings by the Bank to pay bills of exchange drawn on customers.
Acceptances are recognized as financial liability in the statement of financial position with a contractual
right of reimbursement from the customer as a financial asset.                                                                 

5.13 Provisions and contingent assets and liabilities                                                                                  

Provisions are recognized when the Bank has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events
and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate of the amount can be made. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and are
adjusted to reflect the current best estimates.                                                                                           

Contingent assets are not recognised, and are also not disclosed unless an inflow of economic benefits
is probable. Contingent liabilities are disclosed unless the probability of an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefit is remote.    

5.14 Foreign currencies                                   

5.14.1 Transactions and balance                       

Transactions in foreign currencies (other than the results of operations of foreign operations) are
translated to Rupees at the foreign exchange rates ruling on the transaction date. Monetary assets and
liabilities in foreign currencies are expressed in Rupee terms at the rates of exchange prevailing at the
balance sheet date. Foreign bills purchased and forward foreign exchange contracts (unilateral wa'ad)
other than those relating to foreign currency deposits are valued at the rates applicable to their respective
maturities. Translational gains / losses and any change in fair value of forward exchanges contracts are
credited / charged to profit and loss account.                                                                                            

5.14.2 Commitments                                           

Commitments for outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts are disclosed in these financial
statements at committed amounts. Contingent liabilities / commitments for letters of credit and letters of
guarantee denominated in foreign currencies are expressed in Rupee terms at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the date of the statement of financial position.                                                                      

5.15 Revenue recognition                               

- Profit on investments in Sukuks is recognised on time proportion basis. Where Sukuks (excluding
those classified as held for trading) are purchased at a premium or discount, such premiums /
discounts are amortised through the profit or loss account using the effective yield method.

- Profit from Musharaka placements with financial institutions is recognised on time proportion basis.

- Profit from Bai-Mu'ajjal is recognised on time proportion basis.

- Profit from Murabaha financing is accounted for on culmination of the Murabaha transaction. Profit
on Murabaha is recognised on time proportion basis. Profit on Murabaha transactions for the period
from the date of disbursement to the date of culmination of Murabaha is recognised immediately
on the later date.

- Rental income from Ijarah financing is recognised on an accrual basis. Depreciation on Ijarah asset
is charged to income (net of with rental income) over the period of Ijarah using the straight line
method.

- Profit on Diminishing Musharaka is recognised on an accrual basis.

- Profit on Running Musharaka financing is booked on an accrual basis and is subject to adjustment
(if any) upon declaration of profit by Musharakah partners.

- Profit on Istisna financing is recognised on time proportion basis.

- Profit on Salam financing is recognised on time proportion basis.

- Commission income is recognized on a time proportionate basis.

- Dividend income is recognised when the Bank's right to receive dividend is established.

- Gain or loss on sale of investments is recognised in the profit and loss account in the year to which
it arises. 

5.16 Assets acquired in satisfaction of claims                                                                                             

The Bank occasionally acquires assets in settlement of certain financings. These are stated at lower of
the carrying value or current fair value of such assets.                                                                              

5.17 Financial instruments                              

5.17.1 Financial assets and financial liabilities                                                                                                

Financial instruments carried on the statement of financial position includes cash and balances with
treasury banks, balances with other banks, due from financial institutions, investments, Islamic financings
and related assets (excluding inventories), other assets (excluding balances related to tax), bills
payables, due to financial institutions, deposits and other liabilities (excluding balances related to tax).
The particular recognition methods adopted for significant financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in
the individual policy statements associated with these assets and liabilities.                                            

5.17.2 Offsetting   

Financial assets and financial liabilities are off set and the net amount is reported in the financial
statements when there is a legally enforceable right to set off and the Bank intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities, simultaneously.                                               

5.18 Dividend distribution and appropriation                                                                                               

Dividend declared and other appropriations (other than appropriations required by law) approved
subsequent to the balance sheet date are considered as non-adjusting events and are not recorded in
the financial statements. However, a separate disclosure of the fact is made in the financial statements.

5.19 Earnings / (loss) per share                      

The Bank presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS). Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the
profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the year.                                                                                             

5.20 Segment reporting                                   

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Bank that is subject to risks and rewards that are
different from those of other segments. A business segment is one that is engaged either in providing
certain products or services, whereas a geographical segment is one engaged in providing certain
products or services within a particular economic environment. Segment information is presented as per
the Bank’s functional and management reporting structure. The Bank’s operations have been broken
into following different business segments:                                                                                                

5.20.1 Business segments                                 

- Business Distribution

It includes commercial and SME financing, deposits, trade business and other banking services.

- Corporate Banking

It includes financing to large and medium sized public and private sector entities, investment
banking, corporate advisory, cash management, trade finance, guarantees and transaction with
financial institutions.

- Consumer Banking

It includes financing and other banking services to individual customers other than those classified
under Micro Banking.

- Micro Banking

It represents financing operations to low income individuals including agriculture sector financing.

- Treasury Operations

It includes inter-bank placements / acceptances, capital market operations and foreign exchange
transactions and reserves management.

5.20.2 Geographical segments                          

The Bank operates only in Pakistan.         

Note 2019 2018

Rupees in thousands

6 CASH AND BALANCES WITH TREASURY BANKS

In hand
- local currency 2,095,419 1,963,099 
- foreign currencies 600,249 561,844 

2,695,668 2,524,943 

With the State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) in
- local currency current account 6.1 5,647,262 3,429,560 
- foreign currency current accounts

cash reserve account 6.2 253,486 188,019 
special cash reserve account 6.3 297,462 219,402 
US$ clearing account 68,772 104,396 

619,720 511,817 

With National Bank of Pakistan in

- local currency current account 1,276,497 524,049 

Prize Bonds 13,400 -   

10,252,547 6,990,369 

6.1 The local currency current account is maintained with SBP under the Cash Reserve Requirement of section
22 of Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962. This section requires banking companies to maintain a local
currency cash reserve in the current account opened with the SBP at a sum not less than such percentage of
its time and demand liabilities in Pakistan as prescribed by the SBP from time to time.

6.2 As per BSD Circular No. 15 dated June 21, 2008, cash reserve of 5% is required to be maintained with the
SBP on deposits held under the New Foreign Currency Accounts Scheme (FE-25 deposits). This account is
non-remunerative in nature.

6.3 Special cash reserve of 6% is required to be maintained with the SBP on FE-25 deposits as specified in BSD
Circular No. 15 dated June 21, 2008.  This account is non-remunerative in nature.

Note 2019 2018

Rupees in thousands

7 BALANCES WITH OTHER BANKS

In Pakistan

-  deposit account 7.1 4,378,142 979,332 

Outside Pakistan
-  current account 4,444,843 443,369 

8,822,985 1,422,701 

7.1 This represents savings accounts carrying profit at expected rates ranging from 3.00% to 12.54% per annum
(2018: 0.03% to 9.95% per annum).
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10.12 The Bank has maintained general provision at an amount equal to 1% of the fully secured performing
portfolio of consumer auto finance, small enterprise and unsecured performing portfolio of micro financing
as required by the Prudential Regulations issued by the SBP. Further, general provision on consumer house
finance is maintained as per the criteria defined in relevant Prudential Regulations issued by SBP.

10.13 Particulars of provision against Islamic financing and related assets

2019 2018

Specific General Total Specific General Total 

Rupees in thousands 

In local currency 3,340 33,363 36,703 758 14,102 14,860 
In foreign currency -   -   -   -   -   -   

3,340 33,363 36,703 758 14,102 14,860 

Note 2019 2018

Rupees in thousands

11 FIXED ASSETS

Capital work-in-progress 11.1 112,863 206,869 
Property and equipment 11.2 2,778,073 2,345,731 
Right of use of assets 11.5 2,888,836 -   

5,779,772 2,552,600 

11.1 Capital work-in-progress 

Civil works 25,610 96,620 
Advance to suppliers and contractors 83,351 85,887 
Others 3,902 24,362 

112,863 206,869 

11.2 Property and Equipment
2019

Freehold Building on 
Lease hold Furniture Electrical, office

land freehold 
Improvements and fixtures and computer  Vehicles Total

land equipment 

Rupees in thousands

At January 1, 2019
Cost / Revalued amount 730,867 463,354 270,543 112,985 1,081,665 70,369 2,729,783 
Accumulated depreciation -   (15,648) (95,298) (21,004) (237,210) (14,892) (384,052)

Net book value 730,867 447,706 175,245 91,981 844,455 55,477 2,345,731 

Year ended December 2019

Opening net book value 730,867 447,706 175,245 91,981 844,455 55,477 2,345,731 
Additions 1,381 11,212 181,867 47,608 307,582 20,520 570,170 
Movement in surplus on assets

revalued during the year 95,752 53,225 -   -   -   - 148,977 

Disposals -   -   -   (54) (303) -   (357)

Depreciation charge -   (10,173) (61,814) (15,857) (185,268) (13,336) (286,448)

Closing net book value 828,000 501,970 295,298 123,678 966,466 62,661 2,778,073 

At December 31, 2019

Cost / Revalued amount 828,000 502,206 452,410 160,470 1,387,986 90,889 3,421,961 
Accumulated depreciation -   (236) (157,112) (36,792) (421,520) (28,228) (643,888)

Net book value 828,000 501,970 295,298 123,678 966,466 62,661 2,778,073 

Rate of depreciation (%) 0 Upto 50 years 20 10 10 to 25 20 

2018

Freehold Building on 
Lease hold Furniture Electrical, office

land freehold Improvements and fixtures and computer  Vehicles Total
land equipment 

Rupees in thousands

At January 1, 2018
Cost / Revalued amount 707,584 348,675 214,451 62,232 704,174 29,563 2,066,679 
Accumulated depreciation -   (7,530) (50,317) (10,255) (95,037) (6,893) (170,032)

Net book value 707,584 341,145 164,134 51,977 609,137 22,670 1,896,647 

Year ended December 2018
Opening net book value 707,584 341,145 164,134 51,977 609,137 22,670 1,896,647 
Additions 23,283 114,679 56,092 23,992 229,348 40,805 488,199 
Acquisitions under 

scheme of merger -   -   -   27,071 148,680 -   175,751 
Disposals -   -   -   (268) (158) -   (426)
Depreciation charge -   (8,118) (44,981) (10,791) (142,553) (7,998) (214,441)

Closing net book value 730,867 447,706 175,245 91,981 844,454 55,477 2,345,730 

At December 31, 2018
Cost / Revalued amount 730,867 463,354 270,543 112,985 1,081,665 70,369 2,729,783 
Accumulated depreciation -   (15,648) (95,298) (21,004) (237,210) (14,892) (384,052)

Net book value 730,867 447,706 175,245 91,981 844,455 55,477 2,345,731 

Rate of depreciation (%) 0 Upto 50 years 20 10 10 to 25 20 

11.2.1 The land and buildings of the Bank were revalued in December 2019 by independent valuers (Tristar
International Consultant (Private) Limited and Sardar Enterprises, valuation and engineering consultants)
on the basis of market value. Surplus against revaluation of fixed assets net off deferred tax as at
December 31, 2019 amounts to Rs.313.822 million.

Had the land and buildings not been revalued, the total carrying amounts of revalued properties as at
December 31, 2019 would have been as follows:

Rupees in thousands

Land 595,876 
Building 376,516 

11.3 The gross carrying amount (cost) of fully depreciated / amortized assets that are in use as at December
31, 2019 are as follows:

Rupees in thousands

Lease hold Improvements 13,699 
Electrical, office and computer equipments 44,406 
Furniture and fixtures 2,654 
Vehicles 2,040 

11.4 Details of disposal of operating fixed assets

The information relating to disposal of operating fixed assets required to be disclosed as part of the
financial statements by the State Bank of Pakistan is given in Annexure I which forms an integral part of
these financial statements.

11.5 Ijarah of Musta'jir meeting the criteria prescribed by IFRS 16 "Leases" are presented as on-balance
sheet item. Movement in right-of-use of assets is as follows:

Note 2019 2018
Rupees in thousands

Balance as 31 December -   -   
Effect of initial application of 
IFRS 16 as at 01 January 2019 2,937,162 -   
Addition during the year 393,690 -   
Depreciation charge for the year (442,016) -   

Balance as at 31 December 2019 2,888,836 -   

12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Advance against purchase of software 155,595 71,060 
Computer software 12.1 564,128 521,111 

719,723 592,171 

12.1 Computer software

At January 1
Cost 664,711 536,029 
Accumulated amortisation (143,600) (53,119)

Net book value 521,111 482,910 

Year ended December 31
Opening net book value 521,111 482,910 
Additions:
- directly purchased 154,667 129,604 
Amortisation charge (111,650) (90,482)
Other adjustment -   (921)

Closing net book value 564,128 521,111 

At December 31
Cost 819,378 664,711 
Accumulated amortisation (255,250) (143,600)

Net book value 12.1.1 564,128 521,111 

Rate of amortisation 14.28% 14.28%

Useful life 3 -7 Yrs 3 -7 Yrs

12.1.1 This includes Core banking system of the Bank at carrying value of Rs. 220.973 million (2018:
Rs.252.210 million) and having remaining useful life of 5 years (2018: 6 years).

13 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS / (LIABILITY) - NET

2019

At Jan 01, Recognised Recgonised At Dec 
2019 in P&L A/C in OCI 31, 2019

Rupees in thousands

Deductible temporary difference
Tax losses carried forward 806,991 135,775 -   942,766 
Minimum tax 88,851 152,884 -   241,735 
Deficit on revaluation of investments - net 28,025 -   (28,025) -   
Provision against Islamic financing

and related assets 21 842 -   863 
Workers welfare fund 797 -   -   797 

924,685 289,501 (28,025) 1,186,161 

Taxable temporary difference
Surplus on revaluation of fixed assets (25,818) 455 (18,629) (43,992)
Surplus on revaluation of investments -   -   (58,425) (58,425)
Accelerated tax depreciation (147,802) (14,925) -   (162,727)

(173,620) (14,470) (77,054) (265,144)

751,065 275,031 (105,079) 921,017 

2018

At Jan 01, Recognised Recgonised At Dec 
2018 in P&L A/C in OCI 31, 2018

Rupees in thousands

Deductible temporary difference
Tax losses carried forward 189,882 617,109 -   806,991 
Minimum tax 31,249 57,602 -   88,851 
Deficit on revaluation of investments - net 208,258 -   (180,233) 28,025 
Provision against Islamic financing

and related assets -   21 -   21 
Workers welfare fund 797 -   -   797 

430,186 674,732 (180,233) 924,685 
Taxable temporary difference
Surplus on revaluation of fixed assets (26,273) 455 -   (25,818)
Accelerated tax depreciation (114,448) (33,354) -   (147,802)

(140,721) (32,899) -   (173,620)

289,465 641,833 (180,233) 751,065 

>>>>>> Continued

>>>>>> Continued

Note 2019 2018

Rupees in thousands

8 DUE FROM FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Secured
Bai Muajjal receivable - with State Bank of Pakistan 8.1 3,371,664 -   

Unsecured
Musharaka arrangements 8.2 2,480,000 4,675,000 

5,851,664 4,675,000 

8.1 This represents Bai Muajjal with State Bank of Pakistan carrying profit at average rate of 10.34% per
annum (2018: Nil) and having maturity till February 07, 2020.                                                                  

8.2 This represents Musharaka arrangements with banks carrying profit at expected rates ranging from 10.80%
to 11.00% per annum (2018: 9.25% to 9.55% per annum) and having maturity till January 20, 2020.         

2019 2018

Rupees in thousands

8.3 Particulars of due from financial institutions

- local currency 5,851,664 4,675,000 
- foreign currencies -   -   

5,851,664 4,675,000

9 INVESTMENTS 2019

9.1 Investments by type: Cost / Provision for Surplus / Carrying
Amortised diminution (Deficit) Value

cost
Rupees in thousands

Available-for-sale securities

Federal Government securities 10,899,070 -   (7,384) 10,891,686 
Shares 1,908,146 1,059,172 175,625 1,024,599 
Non Government securities 1,119,000 -   (1,312) 1,117,688 

13,926,216 1,059,172 166,929 13,033,973 

Held-to-maturity securities

Federal Government securities 2,700,827 -   -   2,700,827 
Non Government securities 575,000 -   -   575,000 

3,275,827 -   -   3,275,827 

Total  Investments 17,202,043 1,059,172 166,929 16,309,800 

2018

Cost / 
Provision for Surplus / Carrying

Amortised 
diminution (Deficit) Value

cost

Rupees in thousands

Available-for-sale securities

Federal Government securities 8,452,080 -   (41,163) 8,410,917 
Shares 1,831,580 881,903 (43,325) 906,352 
Non Government securities 1,427,333 -   4,416 1,431,749 

11,710,993 881,903 (80,072) 10,749,018 

Held-to-maturity securities

Federal Government securities 1,159,936 -   -   1,159,936 
Non Government securities 805,000 -   -   805,000 

1,964,936 -   -   1,964,936 

Total  Investments 13,675,929 881,903 (80,072) 12,713,954 

2019

9.2 Investments by segments: Cost / Provision for Surplus / Carrying
Amortised diminution (Deficit) Value

cost
Rupees in thousands

Federal Government securities
GOP Ijarah Sukuks 10,842,666 -   (8,095) 10,834,571 
WAPDA Sukuks 56,404 -   711 57,115 
Bai Mu'ajjal 2,700,827 -   -   2,700,827 

Shares
Listed companies 1,908,146 1,059,172 175,625 1,024,599 

Non Government securities 
Listed 854,000 -   1,309 855,309 
Un listed 840,000 -   (2,621) 837,379 

Total  Investments 17,202,043 1,059,172 166,929 16,309,800 

2018

Cost /
Provision for Surplus / Carrying

Amortised
diminution (Deficit) Value

cost

Rupees in thousands

Federal Government securities
GOP Ijarah Sukuks 8,366,893 -   (41,185) 8,325,708 
WAPDA Sukuks 85,187 -   22 85,209 
Bai Mu'ajjal 1,159,936 -   -   1,159,936 

Shares

Listed companies 1,831,580 881,903 (43,325) 906,352 

Non Government securities 
Listed 1,159,000 -   4,367 1,163,367 
Un listed 1,073,333 -   49 1,073,382 

Total  Investments 13,675,929 881,903 (80,072) 12,713,954 

9.2.1 There were no investment given as colleteral as at December 31, 2019 (2018: Nil).

2019 2018

Rupees in thousands

9.3 Provision for diminution in value of investments

Opening balance 881,903 -   
Charge for the year 177,269 881,903 

Closing balance 1,059,172 881,903 

9.4 Quality of Available for Sale Securities

Details regarding quality of Available for Sale (AFS) securities are as follows:

Note 2019 2018

Cost
Rupees in thousands

Federal Government Securities - Government guaranteed

GOP Ijarah Sukuks 10,842,666 8,366,893 
WAPDA Sukuks

Unlisted - AAA (2018: AAA) 56,404 85,187 

10,899,070  8,452,080 

Shares
Listed

Automobile Assembler 154,313 154,313 
Cable & Electric Goods 136,403 136,403
Engineering 266,165 266,165 
Fertilizer 171,055 167,693 
Oil & Gas Marketing Companies 308,072 285,187 
Paper & Board 308,108 308,108 
Pharmaceuticals 161,717 161,716 
Power Generation & Distribution 99,803 186,607 
Refinery 94,081 94,081 
Textile Composite 91,354 71,307 
Oil & Gas Exploration Companies 116,705 -   
Chemical 370 -   

1,908,146 1,831,580 

Non Government Securities 
Listed
A+ 129,000  129,000 
AA- 150,000 225,000 

279,000 354,000 
Un listed
AA 740,000 973,333 
A 100,000 100,000 

840,000 1,073,333 

13,926,216 11,710,993

9.5 Particulars relating to Held to Maturity 
securities are as follows:

Federal Government Securities - Government guaranteed
Bai Mu'ajjal 9.5.1 2,700,827 1,159,936 
Non Government Securities
Listed

AA+ 9.5.2 575,000 805,000 

3,275,827 1,964,936 

9.5.1 Bai Muajjal receivable 9.5.1.1 3,768,188 1,605,938 
Less: Deferred Income 1,067,361 446,002 

Bai Muajjal at cost 2,700,827 1,159,936 

9.5.1.1 This represents receivable from Government of Pakistan against sale of GoP Ijarah Sukuk certificates
(GIS - 16). The credit price will be recovered at the time of maturity.

9.5.2 The market value of non Government securities classified as held-to-maturity as at December 31, 2019
amounted to Rs.578.398 million  (2018: Rs.814.422  million).

10 ISLAMIC FINANCING AND RELATED ASSETS - NET

Note Performing Non performing Total

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Rupees in thousands

Murabaha 10.1 7,605,280 17,096,368 4,550 759 7,609,830 17,097,127 
Musawamah 10.2 2,000 -   -   -   2,000 -   
Istisna 10.3 2,603,493 1,793,878 -   -   2,603,493 1,793,878 
Salam 111,287 4,118 -   -   111,287 4,118 
Ijarah 10.4 4,878,702 4,269,903 2,698 -   4,881,400 4,269,903 
Running Musharaka 10.5 16,669,096 19,441,575 -   -   16,669,096 19,441,575 
Diminishing Musharaka 10.6 17,802,303 19,047,410 374,179 10,007 18,176,482 19,057,417 
Staff finance 10.7 1,293,082 1,258,046 -   -   1,293,082 1,258,046 

Islamic financing and related assets - gross 50,965,243 62,911,298 381,427 10,766 51,346,670 62,922,064 
Less: Provision against non-performing

Islamic financing and related assets
- Specific -   -   (3,340) (758) (3,340) (758)
- General (33,363) (14,102) -   -   (33,363) (14,102)

10.10 (33,363) (14,102) (3,340) (758) (36,703) (14,860)
Islamic financing and related assets

- net of provisions 50,931,880 62,897,196 378,087 10,008 51,309,967 62,907,204

Note 2019 2018

Rupees in thousands

10.1 Murabaha

- Murabaha financing 10.1.1 4,671,163 7,334,021 
- Murabaha inventory 2,649,423 6,625,790 
- Advances against Murabaha financing 239,244 3,056,316 
- Murabaha financing under Islamic export refinance scheme 10.1.5 -   -   
- Advances against Murabaha financing under 

Islamic export refinance scheme 50,000 81,000 

7,609,830 17,097,127 

10.1.1 Murabaha receivable - gross 10.1.2 5,005,449 7,674,572 
Less: Deferred Murabaha income 10.1.4 334,286 340,551 

Murabaha financing 4,671,163 7,334,021 

10.1.2 Movement in Murabaha receivable during the year:
Opening balance 7,674,572 4,860,060 
Sales during the year 25,845,273 23,655,655 
Adjusted during the year (28,514,396) (20,841,143)

5,005,449 7,674,572 

10.1.3 Murabaha sale price during the year 25,845,273 23,655,655 
Murabaha purchase price during the year (24,447,190) (22,644,766)

1,398,083 1,010,889 

10.1.4 Deferred Murabaha income
Opening balance 340,551 158,456 
Arising during the year 1,398,083 1,010,889 
Recognised during the year (1,404,348) (828,794)

334,286 340,551 

10.1.5 Murabaha receivable under Islamic export 
refinance scheme - gross 10.1.6 -   -   

Less: Deferred income 10.1.8 -   -   

Murabaha financing under Islamic export refinance scheme -   -   

10.1.6 Movement in Murabaha receivable under 
IERS during the year:

Opening balance -   101,575 
Sales during the year -   242,026 
Adjusted during the year -   (343,601)

-   -   

10.1.7 Murabaha sale price under Islamic export 
refinance scheme during the year -   242,026 

Murabaha purchase price under Islamic export 
refinance scheme during the year -   (239,601)

-   2,425 

10.1.8 Deferred Murabaha income under Islamic 
export refinance scheme

Opening balance -   1,075 
Arising during the year -   2,425 
Recognised during the year -   (3,500)

-   -   

10.2 Musawamah

- Musawamah inventory 2,000 -   

2,000 -   

10.3 Istisna

- Istisna financing 60,146 -   
- Istisna inventory 616,127 -   
- Advances against Istisna financing 1,052,399 594,687 
- Istisna financing under Islamic export refinance scheme 56,929 24,244 
- Advances against Istisna financing under 
Islamic export refinance scheme 817,892 1,174,947 

2,603,493 1,793,878 

10.4 Ijarah financing and related assets

- Net book value of assets in Ijarah under IFAS 2 10.4.1 4,190,369 2,948,075 
- Advances against Ijarah 691,031 1,321,828 

4,881,400 4,269,903 

10.4.1 Net book value of assets in Ijarah under IFAS 2

2019

Cost Depreciation

As at 
Additions /

As at As at 
Charge /

As at 
Book Value as

January 1, 
(Disposal)

December January 1,
(Disposal)

December 31,
at December 

2019 31, 2019 2019 2019 31, 2019

Rupees in thousands

Vehicles 2,882,357 1,501,816 3,999,646 654,281 629,680 1,039,780 2,959,866 
(384,527) (244,181)

Equipment and 
Plant and Machinery 1,203,656 970,541 1,689,096 483,657 363,007 458,593 1,230,503 

(485,101) (388,071)

Total 4,086,013 2,472,357 5,688,742 1,137,938 992,687 1,498,373 4,190,369 
(869,628) (632,252)

2018

Cost Depreciation

As at 
Additions /

As at As at 
Charge /

As at 
Book Value as 

January 1, 
(Disposal)

December January 1,
(Disposal)

December 31, at December 

2018 31, 2018 2018 2018 31, 2018

Rupees in thousands

Vehicles 1,662,346 1,588,759 2,882,357 603,033 321,939 654,281 2,228,076 
(368,748) (270,691)

Equipment and 
Plant and Machinery 788,327 543,461 1,203,656 363,380 226,778 483,657 719,999 

(128,132) (106,501)

Total 2,450,673 2,132,220 4,086,013 966,413 548,717 1,137,938 2,948,075 
(496,880) (377,192)

10.4.2 Future Ijarah payments receivable

2019

Later than Over
Not later 1 year and Five Total

than 1 year not later than years
5 years

Rupees in thousands

Ijarah rental receivables 3,094,930 3,085,207 72,419 6,252,556 

2018

Later than Over
Not later 1 year and Five Total

than 1 year not later than years
5 years

Rupees in thousands

Ijarah rental receivables 904,424 2,174,932 80,941 3,160,297 

2019 2018
Rupees in thousands

10.5 Running Musharaka
- Running Musharaka financing 14,854,096 18,285,575 
- Running Musharaka financing under 
Islamic export refinance scheme 1,815,000 1,156,000 

16,669,096 19,441,575 

10.6 Diminishing Musharaka
- Diminishing Musharaka financing 17,511,215 15,347,739 
- Advances against Diminishing Musharaka financing 665,267 3,709,678 

18,176,482 19,057,417 

10.7 Staff finance

- Staff vehicle finance under Diminishing Musharaka 230,096 213,215 
- Staff housing finance under Diminishing Musharaka 1,062,986 1,044,831 

1,293,082 1,258,046 

10.8 Particulars of Islamic financing and related assets - gross

In local currency 51,346,670 62,922,064 
In foreign currency -   -   

51,346,670 62,922,064 

10.9 Islamic financing and related assets include Rs. 381.427 million (2018: Rs. 10.766 million) which have
been placed under non-performing status as detailed below:

2019 2018

Category of Classification Non-performing Non-performing 

Islamic financing Provision Islamic financing Provision

and related assets and related assets

Rupees in thousands

Domestic

Other Assets Especially Mentioned 14,754 -   9,832 -   
Substandard 7,703 1,797 235 59 
Doubtful 358,105 678 -   -   
Loss 865 865 699 699 

381,427 3,340 10,766 758 

10.10 Particulars of provision against Islamic financing and related assets

2019 2018

Specific General Total Specific General Total 

Rupees in thousands 

Opening balance 758 14,102 14,860 729 490 1,219 

Charge for the year 3,383 19,261 22,644 59 13,612 13,671 
Reversals (99) -   (99) (30) -   (30)

3,284 19,261 22,545 29 13,612 13,641 
Amounts written off (702) -   (702) -   -   -   

Closing balance 3,340 33,363 36,703 758 14,102 14,860 

10.11 As allowed by the SBP, the Bank has availed benefit of forced sale value (FSV) in determining the
provisioning against non-performing Islamic financing and related assets as at December 31, 2019. Had
the benefit not been taken by the bank, the specific provision against non-performing Islamic financing
and related assets would have been higher by Rs.178.374 million (December 31, 2018 : NIL). The
additional benefit on the Bank's statement of profit and loss arising from availing the FSV benefit - net
of tax amounts to Rs 115.943 million as at December 31, 2019 (December 31, 2018: Nil). However, the
additional impact on profitability arising from availing the benefit of forced sales value is not available for
payment of cash or stock dividends to shareholders.
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Total cost for the year included in Other Operating Expenses relating to outsourced activities is
Rs.362.341 million (2018: Rs. 166.004 million). Out of this cost, Rs.360.555 million (2018: Rs.164.536
million) pertains to companies incorporated in Pakistan and Rs.1.786 million (2018: Rs.1.468 million)
pertains to  companies incorporated outside Pakistan. This includes expenses of outsourced services
costs, which are disclosed above. 

The Bank has outsourced following activities:
-   SWIFT connectivity
-   Statement rendition & dispatch of customers intimation letters
-   Office staff
-   Guarding / Monitoring / Patrolling Services

Note 2019 2018
Rupees in thousands 

29.1 Total compensation expense

Managerial Remuneration

i) Fixed 799,104 612,875 
ii) Variable

a) Cash awards 80 5,185 
b) Accrual / (reversal) for staff bonus 200,000 (55,605)

Contribution to defined contribution plan 55,152 39,859 
Rent and house maintenance 347,802 256,942 
Utilities 77,000 57,065 
Medical 32,339 24,161 
Conveyance and fuel 254,734 189,726 
Special allowances 233,933 143,395 
Leave encashment -   651 
Sales commission 10,293 5,359 
Staff takaful 54,102 38,641 
Others 542 891 

2,065,081 1,319,145 

29.2 Auditors' remuneration

Audit fee 2,100 1,925 
Fee for interim review 825 825 
Other certifications and services 4,110 3,850 
Sales tax on services 1,024 330 
Out-of-pocket expenses 782 750 

8,841 7,680 

29.3 Ijarah of Musta'jir meeting the criteria prescribed by IFRS 16 "Leases" are presented as on-balance
sheet item.

Note 2019 2018
Rupees in thousands 

30 OTHER CHARGES

Penalties imposed by the State Bank of Pakistan 24,386 4,582 

24,386 4,582 

31 PROVISIONS & WRITE OFFS - NET

Provision for diminution in value of investments 9.3 177,269 881,903 
Provision  against Islamic financing and related assets 10.10 22,545 13,641 
Other write offs 31.1 -   102 

199,814 895,646 

31.1 This represents obsolete stamp papers, acquired under demerger scheme, written off.

Note 2019 2018
Rupees in thousands 

32 TAXATION

Current 152,884 57,602 
Deferred 13 (275,031) (641,833)

(122,147) (584,231)

32.1 Relationship between tax charge and accounting profit

Loss before taxation (365,759) (1,680,213)
Tax at the applicable rate 35% 35%

Tax on loss (128,016) (588,075)

Effect of:
-  permanent differences 8,535 1,604 
-  others (2,666) 2,240 

5,869 3,844 

Tax charge for the year (122,147) (584,231)

2019 2018
Rupees in thousands 

33 BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE - AFTER TAX

Loss after taxation (243,612) (1,095,982)

Number of shares 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 1,122,684,932 1,110,136,986 

Rupees 

Basic / diluted loss per share - after tax (0.217) (0.987)

2019 2018
Rupees in thousands 

34 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and balances with treasury banks 10,252,547 6,990,369 
Balances with other banks 8,822,985 1,422,701 
Overdrawn nostro -   (81,869)

19,075,532 8,331,201 

34.1 Reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities

2019 2018
Rupees in thousands 

Share Capital

Balance as at January 1, 11,200,000 10,000,000 
Issue of share capital in cash 350,000 1,200,000 

Balance as at January 31, 11,550,000 11,200,000 

Other liabilities

Balance as at January 1, 2,413,116 -   
Payment of lease liability against right-of-use of asset (524,046) -   
Non cash based 3,061,980 -   
Cash based 2,644,746 -   

Balance as at January 31, 7,595,796 -   

2019 2018
Numbers 

35 STAFF STRENGTH

Permanent 1,593 1,473 
On Bank contract 26 20 

Bank's own staff strength at end of the year 1,619 1,493 

35.1 In addition to the above, 571 (2018: 352) employees of outsourcing services companies were assigned
to the Bank as at the end of the year to perform services other than guarding and janitorial services. All
of these employees were working with the Bank domestically in current and prior years.

36 DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

The Bank operates an approved contributory provident fund for 1,304 (2018: 1,050) employees. Equal
monthly contributions are made both by the Bank and its permanent employees to the Fund at the rate
of 8.33% of the basic salaries of employees. However, an employee has an option to increase his / her
contribution upto 15% but the Bank will still contribute 8.33% of the employee's basic salary.

2019 2018
Rupees in thousands

Contribution made by the Bank 55,315 40,001 
Contribution made by the employees 57,611 41,440 

112,926 81,441 

37 COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

37.1 Total Compensation Expense

2019

Directors

Items Executives Non-
Members

President /
Key Other Material

Chairman (other than
Executives

Shariah
CEO

Management Risk Takers/

CEO) Board Personnel Controllers

Fees and Allowances etc. 180 -   780 -   -   -   -   
Managerial Remuneration
i) Fixed -   -   -   5,319 18,328 58,144 74,799 
ii) Total Variable of which
a) Bonus -   -   -   1,000 21,000 26,334 21,166 

Contribution to defined contribution plan -   -   -   163 1,483 4,344 6,038 
Rent and house maintenance -   -   -   879 8,248 23,458 33,455 
Utilities -   -   -   195 1,833 5,212 7,318 
Medical -   -   -   -   -   -   756 
Conveyance -   -   -   1,122 -   24,648 38,022 
Special Pay -   -   -   241 -   6,692 8,898 
Charge allowance -   -   -   -   -   -   2,100 
Fuel Allowance -   -   -   228 -   4,937 8,996 
Ex-Gratia -   -   -   -   -   1,500 -   
LFA -   -   -   -   4,290 11,000 880 
Others -   -   -   -   -   -   512 

Total 180 -   780 9,147 55,182 166,269 202,940 

Number of Persons 1  - 7   3 1 16 46 

2018
President / 

Items Chief Directors Executives
Executive 

Officer

Fees -   790 -   
Managerial Remuneration including bonus and awards 27,274 -   398,412 
Contribution to defined contribution plan 1,486 -   25,427 
Rent and house maintenance 8,021 -   147,820 
Utilities 1,782 -   32,837 
Medical -   -   6,677 
Conveyance -   -   87,247 
Others -   -   104,713 

38,563 790 803,133 

Number of Persons 1 7 302 

37.2 Remuneration paid to Directors for participation in Board and Committee Meetings

2019

Meeting Fees and Allowances Paid

For Board Committees

Sr. Name of Director For Board
AC HR & RC RM & PRC BS & SQRC BIT BEC Total

No. Meetings Paid Amount

Rs. in '000'

1 Raza Mansha 70 -   30 -   50 30 -   180 

2 Ahmed Ebrahim Hasham 40 -   10 20 50 10 10 140 

3 Omair Safdar 50 30 30 40 30 -   10 190 

4 Aftab Ahmad Khan 50 20 20 -   30 -   -   120 

5 Seema Aziz 30 20 -   -   10 -   -   60 

6 Dr.Khalid Zaheer 50 40 30 -   -   10 -   130 

7 Ibrahim Shamsi 50 10 -   30 20 30 -   140 

Total Amount Paid 340 120 120 90 190 80 20 960 

>>>>>> Continued

>>>>>> Continued

Note 2019 2018

Rupees in thousands

14 OTHER ASSETS

Profit / return accrued in local currency 2,434,000 1,058,880 
Advances, deposits, advance rent and other prepayments 164,697 267,118 
Advance taxation (payments less provisions) 11,097 24,606 
Branch adjustment account 40,206 -   
Receivable against ATM transactions 156,474 288,577 
Receivable under home remittances 11,851 13,945 
Mark to market gain on forward foreign exchange contracts -   169,697 
Acceptance 2,194,173 409,429 
Others 37,288 57,119 

5,049,786 2,289,371 

15 CONTINGENT ASSETS

There were no contingent assets of the Bank as at December 31, 2019 (2018: Nil).

16 BILLS PAYABLE

In Pakistan 973,627 1,303,992 
Outside Pakistan -   -   

973,627 1,303,992 

17 DUE TO FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

In Pakistan 4,127,526 7,718,759 
Outside Pakistan -   81,869 

4,127,526 7,800,628 

17.1 Particulars of due to financial institutions with 

respect to currencies

In local currency 4,127,526 7,718,759 
In foreign currencies -   81,869 

4,127,526 7,800,628 

17.2 Details of due to financial institutions - 

Secured / Unsecured

Secured

Musharaka with the State Bank of Pakistan under
Islamic Export Refinance Scheme 17.2.1 2,650,821 1,987,408 

Unsecured

Musharaka arrangements 17.2.2 1,380,853 5,731,351 
Musharaka arrangements with other institution 95,853 -   
Overdrawn nostro -   81,869 

4,127,527 7,800,628 

17.2.1 These Musharaka arrangements are on a profit and loss sharing basis maturing between January 01,
2020 to June 29, 2020 (2018: February 24, 2019 to June 26, 2019) and are secured against demand
promissory notes executed in favour of the SBP. A limit of Rs. 2,760 million has been allocated to the
Bank by SBP under Islamic Export Refinance Scheme.

17.2.2 This represents Musharaka arrangements with banks carrying profit at expected rates ranging from 8.5%
to 9.0% per annum (2018: 9.40% to 9.80% per annum) and having maturity till January 15, 2020.

18 DEPOSITS AND OTHER ACCOUNTS

2019 2018

In Local In Foreign In Local In Foreign 

currency currencies
Total

currency currencies
Total

Rupees in thousands

Customers

Current deposits 20,470,659 1,721,169 22,191,828 20,498,978 1,599,388 22,098,366 
Savings deposits 31,630,709 2,085,896 33,716,605 29,634,547 1,705,967 31,340,514 
Term deposits 15,049,977 72,099 15,122,076 5,040,187 104,191 5,144,378 
Others 4,918,750 -   4,918,750 3,690,026 -   3,690,026 

72,070,095 3,879,164 75,949,259 58,863,739 3,409,546 62,273,284 

Financial Institutions 

Current deposits 98,729 1,605 100,334 73,166 1,206 74,372 
Savings deposits 1,986,733 1,554 1,988,287 5,885,028 -   5,885,028 
Term deposits 3,815,631 -   3,815,631 5,074,501 -   5,074,501 

5,901,093 3,159 5,904,252 11,032,695 1,206 11,033,901 

77,971,188 3,882,323 81,853,511 69,896,434 3,410,752 73,307,185

2019 2018

Rupees in thousands

18.1 Composition of deposits
Individuals 35,007,567 30,685,632 
Government (Federal and Provincial) 7,692,691 5,087,472 
Public Sector Entities 268,859 281,355 
Banking Companies 1,037,961 1,343,993 
Non-Banking Financial Institutions 4,866,288 9,689,908 
Private Sector 32,980,145 26,218,825 

81,853,511 73,307,185 

18.2 This includes deposits eligible to be covered under takaful arrangements amounting to Rs.51,165.607
million (2018: Rs.40,534.489 million).

Note 2019 2018

Rupees in thousands

19 OTHER LIABILITIES

Profit / return payable in local currency 19.1 679,292 390,522 
Profit / return payable in foreign currencies 9,437 4,871 
Accrued expenses 333,136 324,388 
Income received in advance 71,091 30,365 
Acceptance 2,194,173 409,429 
Branch adjustment account -   191,069 
Payable under inter-bank fund transfer 3,805 71,960 
Advance receipt against Islamic financing and related assets 6,154 3,319 
Charity fund balance 19.2 57,782 25,402 
Security deposits against Ijarah financing 1,005,930 812,429 
Retention money payable -   17,780 
Payable under purchase of securities -   14,910 
Withholding tax, Federal excise duty and other payable 21,685 7,778 
Mark to market loss on forward foreign exchange contracts 22,812 -   
Liability against ROU asset 19.3 3,039,168 -   
Others 151,331 108,894 

7,595,796 2,413,116 

19.1 It includes Rs. 10.086 million (2018: Rs. 8.916 million) in respect of profit / return accrued on Musharaka
with SBP under Islamic Export Refinance Scheme.

Note 2019 2018

Rupees in thousands

19.2 Reconciliation of charity fund balance

Opening balance 25,402 5,513 

Additions during the year
-  Received from customers against late payment 45,958 25,548 
-  Dividend purification amount 7,383 2,133 
-  Profit on charity saving account 1,539 308 

54,880 27,989 

Charity paid during the year 19.2.1 (22,500) (8,100)

Closing balance 57,782 25,402 

19.2.1 Charity was paid to the following institutions:

Arthiritis Care 1,000 -   
Aziz Jehan Begum Trust for the Blind 1,000 700 
Care Foundation Pakistan -   700 
Chiniot Anjuman Islamia -   600 
Family Welfare Society 1,000 600 
Fast – NU Chiniot – Faisalabad Campus -   600 
Fatmid Foundation 1,000 700 
Indus Hospital 2,000 -   
Infaq Memorial Trust 1,000 700 
Layton Rehmatullah Benevolent Trust 2,000 -   

Mind Organization 1,000 -   
Pink Ribbon 5,000 -   
Rising Sun Education & Welfare Society -   700 

Sindh Institute of Urology & Transplantation (SIUT) 2,000 700 
Shaukat Khanam Memorial Cancer Hospital 2,000 1,000 
The Citizens Foundation 2,000 600 
The Lahore Hospital Welfare Society 500 500 
The Patient Behbood Society for AKUH 1,000 -   

22,500 8,100 

19.2.2 Charity was not paid to any staff of the Bank or to any individual / organisation in which a director or his
spouse had any interest at any time during the year.

19.3 Ijarah of Musta'jir meeting the criteria prescribed by IFRS 16 "Leases" are presented as on-balance
sheet item.

20 SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised capital

2019 2018 2019 2018

                         Number of shares                                                                                                               Rupees in thousands

            1,500,000,000            1,500,000,000        Ordinary shares of Rs. 10/- each                               15,000,000              15,000,000 

Issued, subscribed and paid up capital

2019 2018 2019 2018

                         Number of shares                                                                                                               Rupees in thousands

                                                                              Fully paid in cash                                                                          

            1,120,000,000            1,000,000,000        Balance at beginning of the year                               11,200,000              10,000,000 

                35,000,000             120,000,000        Issued during the year - right shares                              350,000                1,200,000 

            1,155,000,000            1,120,000,000        Balance at end of the year                                         11,550,000              11,200,000 

20.1 The Bank's shares are 100 percent held by MCB Bank Limited (MCB) - the parent company and its
nominee directors.

Note 2019 2018

Rupees in thousands 

21 RESERVES

Statutory Reserves 26,444 26,444 

21.1 Statutory reserve represents amount set aside as per the requirements of section 21 of the Banking
Companies Ordinance, 1962.

Note 2019 2018
Rupees in thousands

22 SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) ON REVALUATION OF 
ASSETS - NET OF TAX

Surplus / (deficit) arising on revaluation of:
-   Fixed assets 22.1 357,814 210,137 
-   Available for sale securities 22.2 166,929 (80,072)

524,743 130,065 

Deferred tax on surplus / (deficit) on revaluation of:
-   Fixed assets 22.1 (43,992) (25,818)
-   Available for sale securities 22.2 (58,425) 28,025 

(102,417) 2,207 

422,326 132,272 

22.1 Surplus on revaluation of fixed assets
Surplus on revaluation of fixed assets as January 1 210,137 211,437 
Recognised during the year 148,977 -   
Transferred to unappropriated profit in respect of incremental

depreciation charged during the year - net of deferred tax (845) (845)
Related deferred tax liability on incremental

depreciation charged during the year (455) (455)

Surplus on revaluation of fixed assets as at December 31 357,814 210,137 
Less: Related deferred tax liability on:

revaluation as at January 1 25,818 26,273 
revaluation recognised during the year 18,629 -   
incremental depreciation charged during the year (455) (455)

43,992 25,818 

313,822 184,319 

22.2 Surplus / (deficit) on revaluation of available for sale
securities - net of tax

Available for sale securities
Listed shares 175,625 (43,325)
Sukuks (8,696) (36,747)

166,929 (80,072)
Related deferred tax asset (58,425) 28,025 

108,504 (52,047)

23 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

Guarantees 23.1 6,467,046 3,092,537 
Commitments 23.2 11,498,973 18,593,888 
Other contingent liabilities 23.3 431,439 425,820 

18,397,458 22,112,245 

23.1 Guarantees:
Performance guarantees 3,431,726 1,099,947 
Other guarantees 3,035,320 1,992,590 

6,467,046 3,092,537 

23.2 Commitments:

Documentary credits and short-term trade-related transactions
Letters of credit 7,818,321 11,639,176 

Commitments in respect of:
Forward foreign exchange contracts 23.2.1 3,363,957 4,693,353 

Commitments for acquisition of:
Fixed assets -   10,395 
Intangible assets 8,940 29,647 

Other commitments 23.2.2 307,755 2,221,317 

11,498,973 18,593,888 

23.2.1 Commitments in respect of forward 
foreign exchange contracts

Purchase 882,210 3,465,359 
Sale 2,481,747 1,227,994 

3,363,957 4,693,353 

23.2.2 Other Commitments

Commitments to extend credit 23.2.2.1 307,755 2,221,317 

23.2.2.1 Other than those stated above, the Bank makes commitment(s) to extend credit in the normal course of
business including related parties but these being revocable commitments do not attract any penalty or
expense if the facility is unilaterally withdrawn.

Note 2019 2018
Rupees in thousands 

23.3 Other contingent liabilities

Claims against the Bank not acknowledged as debt 431,439 425,820 

This includes claim by a third party against the Bank, amounting to Rs.425.820 million which is being
contested in the Court of law. The suit has been disposed off by the Court vide Order dated May 10,
2019 wherein the status quo has been ordered to be maintained with respect to bank guarantee and the
matter has been referred to arbitration with the consent of  the parties. However the Bank has not
received any official notice to attend the arbitration proceedings till date.

In addition to the above, this includes claim by a customer against the bank amounting to Rs.5.6 million
which is pending before the court. 

23.4 The Sindh Revenue Board (SRB) has issued order under "Sindh Sales Tax on Services Act, 2011", for
the year 2016 thereby raising demand of Rs.0.642 million. The Bank has filed appeal before Commissioner
of Inland Revenue Appeals which is pending adjudication. The management of the Bank, in consultation
with its tax advisor, is confident that the decision in respect of the above matter would be in the Bank's
favor and accordingly no provision has been made in these financial statements with respect thereto.

2019 2018
Rupees in thousands 

24 PROFIT / RETURN EARNED

Financings 7,288,776 3,419,424 
Investments in 
-   available for sale securities 1,411,649 562,606 
-   held to maturity securities 400,202 82,370 

1,811,851 644,976 
Musharaka arrangements with financial institutions 555,462 97,176 
Deposits with financial institutions 192,730 47,299 

9,848,819 4,208,875 

25 PROFIT / RETURN EXPENSED

Deposits and other accounts 4,936,521 1,648,860 
Musharaka arrangements with the State 

Bank of Pakistan under IERS 45,860 24,067 
Musharaka arrangements with other financial institutions 490,506 632,023 
Musharaka arrangements with other institution 7,973 -   
Unwinding of liability against right-of-use of asset 25.1 374,201 -   

5,855,061 2,304,950 

25.1 Ijarah of Musta'jir meeting the criteria prescribed by IFRS 16 "Leases" are presented as on-balance sheet item.

Note 2019 2018
Rupees in thousands 

26 FEE & COMMISSION INCOME

Branch banking customer fees 12,407 9,589 
Consumer finance related fees 19,584 7,326 
Card related fees 67,794 41,247 
Credit related fees 4,755 -   
Digital banking fees 12,429 10,359 
Commission on trade 71,407 49,196 
Commission on guarantees 23,475 15,465 
Commission on cash management 134 -   
Commission on remittances including home remittances 9,439 3,340 
Commission on banca takaful 70,021 25,549 
Others 3,046 174 

294,491 162,245 

27 GAIN / (LOSS) ON SECURITIES 

Realised 27.1 (109,983) 17,738 

27.1 Realised gain / (loss) on:
Federal Government Securities - Sukuk certificates (78,014) (57)
Shares (31,969) 17,795 

(109,983) 17,738 

28 OTHER INCOME

Rental income 9,741 8,855 
Locker rent 9,250 3,770 
Gain on sale of fixed assets - net 161 208 
Fees and charges recovered 591 187 

19,743 13,020 

29 OPERATING EXPENSES

Total compensation expense 29.1 2,065,081 1,319,145 

Property expense
Rent and taxes 72,448 412,615 
Takaful expenses 35,998 54,436 
Utilities cost 131,317 79,440 
Security (including guards) 205,897 139,129 
Repair and maintenance (including janitorial charges) 112,505 67,728 
Depreciation on right-of-use assets 29.3 442,016 -   
Depreciation 11.2 155,773 109,109 

1,155,954 862,457 

Information technology expenses
Software maintenance 91,106 57,674 
Hardware maintenance 73,910 43,600 
Takaful expenses 2,069 2,236 
Depreciation 11.2 117,339 97,334 
Amortisation 12.1 111,650 90,482 
Network charges 109,407 79,455 

505,481 370,781 

Other operating expenses
Directors' fees and allowances 850 900 
Remuneration to Shariah Board members 8,147 7,029 
Legal and professional charges 43,551 37,382 
Takaful expenses 68,457 19,238 
Fee and subscription 1,409 2,434 
Outsourced services costs 35.1 201,492 152,753 
Travelling and conveyance 88,076 60,837 
Repair and maintenance vehicles 1,557 1,262 
NIFT clearing charges 18,655 12,390 
Brokerage, commission and bank charges 15,781 20,943 
Depreciation 11.2 13,336 7,998 
Training and development 15,964 10,811 
Postage and courier charges 52,044 42,468 
Communication 16,351 9,583 
Stationery and printing 66,113 44,304 
Marketing, advertisement and publicity 57,711 41,420 
Auditors remuneration 29.2 8,841 7,680 
Entertainment 41,288 29,500 
Others 32,497 21,857 

752,120 530,789 

4,478,636 3,083,172
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2019 2018
                                                                                                                         Rupees in thousands

41 CAPITAL ADEQUACY, LEVERAGE RATIO & LIQUIDITY 
REQUIREMENTS                                                                                                      

Minimum Capital Requirement (MCR):                                                                      

Paid-up capital (net of losses)                                                                     10,044,475 9,937,242 

Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR):                                                                                  

Eligible Common Equity Tier 1 (CET 1) Capital                                            8,140,251 8,449,229 
Eligible Additional Tier 1 (ADT 1) Capital                                                                    -   -   

Total Eligible Tier 1 Capital                                                                           8,140,251 8,449,229 
Eligible Tier 2 Capital                                                                                      455,689 146,374 

Total Eligible Capital (Tier 1 + Tier 2)                                                            8,595,940 8,595,603 

Risk Weighted Assets (RWAs):                                                                                     
Credit Risk                                                                                                  54,303,062 58,995,689 
Market Risk                                                                                                   2,931,724 3,325,247 
Operational Risk                                                                                           4,974,383 2,864,988 

Total                                                                                                           62,209,169 65,185,924 

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Adequacy ratio                                                  13.09% 12.96%

Tier 1 Capital Adequacy Ratio                                                                           13.09% 12.96%

Total Capital Adequacy Ratio                                                                            13.82% 13.19%

Statutory minimum capital requirement and Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR)

The capital adequacy ratio of the Bank was subject to the Basel III capital adequacy guidelines stipulated
by the State Bank of Pakistan through its BPRD Circular No. 06 of 2013 dated August 15, 2013. These
instructions are effective from December 31, 2013 in a phased manner with full implementation intended
by December 31, 2019.

Phase-in arrangement and full implementation of the minimum capital requirements:

Ratio Year End December 31, As at Dec 31,

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

CET1 5.00% 5.50% 6.00% 6.00% 6.00% 6.00% 6.00%
ADT-1 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50%
Tier 1 6.50% 7.00% 7.50% 7.50% 7.50% 7.50% 7.50%
Total Capital 10.00% 10.00% 10.00% 10.00% 10.00% 10.00% 10.00%
*CCB 0% 0% 0.25% 0.65% 1.275% 1.90% 2.50%
Total Capital plus CCB 10.00% 10.00% 10.25% 10.65% 11.275% 11.90% 12.50%

* Capital Conservation Buffer (CCB) Consisting of CET1 only

The Minimum Capital Requirement of the Bank stands at Rs.10 Billion and is in compliance with the
required capital adequacy ratio including CCB (12.50% of the risk-weighted assets) through improvement
in the asset quality at the existing volume level, ensuring better recovery management and composition
of asset mix with low risk. Banking operations are categorized as either trading book or banking book
and risk-weighted assets are determined according to specified requirements of the State Bank of
Pakistan that seek to reflect the varying levels of risk attached to assets and off-balance sheet exposures.
The total risk-weighted exposures comprise of the credit risk, market risk and operational risk.

Basel-III Framework enables a more risk-sensitive regulatory capital calculation to promote long term
viability of the Bank. As the Bank conducts business on a wide area network basis, it is critical that it is
able to continuously monitor the exposure across entire organization and aggregate the risks so as to
take an integrated view. Maximization of the return on risk-adjusted capital is the principal basis to be
used in determining how capital is allocated within the Bank to particular operations or activities.

The Bank has adopted Standardized Approach to measure Credit risk regulatory capital charge in
compliance with Basel-III requirements. The Bank measures and manages Market Risk by using
conventional methods i.e. notional amounts, sensitivity and combinations of various limits.Beside
conventional methods, the Bank also uses VaR (Value at Risk) technique for market risk assessment of
positions assumed by its Treasury and FX Group. In-house based solutions are used for calculating
mark to market value of positions and generating VaR (value at risk) and sensitivity numbers. Thresholds
for different positions are established to compare the expected losses at a given confidence level and
over a specified time horizon. Currently, the bank is reporting operational risk capital charge under Basic
Indicator Approach (BIA). 

Leverage Ratio (LR):

In order to avoid building-up excessive on and off-balance sheet leverage in the banking system,
monitoring of  Leverage Ratio is in place as per SBP directives with the following objectives:

- constrain the build-up of leverage in the banking sector which can damage the broader financial
system and the economy; and

- reinforce the risk based requirements with an easy to understand and a non-risk based measure.

A minimum Tier 1 leverage ratio of 3% has been prescribed both at solo and consolidated level.

2019 2018
                                                                                                                         Rupees in thousands

Leverage Ratio (LR):                                                                                                   
Eligiblle Tier-1 Capital                                                                                   8,140,251 8,449,229 
Total Exposures                                                                                        122,793,297 112,806,919 

Leverage Ratio                                                                                                    6.63% 7.49%

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR)

The objective of Liqudity Coverage Ratio (LCR) is to ensure short-term resilience of the liqudity risk
profile of the bank by ensuring availability of adequate High Quality Liquid Assets to survive a significant
stress scenario lasting for 30 calendar days. LCR should be kept above 100% as per SBP guidelines.

2019 2018
                                                                                                                         Rupees in thousands

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR):                                                                                
Total High Quality Liquid Assets                                                                 20,622,000 16,245,706 
Total Net Cash Outflow                                                                               16,912,917 14,292,812 

Liquidity Coverage Ratio                                                                                 121.93% 113.66%

Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR)

The objective of Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) is to reduce funding risk over a longer time horizion
by requiring banks to fund their activites with sufficiently stable sources of funding on ongoing basis.
Banks are required to maintain NSFR requirement of at least 100% on an ongoing basis from December
31, 2017. 

2019 2018
                                                                                                                         Rupees in thousands

Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR):
Total Available Stable Funding 70,542,798 65,452,794 
Total Required Stable Funding 38,070,615 42,777,651 

Net Stable Funding Ratio 185.29% 153.01%

41.1 The full disclosures on the CAPITAL ADEQUACY, LEVERAGE RATIO & LIQUIDITY REQUIREMENTS as
per SBP instructions issued from time to time are available at http:// www.mcbislamicbank.com/investor-
relationship/financial-reports/financial-report-2019/

42 RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk is an inherent part of banking business activities. The risk management framework and governance
structure at MCB Islamic Bank helps to mitigate and counter any foreseeable risk in its various lines of
business.  Risk awareness forms an integral part of strategic and operational activities of risk
management. Through its risk management policy the Bank sets the best course of action to counter
uncertainty by identifying, prioritizing, mitigating and monitoring risk issues, with the goal of enhancing
shareholders’ value. Bank's risk management structure is based on the following five guiding principles
while conforming to the prescribed Shari'ah guidelines:

- Optimizing risk/return in a controlled manner
- Establishing clear responsibility and accountability
- Establishing independent and properly resourced risk management function.
- Promoting open risk culture
- Adopting international best practices in risk management

Keeping in view dynamics of internal and external environment, the bank regularly reviews and updates
policy manuals / frameworks and procedures in accordance with domestic regulatory environment and
international standards.

The Bank executes its risk strategy and undertakes controlled risk-taking activities within its risk
management framework and Annual Risk Appetite and Strategy document. The Board of Directors and
its relevant committee, i.e. the Risk Management & Portfolio Review Committee (RM & PRC), the senior
management and its relevant committees, i.e. the Risk Management Committee (RMC), Asset Liability
Committee (ALCO), etc., are responsible to ensure formulation and implementation of a comprehensive
Risk Management Framework. The framework combines core policies, procedures and process designs
with broad oversight and is supported by an efficient monitoring mechanism across the Bank to ensure
that risks are kept within an acceptable level.

The Bank ensures that not only the relevant risks are identified but their implications are also considered
and the basis provided for managing and measuring the risks. Through Internal Control units, the Bank
ensures that effective controls are in place to mitigate each of the identified risks.

Independent from business groups, Chief Risk Officer reports functionally to the Risk Management &
Portfolio Review Committee (RM & PRC) and administratively to the President; the RM & PRC convenes
regular meetings to evaluate the Bank’s risk and portfolio concentrations. The Risk Management Group
performs the following critical functions:

- Credit Risk Management (including Credit Risk Review & Control)
- Market Risk Management
- Liquidity Risk Management
- Operational Risk Management
- Cyber Security Risk Management

42.1 Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from our dealings with individuals, corporate clients, financial institutions, sovereigns
etc. The Bank is exposed to credit risk through its financing and investment activities. It stems from the
Bank’s both, on and off-balance sheet activities. Credit risk makes up the largest part of the Bank’s
exposure. Purpose of Credit Risk Management function is to identify, measure, manage, monitor and
mitigate credit risk. Organizational structure of this function ensures pre and post-facto management of
credit risk. While, Credit Review function provides pre-fact evaluation of counterparties, the Credit Risk
Control (CRC) performs post-fact evaluation of financing facilities and reviews clients’ performance on
an ongoing basis.

The Bank has adopted Standardized Approach to measure Credit risk regulatory capital charge in
compliance with Basel-III requirements. The approach mainly takes into account the assessment of
external credit rating agencies. In line with SBP guidelines on Internal Credit Risk Rating Systems, the
Bank has developed rating systems and all its corporate and commercial financing customers are
internally rated. The Bank is in the process of continuously improving the system and bringing it inline
with the Basel framework requirements.

In order to manage the Bank’s credit risk, following policies and procedures are in place:

- Individuals who take or manage risks clearly understand them in order to protect the Bank from
avoidable risks;

- Credit facility or material change to the credit facility is allowed subject to credit review;
- Approval and review process is reviewed by RM&PRC and internal audit;
As a part of credit assessment the Bank uses an internal rating framework as well as the ratings assigned
by the external credit rating agencies, wherever available.

Ongoing administration of the credit portfolio is an essential part of the credit process that supports and
controls extension and maintenance of credit. The Bank’s Credit Risk Control, being an independent
function from the business and operations group, is responsible for performing the following activities:

- Credit disbursement authorization;
- Collateral coverage and monitoring;
- Compliance of loan covenants/ terms of approval;
- Maintenance/ custody of collateral and security documentation.

Credit Risk Monitoring is based on a comprehensive reporting framework. Continuous monitoring of the
credit portfolio and the risks attached thereto are carried out at different levels including businesses,
Audit & Risk Assets Review, Credit Risk Control, Credit Risk Management Division, etc.

To ensure a prudent distribution of asset portfolio, the Bank manages its lending and investment activities
within an appropriate limits framework. Per party exposure limit is maintained in accordance with SBP
Prudential Regulation R-1.

>>>>>> Continued

>>>>>> Continued

2018

Meeting Fees and Allowances Paid

Sr. For Board Committees

No. Name of Director
For Board

AC HR & RC RM & PRC BS & SQRC BIT BEC Total
Meetings

Paid Amount

Rs. in '000'

1 Raza Mansha 30 -   30 -   20 10 -   90 

2 Ahmed Ebrahim Hasham 50 30 30 -   -   10 10 130 

3 Omair Safdar 50 50 30 40 -   -   10 180 

4 Aftab Ahmad Khan 40 30 20 30 40 -   -   160 

5 M.U.A. Usmani 30 -   -   -   -   -   -   30 

6 Dr.Khalid Zaheer 10 10 10 -   -   -   -   30 

7 Ibrahim Shamsi 50 40 -   30 30 20 -   170 

Total Amount Paid 260 160 120 100 90 40 20 790 

37.3 Remuneration paid to Shariah Board Members

2019 2018

Items Chairman
Resident Non-Resident

Chairman
Resident Non-Resident 

Member Member(s) Member Member(s)

Rs. in '000'

a. Meeting Fees and Allowances -   -   -   -   -   -   

b. Other Heads 

Basic salary 2,166 1,953 1,200 2,005 1,700 962 

House rent -   879 -   -   765 -   

Utilities -   195 -   -   170 -   

Conveyance -   1,122 -   -   817 -   

Fuel -   228 -   -   171 -   

Special pay -   241 -   -   238 -   

Bonus -   1,000 -   -   57 -   

PF Employer -   163 -   -   142 -   

Medical -   -   -   -   60 -   

Total Amount 2,166 5,781 1,200 2,005 4,120 962 

Total Number of Persons 1 1 1 1 1 2 

38 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of quoted securities other than those classified as held to maturity, is based on quoted

market price. Quoted securities classified as held to maturity are carried at cost. The fair value of

unquoted equity securities, is determined on the basis of the break-up value of these investments as

per their latest available audited financial statements.

The fair value of unquoted securities, placements, Islamic financing and related assets, other assets,

other liabilities, fixed term deposits and acceptances cannot be calculated with sufficient reliability due

to the absence of a current and active market for these assets and liabilities and reliable data regarding

market rates for similar instruments.

The repricing profile with effective rates and maturity are stated in notes 42.2.5 and 42.4.1 respectively.

In the opinion of the management, the fair value of the remaining financial assets and liabilities are not

significantly different from their carrying values since assets and liabilities are either short-term in nature

or in the case of customer financing and deposits are frequently re-priced.

38.1 The Bank measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of

the inputs used in making the measurements:

Level 1: Fair value measurements using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets

or liabilities.

Level 2: Fair value measurements using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are

observable for the assets or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3: Fair value measurements using input for the asset or liability that are not based on observable

market data (i.e. unobservable inputs).

The table below analyses the financial and non-financial assets carried at fair values, by valuation methods.

For financial assets, the Bank essentially carries its investments in Sukuk and equity securities at fair

values. Valuation of investments is carried out as per guidelines specified by the SBP. In case of non-

financial assets, the Bank has adopted revaluation model (as per IAS 16) in respect of land and building.

                                                                                                                                       2019

                                                                                                                                  Fair Value

                                                                                Carrying             Level 1             Level 2          Level 3             Total 

                                                                                   value 

                                                                                                                        Rupees in thousands 

On-balance sheet financial instruments

Financial assets measured at fair value

Investments                                                       

Federal Government Securities 10,891,686 -   10,891,686 -   10,891,686 

Shares 1,024,599 1,024,599 -   -   1,024,599 

Non-Government Securities 1,117,688 -   1,117,688 -   1,117,688 

13,033,973 1,024,599 12,009,374 -   13,033,973 

Financial assets - disclosed 

but not measured at fair value 

Investments (held to maturity) 3,275,827 -   -   -   -   

Cash and balances 

with treasury banks 10,252,547 -   -   -   -   

Balances with other banks 8,822,985 -   -   -   -   

Due from financial institutions 5,851,664 -   -   -   -   

Islamic financing 

and related assets - net 40,336,214 -   -   -   -   

Other assets 4,873,992 -   -   -   -   

Fair value of non-financial assets

Operating fixed assets 

(land and building) 1,329,970 -   1,329,970 -   1,329,970 

Off-balance sheet 

financial instruments

Foreign exchange 

contracts purchase 882,210 -   (25,357) -   (25,357)

Foreign exchange contracts sale 2,481,747 -   1,324 -   1,324 

                                                                                                            2018

                                                                                                                                    Fair Value

                                                                                Carrying             Level 1             Level 2          Level 3             Total 

                                                                                   value 

                                                                                                                          Rupees in thousands 

On-balance sheet financial instruments

Financial assets measured at fair value

Investments

Federal Government Securities 8,410,917 -   8,410,917 -   8,410,917 

Shares 906,352 906,352 -   -   906,352 

Non-Government Securities 848,416 -   848,416 -   848,416 

10,165,685 906,352 9,259,333 -   10,165,685 

Financial assets - disclosed 

but not measured at fair value 

Investments (held to maturity) 1,964,936 -   1,964,936 -   1,964,936 

Cash and balances 

with treasury banks 6,990,369 -   -   -   -   

Balances with other banks 1,422,701 -   -   -   -   

Due from financial institutions 4,675,000 -   -   -   -   

Islamic financing 

and related assets - net 43,394,883 -   -   -   -   

Other assets 1,994,815 -   -   -   -   

Fair value of non-financial assets

Operating fixed assets 

(land and building) 1,178,573 -   1,178,573 -   1,178,573 

Off-balance sheet financial instruments

Foreign exchange contracts purchase 3,465,359 -   213,328 -   213,328 

Foreign exchange contracts sale 1,227,994 -   (43,649) -   (43,649)

The Bank’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of the different fair value hierarchy levels at the

date the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer occurred. There were no transfers

between levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year.

(a) Financial instruments in level 1

Financial instruments included in level 1 comprise of investments in listed ordinary shares.

(b) Financial instruments in level 2

Financial instruments included in level 2 comprise of Sukuks and Forward Exchange Contracts.

(c) Financial instruments in level 3

Currently, no financial instrument is classified in level 3.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in determination of fair values

Item Valuation techniques and input used

Fully paid-up ordinary shares Fair values of investments in listed equity securities are valued on the

basis of closing quoted market prices available at the Pakistan Stock

Exchange.

Ijarah Sukuks (GOP Fair values of GoP Ijarah Sukuks and other Ijarah Sukuks are derived 

Ijarah Sukuks and other using the PKISRV rates announced by the Financial Market 

Ijarah Sukuks) Association (FMA) through Reuters. These rates denote an average

of quotes received from eight different pre-defined / approved dealers

/ brokers.

Foreign exchange The valuation has been determined by interpolating the mid rates 

contracts announced by the State Bank of Pakistan.

Operating fixed assets Land and buildings are revalued every three years using professional 

(land and building) valuers on the panel of Pakistan Banker’s Association. The valuation

is based on their assessment of market value of the properties.

38.2 Trust Activities

The Bank is not engaged in any trust activities.

39 SEGMENT INFORMATION

39.1 Segment Details with respect to Business Activities 

                                                                                                                                                                                                 2019

                                                                                       Business          
Corporate         Consumer

         Micro          
Treasury

         Head             Sub          
Elimination         Total

                                                                                     Distribution                                                            Finance                               Office           -total                                          

                                                                                                                                                                                  Rupees in thousands 

Profit and Loss                                                   

Net spread earned (4,732,206) 6,376,666 347,769 55,744 1,900,068 45,717 3,993,758 -   3,993,758 
Inter segment revenue - net 7,718,421 (5,824,387) (271,752) (17,220) (2,129,500) 524,438 -   -   -   
Other income 234,930 49,731 11,953 7,593 29,088 10,024 343,319 -   343,319 

Total Income 3,221,145 602,010 87,970 46,117 (200,344) 580,179 4,337,077 -   4,337,077 

Segment direct expenses (2,081,126) (97,629) (80,731) (37,024) (21,634) (2,184,878) (4,503,022) -   (4,503,022)
Inter segment expense allocation (767,438) (9,146) (31,621) (16,255) (2,275) 826,735 -   -   -   

Total expenses (2,848,564) (106,775) (112,352) (53,279) (23,909) (1,358,143) (4,503,022) -   (4,503,022)

Provisions / write off 50 -   (19,284) (3,311) (177,269) -   (199,814) -   (199,814)

Profit / (loss) before tax 372,631 495,235 (43,666) (10,473) (401,522) (777,964) (365,759) -   (365,759)

Balance Sheet

Cash and bank balances 4,435,470 -   -   -   14,640,062 -   19,075,532 -   19,075,532 
Investments -   825,000 -   -   15,484,800 -   16,309,800 -   16,309,800 
Net inter segment placements 75,590,970 -   -   -   -   4,029,719 79,620,689 (79,620,689) -   
Due from financial institutions -   -   -   -   5,851,664 -   5,851,664 -   5,851,664 
Financing - performing 4,417,685 41,447,427 3,549,900 220,446 -   1,293,082 50,928,540 -   50,928,540 

- non-performing 649 356,748 20,129 3,901 -   -   381,427 -   381,427 
Others 3,327,291 2,741,874 157,006 6,873 1,193,604 5,043,650 12,470,298 -   12,470,298 

Total Assets 87,772,065 45,371,049 3,727,035 231,220 37,170,130 10,366,451 184,637,950 (79,620,689) 105,017,261 

Bills payable 973,627 -   -   -   -   -   973,627 -   973,627 
Due to financial institutions 859,993 1,886,681 -   -   1,380,852 -   4,127,526 -   4,127,526 
Deposits & other accounts 81,535,009 318,502 -   -   -   -   81,853,511 -   81,853,511 
Net inter segment acceptances -   40,218,683 3,193,648 241,454 35,966,904 -   79,620,689 (79,620,689) -   
Others 4,030,805 2,451,948 577,053 239 29,017 506,734 7,595,796 -   7,595,796 

Total liabilities 87,399,434 44,875,814 3,770,701 241,693 37,376,773 506,734 174,171,149 (79,620,689) 94,550,460 

Equity 372,631 495,235 (43,666) (10,473) (206,643) 9,859,717 10,466,801 -   10,466,801 
Total Equity & liabilities 87,772,065 45,371,049 3,727,035 231,220 37,170,130 10,366,451 184,637,950 -   105,017,261 

Contingencies & Commitments 4,748,692 10,223,226 2,643 -   (1,549,537) 8,940 13,433,964 -   13,433,964 

                                                                                                                                                                                                 2018

                                                                                         Business         
Corporate         Consumer         Micro           

Treasury          Head             Sub          
Elimination         Total

                                                                                       Distribution                                                          Finance                                Office           -total                                         

                                                                                                                                                                                  Rupees in thousands 

Profit & Loss

Net spread earned (1,592,103) 3,379,652 26,295 7,713 39,747 42,621 1,903,925 -   1,903,925 
Inter segment revenue - net 2,962,857 (3,202,301) (49,742) (7,103) (187,051) 483,340 -   -   -   
Other income 108,611 50,265 5,198 2,128 223,997 9,063 399,262 -   399,262 

Total Income 1,479,365 227,616 (18,249) 2,738 76,693 535,024 2,303,187 -   2,303,187 

Segment direct expenses (1,410,908) (89,850) (48,067) (11,686) (17,892) (1,509,353) (3,087,754) -   (3,087,754)
Inter segment expense allocation (555,656) (5,837) (20,918) (4,479) (2,107) 588,999 -   -   -   

Total expenses (1,966,564) (95,687) (68,985) (16,165) (19,999) (920,354) (3,087,754) -   (3,087,754)

Reversal of provisions / (write off) -   -   (12,968) (673) (881,903) (102) (895,646) -   (895,646)

Profit / (loss) before tax (487,199) 131,929 (100,202) (14,100) (825,209) (385,432) (1,680,213) -   (1,680,213)

Balance Sheet

Cash & Bank balances 3,352,342 -   -   -   5,060,728 -   8,413,070 -   8,413,070 
Investments -   1,545,000 -   -   11,168,954 -   12,713,954 -   12,713,954 
Net inter segment placements 67,008,132 -   -   -   -   6,162,432 73,170,564 (73,170,564) -   
Due from financial institutions -   -   -   -   4,675,000 -   4,675,000 -   4,675,000 
Financing - performing 4,406,883 55,495,912 1,657,100 67,342 -   1,269,201 62,896,438 -   62,896,438 

- non-performing -   -   10,705 61 -   -   10,766 -   10,766 
Others 469,512 841,954 32,241 2,256 313,583 4,525,661 6,185,207 -   6,185,207 

Total Assets 75,236,869 57,882,866 1,700,046 69,659 21,218,265 11,957,294 168,064,999 (73,170,564) 94,894,435 

Bills payable 1,303,992 - -   - - - 1,303,992 - 1,303,992
Due to financial institutions 150,019 1,837,389 -   -   5,813,220 -   7,800,628 -   7,800,628 
Deposits & other accounts 72,888,033 419,152 -   -   -   -   73,307,185 -   73,307,185 
Net inter segment acceptances -   55,227,525 1,629,752 83,674 16,229,613 -   73,170,564 (73,170,564) -   
Others 1,382,024 266,871 170,496 85 52,687 540,953 2,413,116 -   2,413,116 

Total liabilities 75,724,068 57,750,937 1,800,248 83,759 22,095,520 540,953 157,995,485 (73,170,564) 84,824,921 

Equity (487,199) 131,929 (100,202) (14,100) (877,255) 11,416,341 10,069,514 -   10,069,514 

Total Equity & liabilities 75,236,869 57,882,866 1,700,046 69,659 21,218,265 11,957,294 168,064,999 (73,170,564) 94,894,435 

Contingencies & Commitments 3,293,150 11,388,563 -   -   4,508,682 465,862 19,656,257 -   19,656,257 

39.2 Segment details with respect to geographical locations

The Bank operates in Pakistan only.

40 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Bank has related party relationship with its parent company, associates, employee benefit plans
and its directors and key management personnel and their close family members.

The Bank enters into transactions with related parties in the normal course of business.

Contributions to staff retirement benefit plan are made in accordance with the terms of the contribution
plan. Remuneration to the executives / officers is determined in accordance with the terms of their
appointment.

40.1 The details of transactions with related parties and balances with them are given below:

2019 2018

                                                                                                                          
Parent          Directors

         Key manage-     Other related      
Parent        Directors

       Key manage- Other related 

                                                                                                                                                                 ment personnel        parties                                               ment personnel parties

Rs. In thousands Rs. In thousands

Balances with other banks                                                                    

In current accounts                                                                        6,844                   -                    -                    -            7,928                 -                      -                  -   
In deposit accounts                                                                                -                   -                    -                    -                    -                 -                      -                  -   

                                                                                                       6,844                   -                    -                    -            7,928                 -                      -                  -   

Islamic financing and related assets                                                   
Opening balance                                                                                    -         12,263          92,318         490,514                    -       13,103             83,778      314,132 
Addition during the year                                                                         -                   -            8,236      2,633,058                    -                 -             39,988   1,258,648 
Repaid during the year                                                                          -       (12,263)        (16,642)    (2,361,635)                     -         (840)           (15,223) (1,082,266)
Transfer in / (out) - net                                                                           -                   -          (4,278)                     -                    -                 -          (16,225)                  -   

Closing balance                                                                                     -                   -          79,634         761,937                    -       12,263             92,318      490,514 

Fixed assets - Capital work in progress                                              

Advance paid against purchase of property                                 20,000                   -                    -                    -          20,000                 -                      -                  -   

Other assets                                                                                           

Profit receivable                                                                                     -                   -            1,746           16,436                    -                 -               1,630          4,374 
Prepaid expenses                                                                                  -              220               367           22,254                    -                 -                  150        21,869 
Receivable under scheme of merger                                           11,282                   -                    -                    -          17,585                 -                      -                  -   
Receivable under home remittance                                             11,852                   -                    -                    -          13,945                 -                      -                  -   
Receivable under ATM transactions                                                      -                   -                    -                    -                    -                 -                      -        66,557 

                                                                                                    23,134              220            2,113           38,690          31,530                 -               1,780        92,800 

Due to financial institutions                                                                  

Opening balance                                                                        631,351                   -                    -                    -        524,590                 -                      -                  -   
Addition during the year                                                        22,355,349                   -                    -                    -   40,942,611                 -                      -                  -   
Repaid during the year                                                       (22,105,847)                   -                    -                    -   (40,835,850)               -                      -                  -   

Closing balance                                                                         880,853                   -                    -                    -        631,351                  -                        -                   -

Deposits                                                                                                  

Opening balance                                                                                    -           5,488          21,626         389,094                    -            628             53,386      379,888 
Addition during the year                                                                         -         99,236        186,023    16,583,485                    -       46,565           196,910   8,756,755 
Withdrawn during the year                                                                     -       (72,234)      (182,995)  (15,876,040)                     -    (41,705)         (228,632) (8,590,528)
Transfer in / (out) - net                                                                           -         (7,300)           (2,611)         204,470                    -                  -                  (38)    (157,021)

Closing balance                                                                                     -         25,190          22,043      1,301,009                    -         5,488             21,626      389,094 

Other liabilities                                                                                       

Profit payable                                                                               26,932              207                 55             8,212          12,143                 -                    55          1,411 
Accrued expenses                                                                                 -                   -            2,640             5,996            3,056                 -                      -          9,421 
Other liabilities                                                                                       -                   -                    -             1,583            2,305            110                      -          1,169 

                                                                                                    26,932              207            2,695           15,791          17,504            110                    55        12,001 

Contingencies and Commitments                                                        

Letter of Credit                                                                                    -                   -                    -         922,170                    -                 -                      -      663,838 

Letter of Guarantee                                                                             -                   -                    -         776,734                    -                 -                      -      790,886 

Commitment to extend credit                                                              -                   -                    -                    -                    -                 -                      -        25,040 

Forward exchange contract                                                                  

Purchase                                                                              803,640                   -                    -                    -     1,516,079                 -                      -                  -   

Sale                                                                                   1,240,454                   -                    -                    -        605,589                 -                      -                  -   

Unrealized gain on forward exchange contract - net              (27,493)                   -                    -                    -          10,196                 -                      -                  -   

Transactions during the year                                                                

Income                                                                                                    
Profit return earned                                                                                -                94            3,839           66,278                    -            445               3,861        38,899 
Commission earned                                                                               -                   -                    -           49,094                    -                 -                      -        10,486 
Rental income                                                                                9,741                   -                    -                    -            8,855                 -                      -                  -   
Other income                                                                                         -                14                 13                    -                    -                 -                    21                  -   

                                                                                                      9,741              108            3,852         115,372            8,855            445               3,882        49,385 

Expense                                                                                                  

Profit return expensed                                                               176,229              841               281           30,536        118,887                1                  797          6,373 
Commission expense                                                                            -                   -                    -                    -               174                 -                      -                  -   
Advertisement expense                                                                         -                   -                    -                    -            3,056                 -                      -                  -   
Rental expense                                                                            34,453                   -                    -                    -          27,873                 -                      -                  -   
Takaful expense                                                                                     -                   -                    -           91,332                    -                 -                      -        86,770 
Security expense                                                                                   -                   -                    -           54,987                    -                 -                      -        47,494 
Other expense                                                                               1,019              850                    -                620               120            900                      -               21 

                                                                                                   211,701           1,691               281         177,475        150,110            901                  797      140,658 

Other transactions during the year                                                      

Fee paid                                                                                                 -              960                    -                    -                   -            790                      -                  -   

Managerial remuneration paid                                                               -         55,182        175,416                    -                    -       38,563           146,987                  -   

Contribution paid to provident fund                                                        -                   -                    -         112,926                     -                 -                      -        81,321 

Re-imbursement under home remmittance payments            2,982,952                   -                    -                   -     1,722,855                 -                      -                  -   

Proceeds under scheme of merger                                                       -                   -                    -                   -   22,214,180                 -                      -                  -   

Proceeds from issue of Share Capital                                       350,000                   -                    -                    -     1,200,000                 -                      -                  -   

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets                                                        -                66                 53                    -                    -                 -                    25                  -   

Disbursement made against advance salary                                         -                   -               800                    -                    -                 -               1,085                  -   

Repayment made against advance salary                                             -                   -               950                    -                    -                 -               2,445                  -   

Payment made against expenses                                                23,636                   -                    -         142,230           6,140                 -                      -                  -   

Foreign currency purchase                                                   35,648,100                   -                    -                    -   19,345,617                 -                      -                  -   

Foreign currency sale                                                           25,846,588                   -                    -                    -   11,344,980                 -                      -                  -   

Letter of Credit issued                                                                            -                   -                    -      1,835,927                     -                 -                      -   2,297,576 

Letter of Guarantee issued                                                                    -                   -                    -         362,480                    -                 -                      -      135,664
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Reconciliation of assets and liabilities exposed to yield / profit rate risk with total assets and liabilities

2019 2018
Rupees in thousands 

Total financial assets as per note 42.2.5 86,447,202 71,191,722 
Add: Non financial assets

Islamic financing and related assets 10,973,753 19,512,321 
Fixed assets 5,779,772 2,552,600 
Intangible assets 719,723 592,171 
Deferred tax assets 921,017 751,065 
Other assets 175,794 294,556 

Total assets as per Statement of Financial Position 105,017,261 94,894,435 

Total financial liabilities as per note 42.2.5 94,528,776 84,817,143 
Add: Non financial liabilities

Deferred tax liability -   -   
Other liability 21,684 7,778 

Total liabilities as per Statement of Financial Position 94,550,460 84,824,921

42.3 Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people, and
systems or from external events. This definition includes legal risks but excludes strategic and
reputational risks.

The Bank’s operational risk management framework, as laid down in the operational risk policy, duly
approved by BOD, is flexible enough to implement in stages and permits the overall risk management
approach to evolve in the light of organizational learning and the future needs of the Bank. Operational
loss events are reviewed and appropriate corrective actions are taken on an ongoing basis, including
measures to improve  control procedures with respect to design and operative effectiveness.

An independent Operational Risk Management Function has also been established within the Risk
Management Group, as per the requirements of SBP Basel Framework and in line with the international
best practice.This function is responsible to ensure that management of operational risk in the Bank is
carried out in accordance with the bank's approved policies and frameworks.

Operational Risk Management helps the Bank understand risks and improve mitigating controls so as
to minimize operational risks that are inherent in almost all areas of the Bank. Going forward, the Bank
will further strengthen its risk function, policies and procedures to facilitate its operations and improve
quality of assets to safeguard interest of depositors.

The key elements in the operational risk management process are:

- Risk Identification & Assessment
- Risk Monitoring & Reporting
- Risk Control & Mitigation

Operational Risk identification at MIB is based on utilization of diversified tools including but not limited
to internal and external loss / control breach / near miss incidents data collection ,  process reviews,
internal / external audit / regulatory inspection observations, expert judgment and self-assessment etc.
Since scope of operational risk spreads across different functions of the bank , roles and responsibilities
regarding operational risk management also spread across all the groups in the bank. Governance
structure involved in management of operational risk  is as follows:

- Board of Directors
- Risk Management and Portfolio Review Committee (RM&PRC)
- President 
- Risk Management Group (RMG)
- All Business & Support Groups

Based on the analysis of operational risks through maintenance of operational risk database, a periodic
reporting of operational losses and significant risk events is being done for review of RM&PRC on
quarterly basis. The strong control environment encompasses documented policies / procedures and
systems in all key areas as effective risk mitigation tools.

MIB is focusing on the following risk mitigation tools:

- Business Continuity Management / Disaster Recovery Planning
- Takaful
- Outsourcing

Continuous monitoring of the effectiveness of mitigants has been ensured through regular compliance
reviews and  independent validation by Internal / External Audit inspections.

Operational risk covers a broad range of risks and is useful to sub-divide operational risk into two main
categories i.e Internal Risks & External Risks.

Operational risk event types are further divided into seven types which are as under;

- Internal Fraud
- External Fraud
- Damage to Physical Assets
- Execution, delivery and process management
- Business disruption and system failure
- Employment practices and workplace safety
- Clients, products and business practices

Operational Risk-Disclosures Basel II Specific

Since MIB currently being at infancy stage, is using Basic Indicator Approach (BIA) for allocation of
capital charge for operational risk as the corner stone of capital  allocation under advanced approaches
of Basel II is the historical time series of operational loss data.

Operational loss data pertaining to key risk events is also collected on bank-wide basis.  Periodic review
and analysis will be prepared for senior management and Risk Management and Portfolio Review
Committee (RM&PRC) of the Board.  Such reports will cover the significant risk events with root cause
analysis and recommendations for further improvements.

Business Continuity Planning & Health, Safety & Environment:

A comprehensive Business Continuity Plan is in place whereby all Branches & Head Office functions
have developed their Alternate Sites which will be operational in case of emergency.

We have establish minimum safety standards that all businesses, offices and branches of the Bank must
adhere to and encourages all employees to promote the safety of their fellow employees and customers.

Fraud Risk Management:

Fraud Risk Management Unit has been formed under Risk management group to ensure appropriate
protection of financial and reputational interest of the bank and core responsibilities are:

- Compliance on SBP directives for policies, procedures and internal / external reporting.
- 24/7 Monitoring of Digital Banking & ADC transactions.
- Fraud training awareness.
- Handling frauds related complaints & their resolutions as per SBP directives.

Information Technology Security:

A dedicated IT Security Division working independently under Risk Management Group is now in place.
The main objectives of this division are to ensure:

- Risk Assessment of all Information systems is carried out so that all vulnerabilities are identified and
mitigated proactively.

- IT security compliance initiatives are led and completed.
- Creation and review of all frameworks, such as Information Security Policy, Risk Management

Framework covering Cyber Security Action Plan, Payment Card Security Framework and
Internet Banking guidelines.  Information Security Office further ensures adherence to these
frameworks by ITG.

42.4 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the potential for loss to the Bank arising from either its inability to meet its obligations or
to fund increases in assets as they fall due without incurring an unacceptable cost. The Bank’s Board of
Directors sets Bank’s policy for managing liquidity risk and entrusts accountability for supervision of the
implementation of this strategy to senior management. Senior management exercises its responsibilities
for managing market & liquidity risk through various committees including the Asset & Liability
Management Committee (ALCO). Treasury department manages the Bank’s liquidity position on a daily
basis. The Bank’s main approach of managing the liquidity risk is to make certain that it will always have
adequate liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due in normal and stressed scenarios without
incurring any untoward expenditure or risking reputational harm. ALCO monitors the maintenance of
liquidity ratios, depositor's concentration both in terms of the overall funding mix and avoidance of undue
reliance on large individual deposits. Regular liquidity stress testing is conducted under a variety of
scenarios covering both normal and more severe market conditions. There is an Asset Liability
Management Framework in place for focused handling of Liquidity. This framework also incorporates
early warning indicators.

42.4.1 Maturities of assets and liabilities

42.4.1.1 Maturities of Assets and Liabilities - based on contractual maturity

2019

Total Upto 1 Over 1 Over 7 Over 14  Over 1 Over 2 Over 3 Over 6 Over 9  Over 1 Over 2 Over 3 Above 

Day to 7 to 14 days to 1 to 2 to 3 to 6 to 9 months to 2 to 3 to 5 5 

days days month months months months months to 1 year years years years years

Rupees in thousands

Assets

Cash and balances with treasury banks 10,252,547 2,563,137 2,563,137 2,563,137 2,563,137 - - - - - - - - -
Balances with other banks 8,822,985 1,111,996 3,111,996 2,111,996 2,486,996 - - - - - - - - -
Due from financial institutions 5,851,664 -   500,000 -   1,980,000 3,371,664 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   
Investments - net 16,309,800 1,024,599 -   -   -   -   57,500 109,574 57,500 944,144 1,494,084 1,655,891 100,000 10,866,508 
Islamic financing and related assets - net 51,309,967 3,698,512 1,188,880 174,809 1,433,230 4,258,637 7,101,251 10,224,961 2,175,521 222,090 3,744,110 5,040,382 6,713,499 5,334,085 
Fixed assets 5,779,772 1,278 7,669 8,947 50,294 67,520 67,753 201,258 199,975 195,783 757,831 675,602 1,137,504 2,408,358 
Intangible assets 719,723 -   -   -   11,090 11,225 11,677 35,150 35,388 35,395 141,504 134,288 232,269 71,737 
Deferred tax assets - net 1,186,161 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   863 -   210,356 974,942 -   -   
Other assets - net 5,049,786 356,952 390,349 408,701 539,756 472,937 358,496 478,242 285,561 285,561 -   -   1,473,231 -   

105,282,405 8,756,474 7,762,031 5,267,590 9,064,503 8,181,983 7,596,677 11,049,185 2,754,808 1,682,973 6,347,885 8,481,105 9,656,503 18,680,688 

Liabilities

Bills payable 973,627 243,407 243,407 243,407 243,406 - - - - - - - - -
Due to financial institutions 4,127,526 100,000 500,000 - 880,850 350,000 951,124 1,305,552 40,000 - - - - -
Deposits and other accounts 81,853,511 63,978,667 1,955,876 643,002 3,760,520 3,997,697 1,747,366 1,061,440 1,085,983 3,460,398 23,357 135,705 3,500 -   
Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease -   - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Sub-ordinated debts -   - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Deferred tax liabilities - net 265,144 45 316 316 4,364 5,040 5,040 7,744 4,911 9,588 26,261 25,599 41,823 134,097 
Other liabilities 7,595,796 591,146 627,201 646,085 781,925 193,370 106,172 216,365 1,535,023 56,597 269,204 332,925 787,754 1,452,029 

94,815,604 64,913,265 3,326,800 1,532,810 5,671,065 4,546,107 2,809,702 2,591,101 2,665,917 3,526,583 318,822 494,229 833,077 1,586,126 

Net assets 10,466,801 (56,156,791) 4,435,231 3,734,780 3,393,438 3,635,876 4,786,975 8,458,084 88,891 (1,843,610) 6,029,063 7,986,876 8,823,426 17,094,562 

Share capital 11,550,000 
Reserves 26,444 
Surplus on revaluation of assets - net of tax 422,326 
Accumulated loss (1,531,969)

10,466,801 

2018

Total Upto 1 Over 1 Over 7 Over 14  Over 1 Over 2 Over 3 Over 6 Over 9  Over 1 Over 2 Over 3 Above 

Day to 7 to 14 days to 1 to 2 to 3 to 6 to 9 months to 2 to 3 to 5 5 

days days month months months months months to 1 year years years years years

Rupees in thousands

Assets

Cash and balances with treasury banks 6,990,369 1,747,592 1,747,592 1,747,593 1,747,592 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   
Balances with other banks 1,422,701 355,675 355,675 355,676 355,675 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   
Due from financial institutions 4,675,000 -   4,675,000 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   
Investments - net 12,713,954 906,352 -   -   -   -   4,924,642 167,860 115,833 167,860 3,850,955 1,493,990 115,000 971,462 
Islamic financing and related assets - net 62,907,204 1,564,394 1,140,403 1,099,323 1,098,155 3,391,509 2,065,017 16,106,813 6,145,367 4,636,788 5,498,900 5,507,416 10,013,386 4,639,733 
Fixed assets 2,552,600 -   -   -   21,454 20,708 21,598 65,655 68,181 69,200 205,993 254,998 376,428 1,448,385 
Intangible assets 592,171 -   -   -   8,011 8,011 8,055 24,165 24,165 24,165 164,040 96,532 169,512 65,515 
Deferred tax assets - net 926,240 -   -   -   -   850 1,938 -   -   7,582 559,910 355,960 -   -   
Other assets - net 2,289,371 234,993 331,730 270,565 398,679 297,363 192,061 187,994 187,993 187,993 -   -   -   -   

95,069,610 4,809,006 8,250,400 3,473,157 3,629,566 3,718,441 7,213,311 16,552,487 6,541,539 5,093,588 10,279,798 7,708,896 10,674,326 7,125,095 

Liabilities

Bills payable 1,303,992 325,998 325,998 325,998 325,998 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   
Due to financial institutions 7,800,628 81,870 -   2,900,000 1,700,000 1,331,350 350,000 1,437,408 -   -   -   -   -   -   
Deposits and other accounts 73,307,185 63,088,306 1,016,816 692,979 2,690,007 2,938,064 1,130,332 460,936 440,600 763,034 32,397 46,914 6,800 -   
Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   
Sub-ordinated debts -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   
Deferred tax liabilities - net 175,175 96 674 674 1,444 2,888 2,888 8,664 8,664 8,664 115,748 1,991 2,599 20,181 
Other liabilities 2,413,116 500,922 597,659 536,493 664,606 109,369 4,067 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

85,000,096 63,997,192 1,941,147 4,456,144 5,382,055 4,381,671 1,487,287 1,907,008 449,264 771,698 148,145 48,905 9,399 20,181 

Net assets 10,069,514 (59,188,186) 6,309,253 (982,987) (1,752,489) (663,230) 5,726,024 14,645,479 6,092,275 4,321,890 10,131,653 7,659,991 10,664,927 7,104,914 

Share capital 11,200,000 
Reserves 26,444 
Surplus on revaluation of assets - net of tax 132,272 
Accumulated loss (1,289,202)

10,069,514 

>>>>>> Continued

>>>>>> Continued

The Bank creates specific provision against Non- Performing Financings (NPFs) in accordance with the
Prudential Regulations and other directives issued by the State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) and charged to
the profit and loss account. Provisions are held against identified as well as unidentified losses.
Provisions against unidentified losses include general provision against consumer, small entities and
micro financings made in accordance with the requirements of the Prudential Regulations issued by SBP
and provision based on historical loss experience on financings.

Stress Testing

Credit Risk stress testing is a regular exercise. Bank's all credit exposures including funded and non-
funded facilities are subject to stress test. This exercise is conducted on a quarterly basis through
assigning shocks to all assets of the Bank and assessing its resulting affect on capital adequacy inline
with SBP requirements.

Particulars of Bank's significant on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet credit risk in various sectors are
analysed as follows:

42.1.1 Due from financial institutions

Credit risk by public / private sector 

Gross Placements Non-performing Provision held

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Rupees in thousands

Public /  Government 3,371,664 -   -   -   -   -   
Private 2,480,000 4,675,000 -   -   -   -   

5,851,664 4,675,000 -   -   -   -   

42.1.2 Investment in securities

Credit risk by industry sector 

Gross Investments Non-performing Provision held

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Rupees in thousands

Power (electricity), Gas, 
Water, Sanitary 575,000 805,000 -   -   -   -   

Others 14,710,201 11,002,602 -   -   -   -   

15,285,201 11,807,602 -   -   -   -   

Credit risk by public / private sector

Gross Investments Non-performing Provision held

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Rupees in thousands

Public/ Government 14,710,201 11,002,602 -   -   -   -   
Private 575,000 805,000 -   -   -   -   

15,285,201 11,807,602 -   -   -   -   

42.1.3 Islamic financing and related assets

Credit risk by industry sector 

Gross Financing Non-performing Provision held

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Rupees in thousands

Agriculture, Forestry, Hunting 
and Fishing 1,372,806 1,522,956 262,500 -   -   -   

Textile 8,421,621 9,170,656 -   -   -   -   
Chemical and Pharmaceuticals 2,992,436 2,495,407 -   -   -   -   
Cement 1,751,603 2,440,705 -   -   -   -   
Sugar 3,333,916 4,550,940 -   -   -   -   
Footwear and Leather garments 209,238 198,269 -   -   -   -   
Automobile and transportation 

equipment 735,686 2,793,600 -   -   -   -   
Electronics and electrical 

appliances 437,865 1,253,263 -   -   -   -   
Construction 1,902,332 1,541,117 -   -   -   -   
Power (electricity), Gas, 

Water, Sanitary 1,149,412 2,449,405 -   -   -   
Wholesale and Retail Trade 843,110 798,485 649 699 649 699 
Transport, Storage and 

Communication 8,452,160 10,282,770 -   -   -   -   
Financial 398,849 1,284,534 -   -   -   -   
Insurance 37,871 12,250 -   -   -   -   
Services 2,994,554 594,142 -   -   -   -   
Food, Beverages and Tobacco 4,055,746 7,878,647 -   -   -   -   
Paper 1,243,697 1,209,325 -   -   -   -   
Steel 2,574,610 3,135,518 -   -   -   -   
Shipbreaking 875,177 1,555,148 -   -   -   -   
Oil Refinery 1,000,000 1,400,000 -   -   -   -   
Plastic 356,202 149,816 -   -   -   -   
Individuals 4,904,893 2,950,365 20,129 10,007 1,648 49 
Others 1,302,886 3,254,746 98,149 60 1,043 10 

51,346,670 62,922,064 381,427 10,766 3,340 758 

Credit risk by public / private sector 

Gross Financing Non-performing Provision held

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Rupees in thousands

Public/ Government 9,152,506 10,877,257 -   -   -   -
Private 42,194,164 52,044,807 381,427 10,766 3,340 758 

51,346,670 62,922,064 381,427 10,766 3,340 758 

42.1.4 Contingencies and Commitments

Credit risk by industry sector 

2019 2018

Rupees in thousands

Agriculture, Forestry, Hunting and Fishing 84,550 470,998 
Textile 3,849,030 2,940,903 
Chemical and Pharmaceuticals 934,381 1,246,703 
Cement 466,920 416,672 
Sugar 149,986 96,616 
Footwear and Leather garments 42,251 174,166 
Automobile and transportation equipment 34,962 204,987 
Electronics and electrical appliances 1,429,902 599,076 
Construction 1,407,178 238,942 
Power (electricity), Gas, Water, Sanitary 238,858 229,235 
Wholesale and Retail Trade 798,562 1,661,342 
Transport, Storage and Communication 682,020 2,410,659 
Financial 75,794 421,730 
Insurance 2,558 - 
Services 493,193 273,120 
Food, Beverages and Tobacco 1,305,254 689,184 
Paper 1,965 183,641 
Steel 1,884,386 2,329,573 
Shipbreaking 152,976 186,028 
Oil Refinery 151,751 - 
Plastic 121,832 86,628 
Others 716,252 2,518,647 

15,024,561 17,378,850 

Credit risk by public / private sector 

Public/ Government -   -   
Private 15,024,561 17,378,850 

15,024,561 17,378,850 

42.1.5 Concentration of Islamic financing and related assets

The bank top 10 exposures on the basis of total (funded and non-funded expsoures) aggregated to Rs.
19,993 million (2018: Rs.22,301 million) are as following:

2019 2018

Rupees in thousands

Funded 14,863,350 19,403,942 
Non Funded 5,129,468 2,897,340 

Total Exposure 19,992,818 22,301,282 

The sanctioned limits against these top 10 expsoures aggregated to Rs. 24,617 million (2018: Rs. 24,283
million).

Total funded classified therein

                                                                                                                              2019                                         2018

                                                                                                              Amount      Provision held     Amount      Provision held

                                                                                                                                         Rupees in thousands

OAEM                                                                                                                  -                     -                         -   -   
Substandard                                                                                                        -                     -                         -   -   
Doubtful                                                                                                               -                     -                         -   -   
Loss                                                                                                                     -                     -                         -   -   

Total                                                                                                                     -                     -                         -   -   

42.1.6 Islamic financing and related assets - Province / Region - wise Disbursement & Utilization

2019

Province / Region Utilization

KPK AJK 
Disbursements

Punjab Sindh including Balochistan Islamabad including 

FATA Gilgit-Baltistan

Rupees in thousands

Punjab 181,096,698 177,959,728 3,121,144 14,711 1,115 -   -   

Sindh 111,038,060 9,863 111,007,288 -   20,909 -   -   

KPK including FATA 39,559 5,895 -   33,664 -   -   -   

Balochistan 35,363 -   9,294 -   26,069 -   -   

Islamabad 10,804,413 1,538,628 1,440 6,985 -   9,257,227 133 

AJK including Gilgit-Baltistan 51,420 29,313 -   -   -   -   22,107 

Total 303,065,513 179,543,427 114,139,166 55,360 48,093 9,257,227 22,240 

2018

Province / Region Utilization

KPK AJK 
Disbursements

Punjab Sindh including Balochistan Islamabad including 

FATA Gilgit-Baltistan

Rupees in thousands

Punjab 79,212,955 75,987,167 2,961,934 26,092 4,078 231,470 2,214 

Sindh 31,520,529 -   31,520,529 -   -   -   -   

KPK including FATA 2,297 -   -   2,297 -   -   -   

Balochistan 1,665 -   -   -   1,665 -   -   

Islamabad 5,463,291 1,025,472 -   -   -   4,437,819 -   

AJK including Gilgit-Baltistan -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Total 116,200,737 77,012,639 34,482,463 28,389 5,743 4,669,289 2,214 

42.2 Market Risk

Market Risk arises from changes in market rates such as Profit / Yield Rates, Foreign Exchange Rates,
Equity Prices, and/or commodity prices as well as their correlations and volatilities resulting in a loss to
earnings and capital. MCB Islamic Bank is exposed to market risk primarily through its trading activities,
which are centered in Treasury and FX Group.

The Bank’s Market Risk Management structure consists of Risk Management & Portfolio Review
Committee (RM&PRC) of the Board, Management Finance Committee of management, ALCO. There is
an independent Market Risk Management Division reporting directly to Group Head Risk Management.
Market Risk is an independent risk management function that works in close partnership with the
business segments to identify and monitor market risks throughout the Bank and to define market risk
policies and procedures. Market Risk seeks to facilitate efficient risk/return decisions, reduce volatility in
operating performance and provide transparency into the Bank’s market risk profile for senior
management, the Board of Directors and regulators. Market risk authority, including both approval of
market risk limits and approval of market risks is vested in the ALCO.

In line with regulatory requirements, MCB Islamic Bank has clearly defined, in its Risk Management
policy, the positions which shall be subject to market risk. The definition covers the accounting
classifications as well as positions booked by different business groups under "Available for Sale"
category. The assets subject to trading book treatment are frequently, mostly on daily basis, valued and
actively managed.  The positions which do not fulfill the criteria of Trading book falls under the Banking
Book and are treated as per SBP requirements.

The Bank measures and manages Market Risk by using conventional methods i.e. notional amounts,
sensitivity and combinations of various limits. Bank has established a specific Market Risk Limit Policy
providing guideline for assuming controlled market risk, its monitoring and management. 

Beside conventional methods, the Bank also uses VaR (Value at Risk) technique for market risk
assessment of positions assumed by its treasury and capital market groups. In-house based solutions
are used for calculating mark to market value of positions and generating VaR (value at risk) and
sensitivity numbers. Thresholds for different positions are established to compare the expected losses
at a given confidence level and over a specified time horizon.

A framework of stress testing, scenario analysis and reverse stress tests of both banking and trading
books as per SBP guidelines is also in place. The results of the stress tests are reviewed by senior
management and also reported to the SBP.

42.2.1 Balance sheet split by trading and banking books

2019 2018

                                                                                   Banking               Trading              
Total               Banking              Trading              

Total
                                                                                      book                    book                                           book                   book                      

Rupees in thousands

Cash and balances with                                                       
treasury banks                                                10,252,547                    -        10,252,547      6,990,369                      -   6,990,369 

Balances with other banks                                  8,822,985                    -          8,822,985      1,422,701                      -   1,422,701 
Due from financial institutions                             5,851,664                    -          5,851,664      4,675,000                      -   4,675,000 
Investments                                                         3,275,827   13,033,973        16,309,800      1,964,936      10,749,018 12,713,954 
Islamic financing and related assets                 51,309,967                    -        51,309,967    62,907,204                      -   62,907,204 
Fixed assets                                                        5,779,772                    -          5,779,772      2,619,980                      -   2,619,980 
Intangible assets                                                    719,723                    -             719,723         524,791                      -   524,791 
Deferred tax assets                                                921,017                    -             921,017         751,065                      -   751,065 
Other assets                                                        5,049,786                    -          5,049,786      2,289,371                      -   2,289,371 

                                                                          91,983,288   13,033,973      105,017,261    84,145,417      10,749,018 94,894,435 

42.2.2 Foreign Exchange Risk

Foreign exchange risk exposes the bank to changes in the values of current holdings and future cash
flows denominated in currencies other than home currency due to the exchange rate fluctuation and
volatility. The types of instruments exposed to this risk include foreign currency-denominated financing,
foreign currency-denominated deposits, future cash flows in foreign currencies arising from foreign
exchange transactions, etc.

The core objective of foreign exchange risk management is to ensure the foreign exchange exposure of
the Bank remains within defined risk appetite and insulate the Bank against undue losses that may arise
due to volatile movements in foreign exchange rates or profit rates.

                                                                                                                                                       2019

                                                                                                                         Foreign             Foreign         Off-balance       Net foreign 
                                                                                                                        Currency          Currency             sheet              currency 
                                                                                                                          Assets            Liabilities            items              exposure

                                                                                                                                         Rupees in thousands

United States Dollar                                                                              4,508,438      2,839,643          1,515,005 153,790 
Great Britain Pound Sterling                                                                    668,797         656,646                         -   12,151 
Euro                                                                                                         434,947         385,905                         -   49,042 
Japanese Yen                                                                                            19,750                129                         -   19,621 
Other currencies                                                                                        33,506                     -                         -   33,506 

                                                                                                             5,665,438      3,882,323          1,515,005 268,110 

                                                                                                                                                       2018

                                                                                                                         Foreign             Foreign         Off-balance       Net foreign 
                                                                                                                        Currency          Currency             sheet              currency 
                                                                                                                          Assets            Liabilities            items              exposure

                                                                                                                                         Rupees in thousands

United States Dollar                                                                              1,106,837      2,619,468          1,797,829 285,198 
Great Britain Pound Sterling                                                                    310,338         592,076             352,023 70,285 
Euro                                                                                                           80,793          199,114             154,072 35,751 
Japanese Yen                                                                                          (81,857)                 119               94,545 12,570 
Other currencies                                                                                        23,742                     -                         -   23,742 

                                                                                                             1,439,853      3,410,777          2,398,469 427,546 

2019 2018

                                                                                                       Banking         Trading         Banking         Trading 
                                                                                                          book               book              book               book
                                                                                                                                Rupees in thousands

Impact of 1% change in foreign exchange rates on                                     
-  Profit and loss account                                                                    2,681                    -             4,275 -   
-  Other comprehensive income                                                                 -                    -                     -   -   

42.2.3 Equity position Risk

Bank’s proprietary positions in the equity instruments expose it to the equity price risk in its trading and
banking books. Equity price risk is managed by applying trading limit, scrip-wise and portfolio wise
nominal limits. VaR analysis and stress testing of the equity portfolio are also performed and reported to
senior management. The stress test for equity price risk assesses the impact of the fall in the stock
market index using internal based assumptions. 

2019 2018

                                                                                                       Banking         Trading         Banking         Trading 
                                                                                                          book               book              book               book
                                                                                                                                Rupees in thousands

Impact of 5% change in equity prices on                                                      
-  Profit and loss account                                                                            -          34,701                     -   35,649 
-  Other comprehensive income                                                                 -          16,529                     -   9,668 

42.2.4 Yield / Profit Rate Risk in the Banking Book (IRRBB)-Basel II Specific

Yield rate sensitivity position for on-balance sheet instruments is based on the earlier of contractual re-
pricing or maturity date and for off-balance sheet instruments is based on settlement date. Yield risk
occurs when there is a mismatch between positions, which are subject to profit rate alterations within a
particular time period. The Bank’s financing, placement and investment activities give rise to profit rate
risk. The effect of changes in profit rate is on the Bank’s income, and resultant impact is on the Bank’s
net worth.

Profit rate risk is primarily managed by monitoring the rate sensitive gaps and by having the pre-approved
limits for repricing buckets. ALCO is the supervising body for adherence with these, complemented by
the monitoring of sensitivity of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities to various scenarios.

2019 2018

                                                                                                       Banking         Trading         Banking         Trading 
                                                                                                          book               book              book               book

                                                                                                                                Rupees in thousands

Impact of 1% change in profit rates on                                                         
-  Profit and loss account                                                                136,338          24,844         105,313 37,406 
-  Other comprehensive income                                                                 -                    -                     - - 

42.2.5 Mismatch of Profit Rate Sensitive Assets and Liabilities

                                                                                                                                                                           2019

                                                                                                                                                            Exposed to Yield/ Interest risk

                                                                      Effective            Total                                                                                                                                                                       Non-profit
                                                                        Yield/                                Up to            Over 1           Over 3             Over 6            Over 1            Over 2         Over 3        Over 5           Above bearing 
                                                                        Profit                              1 Month            to 3              to 6            Months to            to 2               to 3             to 5           to 10          10 Years financial
                                                                         rate                                                   Months         Months            1 Year             Years             Years          Years         Years               instruments

%                                                                                    Rupees in thousands

On-balance sheet financial instruments                        

Assets                                                                   
Cash and balances with treasury banks                                         10,252,547                -                  -                 -                  -                  -                  -                -                  -              -    10,252,547 
Balances with other banks                                   0.03 to 12.54       8,822,985     4,378,142                  -                 -                  -                  -                  -                -                  -              -      4,444,843 
Due from financial institutions                                10.27 to 11.0        5,851,664     2,480,000       3,371,664                 -                  -                  -                  -                -                  -              -                 -   
Investments                                                     5.24 to 15.09      16,309,800       379,129     11,162,379        208,296         834,570      1,159,936      1,540,891               -                  -              -      1,024,599 
Islamic financing and related assets                        2.00 to 25.00      40,336,214   18,970,684     15,291,933     3,896,306       2,177,291                 -                  -                -                  -              -                 -   
Other assets                                                                           4,873,992                -                  -                 -                  -                  -                  -                -                  -              -      4,873,992 

                                                                                        86,447,202   26,207,955     29,825,976     4,104,602       3,011,861      1,159,936      1,540,891               -                  -              -    20,595,981 

Liabilities                                                                
Bills payable                                                                             973,627                -                  -                 -                  -                  -                  -                -                  -              -        973,627 
Due to financial institutions                                   2.00 to 9.00        4,127,526     1,576,705       1,301,124     1,209,697          40,000                 -                  -                -                  -              -                 -   
Deposits and other accounts                                 0.05 to 12.50      81,853,511   54,642,599                  -                 -                  -                  -                  -                -                  -              -    27,210,912 
Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease                                             -                 -                  -                 -                  -                  -                  -                -                  -              -                 -   
Subordinated debt                                                                               -                 -                  -                 -                  -                  -                  -                -                  -              -                 -   
Other liabilities                                                                         7,574,112                -                  -                 -                  -                  -                  -                -                  -              -      7,574,112 

                                                                                        94,528,776   56,219,304       1,301,124     1,209,697          40,000                 -                  -                -                  -              -    35,758,651 

On-balance sheet gap                                                           (8,081,574)  (30,011,349)      28,524,852     2,894,905       2,971,861      1,159,936      1,540,891               -                  -              -   (15,162,670)

Off-balance sheet financial instruments                        

- forward foreign exchange contracts                                            (1,599,537)   (1,599,502)         (78,605)          78,570                  -                  -                  -                -                  -              -                 -   

Off-balance sheet gap                                                            (1,599,537)   (1,599,502)         (78,605)          78,570                  -                  -                  -                -                  -              -                 -   

Total Yield / Profit Risk Sensitivity Gap                                                       (31,610,851)      28,446,247     2,973,475       2,971,861      1,159,936      1,540,891               -                  -              -                   

Cumulative Yield / Profit Risk Sensitivity Gap                                                  (31,610,851)     (3,164,604)      (191,129)       2,780,732      3,940,668      5,481,559    5,481,559      5,481,559  5,481,559                  

                                                                                                                                                                           2018

                                                                                                                                                            Exposed to Yield/ Interest risk

                                                                      Effective            Total                                                                                                                                                                       Non-profit

                                                                        Yield/                                Up to            Over 1           Over 3             Over 6            Over 1            Over 2         Over 3        Over 5           Above bearing 

                                                                        Profit                              1 Month            to 3              to 6            Months to            to 2               to 3             to 5           to 10          10 Years financial

                                                                         rate                                                   Months         Months            1 Year             Years             Years          Years         Years               instruments

%                                                                                    Rupees in thousands

On-balance sheet financial instruments                        

Assets                                                                   

Cash and balances with treasury banks                                          6,990,369                -                  -                 -                  -                  -                  -                -                  -              -      6,990,369 

Balances with other banks                                    0.03 to 9.95        1,422,701       979,332                  -                 -                  -                  -                  -                -                  -              -        443,369 

Due from financial institutions                                9.25 to 9.55        4,675,000     4,675,000                  -                 -                  -                  -                  -                -                  -              -                 -   

Investments                                                     5.24 to 11.5       12,713,954       131,412       6,687,191        312,163                  -       3,516,900      1,159,936               -                  -              -        906,352 

Islamic financing and related assets                           2.0 to 22         43,394,883   20,145,664     19,107,982     2,384,659       1,756,578                 -                  -                -                  -              -                 -   

Other assets                                                                           1,994,815                -                  -                 -                  -                  -                  -                -                  -              -      1,994,815 

                                                                                         71,191,722   25,931,408     25,795,173     2,696,822       1,756,578      3,516,900      1,159,936               -                  -              -    10,334,905 

Liabilities                                                                

Bills payable                                                                           1,303,992                -                  -                 -                  -                  -                  -                -                  -              -      1,303,992 

Due to financial institutions                                     2.0 to 9.8          7,800,628     6,587,409       1,131,350                 -                  -                  -                  -                -                  -              -          81,869 

Deposits and other accounts                                 0.04 to 9.66       73,307,185   47,444,421                  -                 -                  -                  -                  -                -                  -              -    25,862,764 

Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease                                             -                 -                  -                 -                  -                  -                  -                -                  -              -                 -   

Subordinated debt                                                                               -                 -                  -                 -                  -                  -                  -                -                  -              -                 -   

Other liabilities                                                                         2,405,338                -                  -                 -                  -                  -                  -                -                  -              -      2,405,338 

                                                                                         84,817,143   54,031,830       1,131,350                 -                  -                  -                  -                -                  -              -    29,653,963 

On-balance sheet gap                                                          (13,625,421)  (28,100,422)      24,663,823     2,696,822       1,756,578      3,516,900      1,159,936               -                  -              -   (19,319,058)

Off-balance sheet financial instruments                        

Commitments in respect of:                                          

- forward foreign exchange contracts                                              2,237,365       838,896         966,511        431,958                  -                  -                  -                -                  -              -                 -   

Off-balance sheet gap                                                              2,237,365       838,896         966,511        431,958                  -                  -                  -                -                  -              -                 -   

Total Yield / Profit Risk Sensitivity Gap                                                       (27,261,526)      25,630,334     3,128,780       1,756,578      3,516,900      1,159,936               -                  -              -                 -   

Cumulative Yield / Profit Risk Sensitivity Gap                                               (27,261,526)     (1,631,192)      1,497,588       3,254,166      6,771,066      7,931,002    7,931,002      7,931,002  7,931,002                  
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43.2 Following are the detail of profit distribution among different pool maintained by the Bank:

2019

Profit Rate & Profit Profit Profit Amount

Pool Description weightage Rate Sharing Mudarib Rate General of 

announcement Earned Ratio of Fee return Hiba General

period Mudarib distributed Hiba

% % Rupees in % % Rupees in

thousands thousands

General Pool Monthly 13.36 50.00 3,710,740 8.82 31.84 1,181,467 

Profit Rate & Profit Profit Profit Amount

Pool Description weightage Rate Sharing Mudarib Rate General of 

announcement Earned Ratio of Fee return Hiba General

period Mudarib distributed Hiba

% % Rupees in % % Rupees in

thousands thousands

Islamic Export  Monthly 7.92 2.00

Refinance (IERS) Pool

Treasury Musharaka/ As required 11.51 9.88

Mudaraba Pool

Special Musharakh Pool Monthly 8.69 8.08

Equity Pool Monthly 1.58

2018

Profit Rate & Profit Profit Profit Amount

Pool Description weightage Rate Sharing Mudarib Rate General of 

announcement Earned Ratio of Fee return Hiba General

period Mudarib distributed Hiba

% % Rupees in % % Rupees in

thousands thousands

General Pool Monthly 8.18 50.00 1,350,604 5.00 22.10 298,447 

Profit Rate & Profit Profit Profit Amount

Pool Description weightage Rate Sharing Mudarib Rate General of 

announcement Earned Ratio of Fee return Hiba General

period Mudarib distributed Hiba

% % Rupees in % % Rupees in

thousands thousands

Islamic Export 

Refinance (IERS) Pool Monthly 4.63 2.00

Treasury Musharaka/ 

Mudaraba Pool As required 7.00 6.64

Equity Pool Monthly 2.10

44 GENERAL

- Figures have been rounded off to the nearest thousand of rupees unless otherwise stated.

45 DATE OF AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE

These financial statements were authorised for issue on February 03, 2020 by the Board of Directors of

the Bank.

Syed Iftikhar Hussain Rizvi Muhtashim Ahmad Ashai Omair Safdar Dr. Khalid Zaheer Aftab Ahmad Khan

Chief Financial Officer President / Chief Executive Director Director Director

>>>>>> Continued

42.4.1.2 Maturities of assets and liabilities based on expected maturities

                                                                                                                                                                                                  2019

                                                                                                               Total            Up to 1          Over 1             Over 3            Over 6            Over 1         Over 2        Over 3           Over 5 Above 

                                                                                                                                  month            to 3                to 6           months to           to 2             to 3            to 5             to 10 10 years

                                                                                                                                                  months           months            1 year             years           years         years            years

                                                                                                                                                                                        Rupees in thousands

Assets                                                                                                             

Cash and balances with treasury banks                                                         10,252,547      10,252,547                  -                   -                   -                   -                  -                -                 -                   -

Balances with other banks                                                                          8,822,985        8,822,985                  -                   -                   -                   -                  -                -                 -                   -

Due from financial institutions                                                                      5,851,664        2,480,000      3,371,664                   -                   -                   -                  -                -                 -                   -

Investments - net                                                                                    16,309,800          125,911         309,318          235,484         242,522       1,814,104      1,975,912       420,021   10,776,518         410,010 

Islamic financing and related assets - net                                                       51,309,967        6,495,432     11,359,887      10,224,961       2,397,611       3,744,110      5,040,382     6,713,499     3,152,401       2,181,684 

Fixed assets                                                                                           5,779,772            68,188         135,273          201,258         395,758         757,831         675,602     1,137,504               -        2,408,358 

Intangible assets                                                                                        719,723            11,090          22,902           35,150           70,783         141,504         134,288       232,269         71,737                  -   

Deferred tax assets                                                                                  1,186,161                  -                 -                   -               863         210,356         974,942               -                -                  -   

Other assets                                                                                           5,049,786        1,695,758         831,433          478,242         571,122                 -                 -     1,473,231               -                  -   

                                                                                                       105,282,405      29,951,911     16,030,477      11,175,095       3,678,659       6,667,905      8,801,126     9,976,524   14,000,656       5,000,052 

Liabilities                                                                                                          

Bills payable                                                                                             973,627          973,627                 -                   -                   -                   -                  -                -                 -                   -

Due to financial institutions                                                                         4,127,526        1,576,705      1,301,124       1,209,697           40,000                 -                  -                -                 -                   -

Deposits and other accounts                                                                      81,853,511      12,877,061      6,040,767       1,061,440       4,546,381     14,314,682     14,427,030   14,294,825   14,291,325                  -   

Liabilities against assets subject                                                                              -                    -                  -                   -                   -                   -                  -                -                 -                   -

to finance lease                                                                                                 -                   -                 -                   -                  -                  -                 -                -                -                  -   

Sub-ordinated loans                                                                                            -                   -                 -                   -                  -                  -                 -                -                -                  -   

Deferred tax liability                                                                                    265,144             5,041          10,080             7,744           14,499           26,261          25,599        41,823       134,097                  -   

Other liabilities                                                                                        7,595,796        2,646,357         299,542          216,365       1,591,620         269,204         332,925       787,754     1,452,029                  -   

                                                                                                        94,815,604      18,078,791      7,651,513       2,495,246       6,192,500     14,610,147     14,785,554   15,124,402   15,877,451                  -   

Net assets                                                                                           10,466,801      11,873,120      8,378,964       8,679,849     (2,513,841)      (7,942,242)     (5,984,428)   (5,147,878)    (1,876,795)        5,000,052 

Share capital                                                                                         11,550,000                    

Reserves                                                                                                  26,444                    

Surplus on revaluation of assets - net of tax                                                        422,326                    

Accumulated loss                                                                                   (1,531,969)                    

                                                                                                        10,466,801                    

                                                                                                                                                                                                  2018

                                                                                                               Total            Up to 1          Over 1             Over 3            Over 6            Over 1         Over 2        Over 3           Over 5 Above 

                                                                                                                                  month            to 3                to 6           months to           to 2             to 3            to 5             to 10 10 years

                                                                                                                                                  months           months            1 year             years           years         years            years

                                                                                                                                                                                        Rupees in thousands

Assets                                                                                                             

Cash and balances with treasury banks                                                          6,990,369        6,990,369                 -                   -                  -                  -                 -                -                -                  -   

Balances with other banks                                                                          1,422,701        1,422,701                 -                   -                  -                  -                 -                -                -                  -   

Due from financial institutions                                                                      4,675,000        4,675,000                 -                   -                  -                  -                 -                -                -                  -   

Investments - net                                                                                    12,713,954            54,380      5,033,404          222,242         419,647       3,989,173      1,632,209       253,219       790,571         319,109 

Islamic financing and related assets - net                                                       62,907,204        4,902,275      5,456,526      16,106,813      10,782,155       5,498,900      5,507,416   10,013,386     2,832,250       1,807,483 

Fixed assets                                                                                           2,552,600            21,454          42,306           65,655         137,381         205,993         254,998       376,428       349,255       1,099,130 

Intangible assets                                                                                        592,171             8,011          16,066           24,165           48,330         164,040          96,532       169,512         65,515                  -   

Deferred tax assets                                                                                     926,240                  -            2,788                  -             7,582         559,910         355,960               -                -                  -   

Other assets                                                                                           2,289,371        1,235,966         489,425          187,994         375,986                 -                 -                -                -                  -   

                                                                                                        95,069,610      19,310,156     11,040,515      16,606,869      11,771,081     10,418,016       7,847,115   10,812,545     4,037,591       3,225,722 

Liabilities                                                                                                          

Bills payable                                                                                           1,303,992        1,303,992                 -                   -                  -                  -                 -                -                -                  -   

Due to financial institutions                                                                         7,800,628        4,681,870      1,681,350       1,437,408                  -                  -                 -                -                -                  -   

Deposits and other accounts                                                                      73,307,185      10,077,750      4,068,396          460,936      20,130,126      11,577,557     11,592,073     7,703,573     3,848,387       3,848,387 

Liabilities against assets subject                                                                               

to finance lease                                                                                                 -                   -                 -                   -                  -                  -                 -                -                -                  -   

Sub-ordinated loans                                                                                            -                   -                 -                   -                  -                  -                 -                -                -                  -   

Deferred tax liability                                                                                    175,175             2,888            5,776             8,663           17,327         115,749            1,991          2,599         10,091           10,091 

Other liabilities                                                                                        2,413,116        2,299,680         113,436                  -                  -                  -                 -                -                -                  -   

                                                                                                        85,000,096      18,366,180      5,868,958       1,907,007      20,147,453      11,693,306     11,594,064     7,706,172     3,858,478       3,858,478 

Net assets                                                                                           10,069,514          943,976      5,171,557      14,699,862     (8,376,372)      (1,275,290)     (3,746,949)     3,106,373       179,113        (632,756)

Share capital                                                                                         11,200,000                    

Reserves                                                                                                  26,444                    

Surplus on revaluation of assets - net of tax                                                        132,272                    

Accumulated loss                                                                                   (1,289,202)                    

                                                                                                        10,069,514                    

Liquidity Gap Reporting

Regarding behaviour of non-maturity deposits (non-contractual deposits), the Bank conducted a

behavourial study using value at risk methodology. On the basis of its findings 9.14% of current accounts

and saving accounts are bucketed into Upto 1- year maturity while 90.86% of current accounts saving

accounts are bucketed in over 1 year maturity.

43 PROFIT / (LOSS) DISTRIBUTION TO DEPOSITORS' AND SPECIFIC POOLS

43.1 The Bank is maintaining the following types of pools for profit declaration and distribution:

1) General Pool

2) IERS Musharaka Pool

3) Treasury Musharaka / Mudaraba Pools

4) Special Musharaka Pool

5) Equity Pool

Features, risks and rewards of each pool are given below:

1) General Pool

The Bank manages one general pool for its depositors' (Rabbul Mal) maintaining deposits in both local

and foreign currencies and also commingled its equity in this pool. The income (gross income less direct

expenses) generated from the pool is distributed between Bank's equity and depositors' fund in proportion

to their respective share in the pool. Under the Mudaraba mechanism, the income so distributed to

depositors' fund is shared between the Bank (Mudarib) and depositors' (Rabbul Mal) according to the

pre-agreed profit sharing ratios and assigned weightages.

The deposits and funds accepted under the General Pool are deployed to diversified sectors and

avenues of the economy / business mainly to 'Agriculture, Forestry & Fishing', 'Textile & Allied', 'Food &

Allied', 'Distribution & Trade', 'Investment in Government of Pakistan Ijarah Sukuk', etc.

Parameters associated with risk and rewards

Following are the consideration attached with risk and reward of general pool:

- Period, return, safety, security and liquidity of investment.

- Financing proposals under process at various stages and likely to be extended in the near

future.

- Expected amount of procurement of deposit during coming days as a result of concerted

marketing efforts of the Bank.

- Element of risk attached to various types of investments.

- SBP rules and Shari’ah clearance.

2) Islamic Export Refinance Scheme (IERS) Musharaka Pool

The Bank manages IERS Musharaka Pool for funds accepted from SBP under IERS. Under the PLS

mechanism, the Bank generates revenues from the pool funds which are shared with the SBP according

to the pre-agreed profit sharing ratios. Musharaka investments from the SBP under IERS are channeled

towards the export sector of the economy and other financings as per SBP guidelines.

3) Treasury Musharaka / Mudaraba Pools

The Bank accepts funds from other banks to manage its liquidity under Musharaka / Mudaraba mode.

The funds accepted are tagged to remunerative assets having maturity on or after the period for which

funds are accepted. The revenue generated from the pool asset is shared between the bank and other

member of the pool according to pre-agreed profit sharing ratios or assigned weightages accordingly.

4) Special Musharaka Pool

The Bank under Musharaka agreement accepts funds from institution(s) (other than banks). The

comingled funds under this arrangement are deployed in remunerative assets as per the terms of

agreement. The revenue generated from these assets are then shared as per pre-agreed profit sharing

ratio.

5) Equity Pool

The Equity Pool consists of Bank's equity and funds accepted on Qard (non-remunerative current deposit

account) basis. The funds of this pool are invested in various assets or ventures which are higher in risk

or having longer funding period. In addition to that all staff financings are financed by this pool. The risk

of assets in the pool is borne by the Bank.

Charging of expenses

Direct expenses are being charged to respective pools, while indirect expenses such as general and

administrative expenses are being borne by the Bank as Mudarib. No provision expense is charged to

the pool unless it is written off. The direct expenses charged to the pool may include depreciation of

Ijarah assets, premium amortization on Sukuk, impairment losses due to physical damages to specific

assets in pools etc. However, this is not an exhaustive list; the Bank's pool management framework and

the respective pool creation memo may identify and specify these and any other similar expenses to be

charged to the pool.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to present the Annual Report of
MCB Islamic Bank Limited (the Bank) for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Rupees in Million

Statement of Financial Position 2019 2018 Growth (%)

Deposits 81,854 73,307 12%

Total Assets 105,017 94,894 11%

Investments – net 16,310 12,714 28%

Islamic Financing – net 51,310 62,907 -18%

Shareholders’ Equity   (including revaluations) 10,467 10,070 4%

Profit & Loss Account

Operating income 4,337 2,303 88%

Operating and other expenses 4,503 3,088 46%

Loss before provisions (166) (785) -79%

Provisions against financing and investments 200 896 -78%

Loss before taxation (366) (1,680) -78%

Loss after taxation                      (244) (1,096) -78%

Basic / diluted loss per share - Rs. (0.22) (0.99) -78%

Bank's Performance

In 2019, the Bank continued its active focus on managing its economic capital
prudently to attain consistent growth in deposit base and high quality assets
despite multiple challenges being faced by the Banking sector due to weak macro-
economic conditions in the country. The margins remained compressed due to re-
pricing lag between earning assets and liabilities, along with rising cost of doing
business, increasing regulatory and compliance costs, tax imposition, and
implementation of new International Financial Reporting Standards even though
the SBP’s policy rate was at rising trend. 

The Bank has shown a sustainable performance both at business and financial
fronts due to support of its optimal organizational structure, multi-dimensional risk
management framework and effective compliance with regulatory instructions.
Alhamdulillah, the Bank has made a profit before tax of Rs.59 million for 2nd

Half of 2019.

During the year bank expanded its branch network by nine more branches and
reached at total branches to 185. Our active liability team has successfully
delivered with respect to low cost deposit mobilization. The Bank’s deposit portfolio
with a decent growth of 12% on year-on-year basis touched at Rs.81.8 billion from
Rs.73.3 billion in 2018. The Bank not only successfully expanded its new to bank
accounts by 35 thousand but also maintained an optimal cost of funds 6.28%
through strong relationship management and better customer experience. The
Bank’s continued focus on the accumulation of no and low-cost Deposits has
resulted in a healthy CASA mix at 76.9%, with non-remunerative Deposit
constituting 33% of total Deposit mix as at end of Dec ’19. This position promises
well to support future earnings, in view of the expectation of decrease in policy
rate during the next year. 

The Bank’s asset base has reached to Rs.105 billion as at end of Dec ’19, with an
11% increase against Rs.94.9 billion at the end of Dec ’18. While the investments
witnessed a notable growth of 28%, closed at Rs.16.3 billion as at Dec 31, 2019
against Rs.12.7 billion at Dec 31, 2018, the net financing of the Bank decreased
by 18% over the year to close at Rs.51 billion. The main impediment behind
selective financing has been the CAR constraint, along with the Bank’s prudent
approach to focus on asset quality, rationalization with respect to maximum yields
& customers composition and minimizing the risk of portfolio infection. The overall
industry’s advances growth remained subdued due to rising challenges of credit
risk.  

On profitability side, the Bank manifested significant improvement despite a dull
performance of the capital market and additional impact of adopting the
International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 16 – Leases. The Bank’s gross
revenue stood at Rs.10.2 billion in 2019 as compared to Rs.4.6 billion in 2018,
showing a promising growth of 122%. Return on earning assets stood at a robust
level of 11.5% while the cost of funds was at 6.39% resulting in a net spread of
5.17% for the year under review.

Operating expenses increased by 46% mainly due to the full current period impact
of 90 branches which were taken over/merged w.e.f. Jun 02, 2018 last year
coupled with high inflationary pressures, significant currency devaluation, and
higher compliance related regulatory charges.

During the year under review, the Bank adopted the International Financial
Reporting Standard IFRS 16 - “Leases”, which has introduced the concept of
recognizing right of use (ROU) assets and corresponding lease liabilities on the
Balance Sheet of the lessee. Implicit profit expense amortized on lease liabilities
and depreciation on ROU assets led to additional charge of Rs.816 million in total
whereas reversal of rental expense led to decline of Rs.536 million in the operating
expenses, resulting in net loss of Rs. 280 million for the period.

The Bank’s loss before provisions during the year was Rs.166 million. However,
barring the aforementioned net additional impact of Rs.280 million booked under
IFRS-16, business as usual profit before provisions amounts to Rs.114 million
compared to loss of Rs.785 million in the comparative period; representing a
significant improvement of 115%. Further, the provision charge during the period
mainly represents the provisions against capital market portfolio amounting to
Rs.199.8 million.

In view of the above developments, poor capital market performance and carrying
the expansion cost; gradually increasing Balance Sheet spreads enabled the
Bank’s P&L improved significantly and posted an after tax loss of Rs.244 million
for the period under review against loss of Rs.1,096 million for the corresponding

period, representing a healthy decrease of 78%. The improvement in the Bank’s
profitability is also evident from loss per share after tax for the period, which came
down considerably to Rs.0.217 for the period against Rs.0.987 in the same period
of last year.

Economic Review

In 2019, Global growth came down to 2.4 % for the Year 2019 against 3% of 2018
as per World Bank mainly due to US-China trade tensions, Brexit fears, US-Iran
uncertain relationship and slow economic activities in both advanced and
emerging markets. 

On domestic front, the country’s economy faced a significant slowdown within
stringent policy actions taken by both the Government and SBP, as part of the
ongoing macroeconomic stabilization measures. Challenges like maintenance of
stable foreign exchange reserves, containment of fiscal deficit & high inflation
levels, monetary policy issues and rupee devaluation have resulted in decline of
GDP growth rate to 3.3% for FY’19 against 5.5% in FY’18.

Overall fiscal deficit reached to a record high 8.9% of GDP in FY’19 despite
Government’s efforts to contain the currents spending. However, during the first
half of FY20, increase of tax revenue collections by 16% over the same period
last year and public sector development programs of Rs. 300 billion is expected
to support the economic recovery and sustainable growth thereafter.

Balance of Payments continued to improve with current account and trade deficits
has drastically reduced to USD 2.2 billion and USD 9.8 billion at Dec’19 from USD
8.6 billion and USD 16.2 billion at Dec’18 respectively. Workers’ remittances
increased to USD 22.2 billion during CY 2019 from USD 21.1 billion in CY 2018.
Consequently, the FX reserves increased to USD 17.9 billion at Dec’19 from USD
13.8 billion at Dec’18, a rise of 29.7%. Other positive elements in this regard are
the IMF’s Extended Fund Facility availed in Year 2019 and deferred payment oil
imports from Saudi Arabia. These factors led to ease out some pressure on the
exchange rate which stood at PKR 155/USD on closing Dec ’19 with an 11.5%
devaluation over the year.

Strong inflationary pressures built up during the Year 2019. CPI was recorded at
12.6% on YoY basis in Dec’19 as compared to 5.4% during the corresponding
month of last year. Rising inflation combined with deteriorating fiscal imbalance
resulted in an increase in the benchmark Policy Rate to 13.25% from 10% during
the Year 2019.

On the other hand, the stock market has shown a mix performance, bearish trend
in first half of CY’19 and a relatively bullish sentiment towards the end of CY’19
attributed to investor confidence being restored gradually regarding macro-
economic outlook. KSE-100 Index closed at 40,735 points in Dec ’19, as
compared to 37,067 points in Dec’18.

In 2019, Islamic banking industry continues to broaden its outreach trying to
compete effectively with conventional banks through increasing range of products
and higher quality services. Total assets and deposits were at Rs. 2,995 billion
(market share of 13.8%) and Rs. 2,407 billion (market share of 16.1%) respectively
by the end of Sep’19. Branch network closed at 2,979 branches on Sep’19.

Corporate and Financial Reporting Framework

The Board of Directors is committed to ensure that the requirements of Corporate
Governance set by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan are fully
met. The Bank has adopted good corporate governance practices and the
Directors are pleased to report that:

• The financial statements prepared by the management of the Bank present
its state of affairs fairly, the result of its operations, cash flows and changes
in equity.

• Proper books of accounts of the Bank have been maintained.
• Appropriate accounting policies have been consistently applied in

preparation of financial statements, except for the changes in accounting
policies as described in Note 5(a) to the Financial Statements. Accounting
estimates are based on reasonable and prudent judgment.

• International Financial Reporting Standards, as applicable to banks in
Pakistan, have been followed in preparation of financial statements and any
departure there-from has been adequately disclosed and explained.

• No dividend/bonus shares have been declared for the year.
• There is no doubt upon the Bank's ability to continue as going concern.
• The directors of the Bank are in compliance with respect to training

requirements.
• Key operating and financial data since incorporation is presented in the

report.
• The system of internal controls is in place and has been effectively

implemented and monitored.
• There has been no material departure from best practices of corporate

governance.
• The value of investments of the Bank's Provident Fund based on unaudited

accounts at Dec 31, 2019 amounted to Rs.243.3 million.
• There is no overdue statuary payment on account of taxes, duties, levies

and charges.

Compliance with Listed Companies

(Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019

The requirements of the Code of Corporate Governance set out by the Securities
and Exchange Commission of Pakistan in the Listed Companies (Code of
Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019 relevant for the year ended December
31, 2019 have been adopted by the Bank. A statement to this effect is annexed
with the report.

Internal Control Framework

The Board is pleased to endorse the statement made by management relating to
internal controls including management’s evaluation of ICFR. The Management’s
Statement on Internal Control is included in the Annual Report.

Credit Rating

Pakistan Credit Rating Agency (PACRA) has maintained the Bank's medium to
long-term rating as "A" and the short-term rating as 'A-1' with positive outlook.

Risk Management

Risk Management Framework comprises governance and organizational
structure, policy and procedures, risk assessment techniques, tools, systems,
early warning indicators, reporting and escalation mechanism aligned with the
Bank’s strategic directions and business goals set by the Board of Directors and
commensurate with size and scope of the Bank which ensures the independence
of Risk Management Function in measuring, analyzing, controlling and monitoring
risk from the frontline risk takers i.e. business soliciting groups. The Bank aims to
align the Risk Management Framework with the international best practices and
the guidelines of State Bank of Pakistan. 

A subcommittee of Board i.e. the Risk Management & Portfolio Review Committee
obtains regular updates from Risk Management Group and provides guidance
and directions thereof. In addition, Management Finance Committee is another
platform to ascertain, discuss and deliberate key risk issues in the portfolio at the
management level. 

The Bank’s market risk management unit is responsible for management of Basel
related ratios, annual Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment, annual behavioral
study and quarterly stress testing for market & liquidity risks as part of regulatory
regime. The Bank also calculates Value at Risk for various market risk parameters
assessment. 

Asset-Liability Management Framework/Liquidity Strategy & Contingency Funding
Plan are in place, to ensure that the Bank can meet its liquidity needs on a timely
basis while optimizing contribution towards the profitability of the Bank. Asset
Liability Committee at management level is responsible for oversight of the assets
and liabilities management function.

Operational risk at the Bank is managed through diversified data collection
mechanism which includes but not limited to data for Operational Losses, Near
Miss Events, Control Breach Data, internal / external / compliance / regulatory
observations and Risk Control & Self-Assessment exercise etc. to present a
quarterly overview of significant events before Board’s Risk Management and
Portfolio Review Committee. Further, various bank wide training sessions are
conducted to create risk awareness among the staff. 

Fraud risk is monitored through a specialized unit which also operates a 24x7 call
center to track usage of digital banking transactions. A Business Continuity Policy
has been implemented and related imperative are monitored by Business
Continuity Management Committee. 

IT security risks are being mitigated through various automated solutions for
monitoring of data base logs, patch management and cyber threats; along with
the annual internal and external vulnerability assessment and penetration testing.
The Bank aims to further strengthen the related risk mitigating measures.  

Charity Funds Management

Charity is one of the most important pillars of a healthy society. Keeping this and
the Islamic principles of Ihsan in mind, the Bank remains committed to its objective
of paying back to the society - both directly and indirectly. 

No late payment penalties are taken from the customers in line with the Shariah
approved principles. However, customers have to contribute towards a charity
account in case of late payment to disincentives misuse of the system. Also, if
during a Shariah audit, a transaction is identified where the process defined to
ensure Shariah compliance is not followed, income of such a transaction is
transferred to charity account. During 2019, a total of Rs.22.5 million was paid
from the charity account on behalf of the customers and to purify the non-compliant
income to different charitable organizations as detailed in Note 19.2.1 to Financial
Statements.

Trading of Shares of the Bank

Bank is currently a non-listed concern; hence no trades in the shares of the Bank
were carried out by the Directors, executives and their spouses and minor children
during the Year 2019.

Board Committees

The Board of Directors has formed following sub-committees to oversee relevant
specialized functions of the Bank:

• Board Audit Committee (BAC)
• Human Resource and Remuneration Committee (HR & RC)
• Risk Management and Portfolio Review Committee (RM & PRC)
• Board Information Technology Committee (BITC)
• Board Evaluation Committee (BEC)
• Business Strategy and Service Quality Review Committee (BSSQRC)

Following are the details of directors’ status and membership of the above
committees:

Membership
Directors Status

BAC HR & RC RM & PRC BITC BEC BSSQRC

Raza Mansha Non-Executive Male - a - a - a

Aftab Ahmad Khan Non-Executive Male a a - - - a

Ibrahim Shamsi Non-Executive Male - - a a - -

Omair Safdar Non-Executive Male a a a - a -

Ahmed Ebrahim Hasham Non-Executive Male - - a - - a

Dr. Khalid Zaheer Independent Male a a - a a -

Seema Aziz Independent Female a - - - - a

Muhtashim Ahmad Ashai President & CEO Male - - a a - a

Meetings of the Board of Directors and Sub-committees:

Details for the meetings of the BOD and sub-committees held during the Year
2019 along with attendance are as below:

Attendance
Directors

BOD BAC HR & RC RM & PRC BITC BEC BSSQRC

Raza Mansha 6/6 - 3/3 - 3/3 - 3/5

Aftab Ahmad Khan 4/6 2/4 2/2 0/1 - - 3/5

Ibrahim Shamsi 5/6 1/1 - 3/4 3/3 - 1/1

Omair Safdar 4/6 3/4 3/3 4/4 - 1/1 1/1 *

Ahmed Ebrahim Hasham 4/6 - 1/1 2/3 1/1 1/1 3/4

Dr. Khalid Zaheer 4/6 4/4 3/3 - 1/2 0/1 -

Seema Aziz 3/5 2/3 - - - - 1/4

Muhtashim Ahmad Ashai 5/5 - - 3/3 2/3 - 4/4

*attended as special invitee.

Directors’ Remuneration

Non-executive directors including independent directors are paid a reasonable
and appropriate remuneration for attending the Board and/or its committee
meetings which is disclosed in the Note 37 to the Financial Statements.

This remuneration is not at a level that could be perceived to compromise
independence. No fee is paid to the directors who do not attend a meeting.
Similarly, fee is not paid for the proposals considered through circulation.

Director's Training Program

Most of the Board Members either have minimum education and experience as
required under Regulation 19 (2) for exemption from Directors Training Program,
or has already completed Directors Training Program pursuant to the requirements
of the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019.
During the year, the Board has arranged Directors' Training program for Ms.
Seema Aziz and Mr. Muhtashim Ahmad Ashai. 

Till Dec 31, 2019, the following directors have attended Directors Training Program
from SECP approved institutions:

• Mr. Ahmed Ebrahim Hasham
• Mr. Omair Safdar
• Ms. Seema Aziz
• Mr. Muhtashim Ahmad Ashai

Change in Directors

Mrs. Shahima Rehman was elected as female independent director during the
elections of the Board of Directors on Oct 08, 2018 however she resigned from the
position on Nov 12, 2018. To fill the casual vacancy, Ms. Seema Aziz was appointed
as new female independent director on the Board of Directors on Feb 26, 2019.

Mr. Ali Muhammad Mahoon, President/CEO of MCB Islamic Bank Limited resigned
from his position, which was accepted by the Board of Directors w.e.f. Mar 11,
2019.  Mr. Muhtashim Ahmad Ashai was appointed as the new President/CEO of
the Bank on Mar 29, 2019. Subsequent to year ended Dec 31, 2019, Mr.
Muhtashim Ahmad Ashai resigned from his position which was accepted by the
Board of Directors on Jan 24, 2020 subject to notice period as per regulatory
requirement/clearance from SBP. Fit & Proper Test documents of the
nominated/successor will be submitted soon with SBP. 

Pattern of Shareholding

As of Dec 31, 2019 the seven (07) non-executive directors hold one share each,
while remaining 1,154,999,993 shares of the Bank are held by the Parent
Company i.e. MCB Bank Ltd. 

Auditors

The retiring auditors M/s. KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co., Chartered Accountants, being
eligible for the next term have offered themselves for reappointment. Upon
suggestion of the Audit Committee, the Board of Directors recommends M/s.
KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co., Chartered Accountants, as the statutory auditors for
the year ending December 31, 2020.

Future Outlook

The near term challenges to Pakistan’s economy continue to persist with the rising
inflation, a high fiscal deficit and low foreign exchange reserves. The banking
sector outlook remains challenging in view of expected suppressed economic
activity and resultant risks to asset quality, weak credit expansion, inflationary
pressures on the cost of doing business, regulatory tightening and evolving
customer experience dynamics. However, the prudent fiscal and monetary
measures would be anchoring the market sentiment and improving the inflation
outlook in support of economic activities of the country.

Despite the challenging external environment, the Bank intends to continue with
its strategy of long-term sustainable profitability through focus on generating no
and low-cost Deposits, high earning assets, containment of operating expenses
and better service quality. The Bank believes in building a professionally
competent workforce and intends to continue investment in human resources by
providing them learning and development opportunities.

Further, the Bank remains committed to its Vision to ‘be the leading provider of Shariah
compliant innovative financial products with a focus on service quality and providing
superior value for our customers, shareholders, employees and the community’ and
will continue to contribute to the growth of Islamic banking in Pakistan.

Acknowledgment

On behalf of the Board of Directors and management, I wish to express our sincere
gratitude to our customers, business partners and shareholders for their continued
patronage and trust. I would also like to thank State Bank of Pakistan, Securities
and Exchange Commission of Pakistan and other regulatory authorities for their
continuous guidance and support. The Board of Directors sincerely appreciates
the significant contribution by all its staff members to the growth of this franchise
under challenging business conditions.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Raza Mansha
Chairman
February 03, 2020

DIRECTORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS



38 BuSINESS RECORDER KARACHI  FRIDAY  20  MARCH  2020

The Shari’ah Board  of MCB Islamic Bank Ltd. (MIB) was established in September, 2015. Currently Shari’ah Board comprises of respected Professor
Mufti Munib-ur-Rehman as Chairman Shari’ah Board, Mufti Syed Sabir Hussain as Resident Shari’ah Board Member (RSBM) and Mufti Nadeem Iqbal
as Member Shari’ah Board. There was availability of all Shari’ah Board Members throughout the year many meetings were held through conference
calls & video conferencing. In the year 2019 formal Shari’ah Board meetings were held on the following dates:

• First Shari’ah Board Meeting – March 29, 2019

• Second Shari’ah Board Meeting – June 18, 2019

• Third Shari’ah Board Meeting – September 26, 2019

• Fourth Shari’ah Board Meeting – December 19, 2019

1. While the Board of Directors and Executive Management are solely responsible to ensure that the operations of MIB are conducted in a manner
that comply with Shari’ah principles at all times, we are required to submit a report on the overall Shari’ah compliance environment of MIB. In
the year 2019 Shari’ah Board’s meetings with Board of Directors were held on the following dates:

• First Shari’ah Board – Board of Directors Meeting – April 23, 2019

• Second Shari’ah Board – Board of Directors Meeting – December 19, 2019

2. To form our opinion as expressed in this report, the Shari’ah Compliance Department (SCD) of MIB carried out reviews of each type of
transactions, products, process flows/modus operandi and concepts under the supervision of RSBM/Head Shari’ah Compliance. In this regard,
all 100 branches have been inspected for Shari’ah compliance, as per Shari’ah Compliance Program. In the year 2019 the focus was on new
90 branches. Further, as far as Shari’ah compliance review of Groups/Divisions/Departments is concerned, it has been ensured to comply with
Shari’ah Compliance Program. In order to enhance the Islamic banking knowledge and expertise regarding functions of different
Groups/Divisions/Departments; Shari’ah trainings were made mandatory for all staff of the Bank with the coordination of Learning & Development
Departmen (L&D) of HRG to comply with regularoty instructions.

3. Four (4) Instructions & Guidelines & Two (2) Fatawas were already issued by the Shari’ah Board of the MIB are still remained same without
any changes. In the year 2019 a new Fatwa was issued by the Shari’ah Board of the MIB regarding Istisna transaction & an Instruction &
Guideline was issued regarding compliance of the Shari’ah Governance Framework. All Fatawas and Instructions & Guidelines issued by
Shari’ah Board of the MIB are being implemented in the MIB in true letter and spirit. 

4. SCD with the coordination of management and under the supervision of RSBM/Head Shari’ah Compliance has reviewed following product

documents:

Liability Products & Other Documents
MIB Na'mat Premium Plus Term Deposit, MIB Asaan remittance saving account & MIB Asaan remittance current account, MIB Deposit Product Manual,
Liability Products Handbook, Profit & Loss to Customers Based on Customer Group Level Deposits Aggregation, Services & Charges Differentiation
for Priority Banking Customers, Interim Process & Changes in some MIB Liability Products.

Letter of Documentary Credit
LC under Wakalah (Application & Agreements), Note for Approval-LC under Wakalah (Amendment in 'Trade Finance Manual for Imports'), Musawamah
Financing (Purchase) Document, Application & Agreements for Issuance of Letter of Documentary Credit- Based on Murabaha/Musawamah.

Agency & Guarantee
Security Documents (Agreements of Pledge and Personal Guarantee), Agency Agreement for Physical Delivery.

Consumer Finance
Consumer Car Financing Product Program Amendment-Appraisal value of used car finance cases "Diminishing Musharakah Housing Finance –
Revised Shari’ah Process Flows & Customer-End Documents, Customer Request for Deferral of Rental & Revised Payment Schedule Formats for
Consumer Car Finance (Ijarah & Diminishing Musharakah) and Diminishing Musharakah Housing Finance, Consumer Car Finance Product Program
(Renewal 2019), Diminishing Musharakah Housing Finance Product Program (Renewal-2019).

Murabaha & Murabaha Microfinance
Murabaha Product Manual V-2.0 & 2.01, Finished Goods Murabaha Agreements & Standard Process Flow, Revised Order Form and Revised Bank's
Instructions-Murabaha, Murabaha Microfinance Facility Agreements, Agency Agreements and Process Flows, Murabaha Microfinance Product Program
(Renewal – 2019), "Murabaha Microfinance End-to-End Process Manual (Renewal – 2019) and its allied formats.

Musawamah
Musawamah Financing (Purchase) Product Structure & Process Flow and Salient Features, Legal Agreements for Musawamah Financing (Purchase)
Product, Revised Bank's Instructions-Musawamah.

Sukuk, Takaful & Bai Muajjal
Shari'ah Structure of Pakistan Energy Sukuk, Pakistan Energy Sukuk-All Legal Agreements & Documents, Shari’ah Structure of Pakistan Energy
Sukuk – II, Pakistan Energy Sukuk II – Legal Agreements & Documents, Amendment in Master Istisna Agreements (Clause 11.01), Takaful Agreement
between AICL-WTO and MIB for Housing Finance, Bai Muajjal Legal Agreements.

Urdu Translation
Urdu Version of Murabaha Microfinance Application Form, Urdu Versions of Murabaha Microfinance Facility Advising Letter, Customer Undertaking on
Payment of Installments for Murabaha Microfinance – Urdu Version. Translation of Product Key Fact Sheets for Bullet and EMI based Financing under
Murabaha Microfinance.

Diminishing Musharakah

Diminishing Musharakah Housing Finance Product Program Amendment Length of Occupation Criteria, Amendment in Diminishing Musharakah
Housing Finance Product Program-KIBOR Benchmark, Amendment in Diminshing Musharakah Housing Finance Product Program-Post Dated
Cheques, Amendment in Musharakah Running Finance (MRF) Product Manual V3.0.

Miscellaneous Schemes & Other Documents
Islamic Finance Facility for Storage of Agriculture Produce, Islamic Re-Finance Scheme for Working Capital Financing of SME & Low and Medium
Enterprises, Islamic Re-Finance Facility for Modernization of SMEs, Islamic Finance Facility for Renewable Energy, Promotion of SME Finance-Content
Material, Sale Agreement with Islamic Banks.

5. SCD has also facilitated Islamic Banking training sessions for the front and back offices staff of MIB. Further, L&D-HRG has taken initiative to
establish an effective and comprehensive Islamic Banking training mechanism in compliance with IBD Circular No. 02 of 2018, Dated: Jun 29,
2018, “Enhanced Training & Capacity Building Measures for Islamic Banking Institutions (IBIs)” issued by Islamic Banking Department, State
Bank of Pakistan, for MIB front and back offices staff at all levels. Internal trainers were also part of Shari’ah related training initiatives during
the year.

6. Shari’ah Board praises and encourages the continuous, comprehensive & profound efforts of MIB Management regarding implementation of
all instructions and guidelines issued by Shari’ah Board.

Recommendations:

Based on the observations made through Shari’ah review reports and Shari’ah Compliance checks, it is recommended that:

i. To encourage small depositors towards Islamic banking, Deposit products should be designed specifically for small/micro depositors, it
will not only boost banks’ deposits but will also be helpful for increasing percentage of population dealing with Islamic banking channel
which is also one of  the objective of IBD-SBP. Therefore, it is recommended to introduce deposit products for depositors with low savings
is indispensable.

ii. In future, there shall be more Shari’ah Trainings in compliance with regulatory requirements. 
iii. There should be more focus on Shari’ah trainings of Consumer finance & Microfinance.
iv. It is emphasized to encourage the Islamic Microfinance due to its requirement in the country instead of investment in Sukuk etc. Through

Islamic Microfinance, Islamic Banking Industry can penetrate to grass route level to facilitate micro level traders.
v. To comply the regulatory requirement, it is strongly recommended to avoid the manual calculation & distribution of profit in Pool

Management System.
vi. Usage of Islamic Banking terminologies must be ensured during MIB’s Treasury, Trade and Operational activities, further compliance of

Islamic banking principles must be ensured in all activities of MIB.
vii. As from November 2019, to comply the instruction of IBD-SBP, SCD is not reviewing the transaction at funding and financing stages

and the responsibility of the relevant groups now has increased in this regard, therefore, it is recommended to ensure the compliance
of Shari’ah Board’s approved Modus Operandi/Process Flow in true letter and spirit to avoid charitization of recognized profit. 

Conclusion:

Shari’ah Board has reviewed & advised corrective measures on the External & Internal Shari’ah Audit and Shari’ah Compliance Inspection
reports and is of the view that:

i. MIB has complied with Shari’ah ruls and principles in the light of Fatawa, Instructions and Guidelines issued by Shari’ah Board.
ii. MIB has complied with SBP Inspection report in true letter and spirit.
iii. MIB has complied with directives, regulations, instructions and guidelines related to Shari’ah compliance issued by SBP in accordance

with the rulings of SBP’s Shari’ah Board.
iv. MIB has a comprehensive mechanism in place to ensure Shari’ah Compliance in their overall operations.
v. During the course of Shari’ah compliance, it was realized that the addition in the amount of Charity during the year was PKR 54.88

million from different heads which was instructed to transfer to the Charity account. The bank has disbursed the Charity amount to
Shari’ah approved charitable organizations as per MIB’s charity policy and SBP’s guidelines. Details of Charity account are available in
the note # 18.1. During the year, non-Shari’ah compliant income was reported through an SCD report in the last Shari’ah Board meeting
of 2019, in which Shari’ah Board advised to Charitize the profit of two transactions of Microfinance. 

vi. MIB has complied with the SBP instructions on profit and loss distribution and pool management. 
vii. While the Bank is actively pursuing training of its human resources about various aspects of Islamic Banking & Finance through training

sessions/seminars, however further improvement is required to enhance the level of awareness of Islamic Banking & Finance of the
staff, management and the BOD through enhanced training mechanism for each level. The management and the BOD have made
sincere efforts and appreciate the importance of Shari’ah compliance in overall operations of MIB. 

viii. The Shari’ah Board has been provided adequate resources enabling it to discharge its duties effectively. 

Shari’ah Board would like to take this opportunity to offer praise to Almighty ALLAH and seek his guidance and Tauwfeeq, and to express its
wishes for further progress, development and prosperity of Islamic Banking, Alhamdulillah under the sincere efforts of senior management, and
Islamic Banking industry in Pakistan as a whole.

Professor Mufti Munib-ur-Rehman
Chairman Shari’ah Board 

Mufti Syed Sabir Hussain Mufti Nadeem Iqbal
Resident Shari’ah Board Member Member Shari’ah Board

Date of Report: January 24, 2020.

REPORT OF SHARI’AH BOARD 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

This statement is being presented in accordance with the requirements of the Listed Companies (Code of
Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019 (the “CCG”) as required under Regulation No. G-I of the
Prudential Regulations for Corporate/ Commercial Banking issued by the State Bank of Pakistan (SBP).

MCB Islamic Bank Limited (“the Bank”) has complied with the requirements of the Regulations in the
following manner:

1. At present Board includes seven (07) elected Directors and one (01) Executive Director: 

A Male 7

B Female 1

2. The composition of the Board is as follows:

Sr. Category Names of Directors

A Independent Directors Dr. Khalid Zaheer
Ms. Seema Aziz

B Non-Executive Directors Mr. Raza Mansha
Mr. Aftab Ahmad Khan
Mr. Ahmed Ebrahim Hasham
Mr. Ibrahim Shamsi
Mr. Omair Safdar

C Executive Director (President & CEO) Mr. Muhtashim Ahmad Ashai
D Female Director Ms. Seema Aziz

Explanation: Determination of number of Independent Directors comes to 2.33 (Rounded to 2) which
is based on seven elected Directors.

3. The directors have confirmed that none of them is serving as a director on more than seven listed
companies, including this bank. 

4. The Bank has prepared a Code of Conduct and has ensured that appropriate steps have been taken
to disseminate it throughout the bank along with its supporting policies and procedures.

5. The board has developed a vision/mission statement, overall corporate strategy and significant policies
of the bank. The Board has ensured that complete record of particulars of significant policies along
with their date of approval or updating has been maintained by the Bank.

6. All the powers of the board have been duly exercised and decisions on relevant matters have been
taken by Board/ shareholders as empowered by the relevant provisions of the Act and these
Regulations.

7. The meetings of the Board were presided over by the Chairman and, in his absence, by a director
elected by the board for this purpose. The board has complied with the requirements of Act and the
Regulations with respect to frequency, recording and circulating minutes of meeting of Board.

8. The Board of Directors has a formal policy and transparent procedures for remuneration of directors
in accordance with the Act and these Regulations.

9. Most of the Board Members either have minimum education and experience as required under
Regulation 19 (2) for exemption from Directors Training Program, or have already completed Directors
Training Program pursuant to the requirements of the Regulations. During 2019, the Board has
arranged Directors' Training program for Ms. Seema Aziz and Mr. Muhtashim Ahmad Ashai. 

10. During the year, there was no any such appointment of Chief Financial Officer, Company Secretary
and Head of Internal Audit.

11. Chief Financial Officer and Chief Executive Officer duly endorsed the financial statements before
approval of the Board.

12. The board has formed following committees comprising of members given below:

A Board Audit Committee

Dr. Khalid Zaheer Chairman

Ms. Seema Aziz Member

Mr. Omair Safdar Member

Mr. Aftab Ahmad Khan Member

B Human Resource & Remuneration Committee

Dr. Khalid Zaheer Chairman

Mr. Raza Mansha Member

Mr. Aftab Ahmad Khan Member

Mr. Omair Safdar Member

C Business Strategy & Service Quality Control Committee

Mr. Raza Mansha Chairman

Ms. Seema Aziz Member

Mr. Aftab Ahmad Khan Member

Mr. Ahmed Ebrahim Hasham Member

Mr. Muhtashim Ahmad Ashai Member

D Risk Management & Portfolio Review Committee

Mr. Omair Safdar Chairman

Mr. Ibrahim Shamsi Member

Mr. Ahmed Ebrahim Hasham Member

Mr. Muhtashim Ahmad Ashai Member

E Board I.T. Committee

Mr. Raza Mansha Chairman

Dr. Khalid Zaheer Member

Mr. Ibrahim Shamsi Member

Mr. Muhtashim Ahmad Ashai Member

F Board Evaluation Committee

Dr. Khalid Zaheer Chairman

Mr. Omair Safdar Member

13. The terms of reference of the aforesaid committees have been formed, documented and advised to
the committee for compliance.

14. The frequency of Committees meetings has been given in the Directors’ Report.

15. The Board has set up an effective internal audit function which is staffed by suitably qualified and
experienced persons for the purpose and is conversant with the policies and procedures of the Bank. 

16. The statutory auditors of the bank have confirmed that they have been given a satisfactory rating
under the quality control review program of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (ICAP)
and registered with Audit Oversight Board of Pakistan, that they and all of their partners are in
compliance with International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) guidelines on code of ethics as
adopted by the ICAP and that they and the partners of the firm involved in the audit are not a close
relative (spouse, parent, dependent and non-dependent children) of the chief executive officer, chief
financial officer, head of internal audit, company secretary or director of the Bank.

17. The statutory auditors or the persons associated with them have not been appointed to provide other
services except in accordance with the Act, these regulations or any other regulatory requirement and
the auditors have confirmed that they have observed IFAC guidelines in this regard.

18. We confirm that all requirements of the Regulations 3, 6, 7, 8, 27, 32, 33 and 36 have been complied
with.

Muhtashim Ahmad Ashai Raza Mansha

President/CEO Chairman

MCB Islamic Bank Limited MCB Islamic Bank Limited

February 03, 2020 February 03, 2020

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH LISTED COMPANIES (CODE OF CORPORATE GOvERNANCE)

REGuLATIONS, 2019 

MCB ISLAMIC BANK LIMITED 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 
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2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Rupees in thousands

(Loss) / profit before provisions (165,945) (784,567) (350,981) 19,836 97,532 

Provision / (reversal of provision) 199,814 895,646 (54) (94,137) 39,901 

(Loss) / profit before taxation (365,759) (1,680,213) (350,927) 113,973 57,631 

Taxation 122,147 584,231 87,930 (34,056) (5,324)

(Loss) / profit after taxation (243,612) (1,095,982) (262,997) 79,917 52,307 

OTHERS

Imports 15,517,775 46,289,721 23,416,703 13,259,000 2,018,706 

Exports 37,916,224 5,762,144 1,971,928 1,807,700 100,169 

KEY RATIOS

Capital adequacy ratio 13.82% 13.19% 23.81% 39.74% 46.50%

(Loss) / profit before tax ratio -3.71% -39.92% -17.03% 7.46% 15.32%

(Loss) / profit after tax ratio -2.47% -26.04% -12.76% 5.23% 13.90%

Income / expense ratio 96.54% 73.28% 87.69% 106.82% 116.77%

Return of average equity (ROE) -2.44% -11.09% -2.64% 0.79% 0.52%

Return of average assets (ROA) -0.24% -1.49% -0.65% 0.45% 0.77%

Return of average earning assets 11.55% 6.70% 6.99% 6.79% 6.34%

Cost of deposit 6.28% 3.37% 3.15% 3.34% 3.17%

Cost of fund 6.39% 3.87% 3.60% 3.54% 3.26%

Gross Financing to Deposit ratio 62.73% 85.83% 96.28% 113.27% 133.01%

Infection ratio 0.74% 0.02% 0.00% 0.01% 0.01%

CASA to Deposit ratio 76.86% 86.06% 79.19% 58.67% 60.68%

Book value per share including revaluation surplus 9.06% 8.99 9.63 10.27 9.98 

Basic / diluted (loss) / earnings per share after tax - Rupees (0.217) (0.987) (0.263) 0.080 0.052 

NON-FINANCIAL DATA

No. of employees (excluding outsourced) 1,619 1,493 795 601 328 

No. of financing customers (excluding staff) 5,351 1,953 179 71 31 

No. of deposit accounts 281,307 280,977 48,492 31,250 22,498

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Rupees in thousands

FINANCIAL DATA

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSTION

Total assets - net 105,017,261 94,894,435 51,745,997 28,564,193 26,887,541 

Cash and balances with treasury banks 10,252,547 6,990,369 3,390,753 1,509,804 698,123 

Balances with other banks 8,822,985 1,422,701 2,703,251 2,750,998 6,347,459 

Due from financial institutions 5,851,664 4,675,000 1,400,000 -   -   

Investments - net 16,309,800 12,713,954 9,186,213 5,769,675 5,995,470 

Islamic financing and related assets - net 51,309,967 62,907,204 31,472,935 16,172,727 12,473,797 

Operating fixed assets and others 12,470,298 6,185,207 3,752,376 2,404,803 1,372,692 

Total liabilities - net 94,550,460 84,824,921 42,115,218 18,298,320 16,904,789 

Bills payable 973,627 1,303,992 314,210 447,776 89,864 

Due to financial institutions 4,127,526 7,800,628 7,926,790 2,785,650 631,520 

Deposits and other accounts 81,853,511 73,307,185 32,690,808 14,279,436 9,450,072 

Other liabilities 7,595,796 2,413,116 1,183,410 744,934 6,733,333 

Net assets 10,466,801 10,069,514 9,630,779 10,265,873 9,982,752 

Share capital 11,550,000 11,200,000 10,000,000 10,000,000 10,000,000 

Shareholders' equity 10,044,475 9,937,242 9,832,379 10,094,531 10,014,614 

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

Profit / return earned 9,848,819 4,208,875 2,060,927 1,526,778 376,295 

Profit / return expensed 5,855,061 2,304,950 1,005,671 576,544 101,057 

Net spread earned 3,993,758 1,903,925 1,055,256 950,234 275,238 

Fee and commission income 294,491 162,245 46,325 34,678 9,874 

Dividend income and (Loss) / Gain on sale of securities - net (34,600) 75,769 352,356 196,172 10,439 

Income from dealing in foreign currencies 63,685 148,228 29,846 17,322 3,968 

Other income 19,743 13,020 10,483 10,992 787 

Total income 4,337,077 2,303,187 1,494,266 1,209,398 300,306 

Operating and other expenses 4,503,022 3,087,754 1,845,247 1,189,562 202,774 

FINANCIAL SuMMARY

The Management of MCB Islamic Bank (the “Bank”), under the guidance of
the Board of Directors, acknowledges its responsibility for establishing and
maintaining an adequate and effective system of internal controls with the
main objectives of ensuring effectiveness and efficiency of operations,
reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations.

The Internal control system is a set of processes designed to identify, evaluate
and mitigate the risk of failures and to help achieve overall business objectives
of the Bank. All significant policies and procedural manuals are in place, which
are reviewed, revised, and improved to keep them current with latest activities
and challenges. As a part of effective Internal Control System, the Board has
established a formalized organizational structure within the Bank that provides
clear demarcation of reporting and responsibility for ensuring proper
assignment of authorities, segregation of duties and accountability towards
the Bank. Defined authority limits have been established for each level within
the bank to approve acquisition and disposal of assets, approval of credit
limits, writing-off items as well as approving expenses.

The Internal Control System evolves continuously and hence its evaluation is
an ongoing process. This statement on internal controls is based on the
management's assessment towards various aspects of the Internal Control
System of the Bank. The Internal Control Systems of the Bank are designed
to minimize and manage risks rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve the desired objectives; hence it can only provide reasonable
assurance and not absolute assurance, against material misstatement or loss.

Implementing State Bank of Pakistan (the "SBP") Guidelines on Internal
Controls has been the Bank's top priority, with concerted efforts made by every
Group to improve the control environment at grass root level by regularly
reviewing and streamlining procedures, as well as imparting training.

Board’s Audit Committee (AC) has the authority and is empowered by the
Board of Directors to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Internal
Control System implemented by the Bank. All significant and material findings
of the internal and external auditors as well as observations of the regulators
are addressed on priority by the management and their status periodically
reported to the AC.

The AC is supported by the Audit & RAR Group, independent from
management, which forms an integral part of the governance processes. The
Audit & RAR Group provides reasonable assurance through a systematic and
disciplined approach along with value-added recommendations on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the System of Internal Control over Financial
Reporting, and compliance with internal policies, procedures and applicable
regulatory laws and regulations. Periodic updates on its activities and
significant issues are submitted by the Audit & RAR Group to the Board’s Audit
Committee.

Compliance & Controls Group of the Bank through its Regional Compliance
Officers and centralized setup, also oversees adherence to the regulatory
requirements, with specific emphasis on Anti-Money Laundering / Combatting
the Financing of Terrorism. In addition, “Compliance Committee of
Management” oversees the handling of Compliance Risks of the Bank and
facilitate in implementing policies, processes and procedures to manage this
risk. Furthermore, based on the observations and weaknesses identified by
the Internal and External Auditors, Compliance and Shari'ah Compliance

teams, remediation of the control deficiencies are brought about by the
management.

Bank's Risk Management function also plays its role in ongoing strengthening
of the Bank’s internal controls system, through operational risk data collection
and conducting Risk and Control Self-Assessment exercise on bank wide
basis. The Bank has adopted top down approach for Risk Assessment.
Further, the Bank has also adopted the Integrated Framework on Internal
Controls issued by the Committee on Sponsoring Organization of the
Treadway Commission (COSO) for implementation in light of the SBP’s
Internal Control Guidelines. Risk Management Function is also actively
engaged in creating risk awareness through staff training sessions in the areas
of Operational Risk, Fraud Risk and Business Continuity / Disaster Recovery
Planning.

In accordance with SBP’s directives, the Bank has completed all stages of
Internal Controls over Financial Reporting (ICFR) roadmap and Long Form
Reports (LFR) on the assessment of Bank’s ICFR for the years 2017 and 2018
issued by the External Auditor have been submitted to SBP in compliance with
its directives. None of the deficiencies identified has a material impact on
Financial Reporting. The Bank's External Auditor will now review and issue
LFR on ICFR as of December 31, 2019.

Based upon the results derived through ongoing testing of financial reporting
controls and internal audits carried out during the year, the management
considers that the Bank’s existing internal control system is adequate and has
been effectively implemented and monitored. The management will continue
enhancing its coverage and compliance with the SBP Guidelines on Internal
Controls and further strengthening its control environment on an ongoing
basis.

Based on the above, the Board of Directors has duly endorsed management’s
evaluation of internal controls including ICFR in the Directors’ report. 

Kashif Ahmed Khawaja Khalil Shah
Group Head – Compliance & Controls Chief Risk Officer

Muhammad Tariq Gondal Syed Iftikhar Hussain Rizvi
Group Head – Audit & Risk Asset Review Chief Financial Officer

Date:  20-January-2020

REvIEW REPORT ON THE STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE CONTAINED IN LISTED

COMPANIES (CODE OF CORPORATE GOvERNANCE) REGuLATIONS, 2019

We have reviewed the enclosed Statement of Compliance with the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate  Governance)  Regulations,  2019  (the  Regulations)  prepared  by  the
Board  of  Directors of MCB Islamic Bank Limited (“the Bank”) for the year ended 31 December 2019, in accordance with the requirements of regulation 36(2) of the Regulations,
to comply with Regulation G-1 of the Prudential Regulations for Corporate/Commercial Banking issued by the State Bank of Pakistan.

The responsibility for compliance with the Regulations is that of the Board of Directors of the Bank. Our responsibility is to review whether the Statement of Compliance reflects
the status of the Bank’s compliance with the provisions of the Regulations and report if it does not and to highlight any non-compliance with the requirements of the Regulations.
A review is limited primarily to inquiries of the Bank’s personnel and review of various documents prepared by the Bank to comply with the Regulations.

As a part of our audit of the financial statements we are required to obtain an understanding of the accounting and internal control systems sufficient to plan the audit and develop
an effective audit approach. We are not required to consider whether the Board of Directors’ statement on internal control covers all risks and controls or to form an opinion on the
effectiveness of such internal controls, the Bank’s corporate governance procedures and risks.

The Regulations require the Bank to place before the Audit Committee, and upon recommendation of the Audit Committee, place before the Board of Directors for their review
and approval, its related party transactions and also ensure compliance with the requirements of section 208 of the Companies Act, 2017. We are only required and have ensured
compliance of this requirement to the extent of the approval of the related party transactions by the Board of Directors upon recommendation of the Audit Committee. We have
not carried out procedures to assess and determine the Bank’s process for identification of related parties and that whether the related party transactions were undertaken at
arm’s length price or not.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that the Statement of Compliance does not appropriately reflect the Bank's compliance, in all
material respects, with the requirements contained in the Regulations as applicable to the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Lahore KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co.

Date: 14 February 2020 Chartered Accountants

I am pleased to present this report on the overall performance of the Board and
effectiveness of the role played by the Board in achieving the Bank’s objectives. MCB
Islamic Bank has witnessed another year of growth while establishing a solid financial
standing in line with the Bank's strategy. Year 2019 has seen our bank to consolidate
and further build on the last year’s significant network expansion, with strengthening
core deposit, balance sheet spreads and additional capital to leap forward towards a
sound financial position.

MCB Islamic Bank is a growing institution and is constantly looking to innovate and
implement customer centric services. Our Business team is continuously working to
identify market opportunities and to vigilantly enhance the portfolio to obtain sustainable
positive results. Our results for the year have shown promising signs with great potential
to grow in coming years. In addition, we have a solid commitment for playing our
constructive role towards the growth of Islamic financial system in Pakistan.

Pakistan has witnessed a deteriorated economic situation during 2019. Owing to the
government’s quest for structural economic reforms including an improved tax to GDP
ratio, controlled fiscal deficit, and floating exchange rate regime along with the
documentation of the economy and measures to curtail money laundering have all
combined to bring down the GDP growth to 3.3% in the year 2019, as compared to
5.5% in 2018. We believe that 2020 will be the year when Pakistan’s economy will start
its growth curve again provided the stabilizing measures in terms of policy and
administration taken by the government and SBP materialize. However, further
immediate efforts are required to tackle the continuously rising inflation and the industrial
economic revival. 

Islamic banking has now become an integral part of global financial system and still
growing at a reasonably good pace. According to Financial Stability Report 2019 issued

by Islamic Financial Services Board (IFSB), the total worth of the Islamic Financial
Services Industry (IFSI) increased to US$ 2.19 trillion in 2018 on the back of significant
improvement across the three sectors of Islamic Banking, the Islamic Capital Market
and Takaful. In Pakistan, Islamic Banking sector though growing steadily, is yet to tap
the paramount growth potential available. The market share of domestic Islamic banking
industry stands at 13.8% in terms of banking assets and 16.1% in total deposits, while
its network has expanded to over 2,900 branches across the country. Despite the
challenges we anticipate in the future, we are confident that our bank will continue to
grow towards greater heights of success.

The great role our Board of Directors is playing in steering the Bank towards becoming
a success story is worth noting. The MIB Board has displayed great acumen and
unmatched standards of ethical and professional conduct in the oversight and
management of the organization. This dedication has proved to be invaluable for
preserving the interests of our shareholders. The Board has ensured good corporate
governance by maintaining high levels of professional and business conduct,
implementing effective internal controls and audit functions including risk management
framework. It has successfully steered and executed the Bank’s strategy while ensuring
that the vision, mission and core values of the Bank are never compromised upon. It
has also closely reviewed policy related matters with long term implications as per
regulatory obligations which also meet the Bank’s operational requirements. Board Sub-
Committees have been duly constituted with a defined scope of work to ensure that
they perform their prescribed functions precisely and efficiently as per their mandate
and respective terms of reference.

With our diversified Board of Directors, unparalleled emphasis on service and
excellence, we endeavor to succeed and thrive, no matter the conditions or
environment.

STATEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROLS – YEAR 2019

CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE


